Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
April 26, 2005
Crowne Plaza Austin – Austin, TX
• AGENDA •
8:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. central

1. Administrative Items.................................................................... Mr. Jim Eckelberger
2. President’s Report................................................................................Mr. Nick Brown
3. Regional State Committee Report.....................................................Ms. Denise Bode
4. Finance Committee Report .............................................................. Mr. Harry Skilton
5. Human Resources Committee Report ........................................ Mr. Quentin Jackson
6. Markets and Operations Policy Committee Report ............................. Mr. Mel Perkins
7. Strategic Planning Committee Report ............................................ Mr. Richard Spring
8. Compliance Committee Report ........................................................... Mr. Josh Martin
a. Independent Market Monitor Report................................... Mr. Craig Roach
Adjourn to Executive Session

Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center, Shreveport, LA
January 25, 2005

- Summary of Action Items 1. Approved amended minutes of the October 27, 2004 meeting.
2. Recognized the Corporate Governance Committee’s recommendations to have Kevin Easley represent
State/Federal Power Agencies on the Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
and appointed Mike Palmer to represent Transmission Owners on the Corporate Governance
Committee.
3. Approved the Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendations regarding Market Implementation,
Independent Market Monitor, RTO/RRO and the Cost Allocation Proposal.
4. Approved SPP Criteria changes for Criteria 4 for improved use of Counter-Flows and Positive Flows to
increase short-term AFCs (daily and weekly firm).
5. Approved Tariff Attachment AC, system impact studies for short-term service.
6. Approved Tariff Schedule 9, NITS service by load served by transmission owner.
7. Approved the following SPP Tariff modifications to support the Regional State Committee’s Cost
Allocation Plan:
• New: Tariff Part V and Schedule 11- Base Plan Charge
• Modified:
o Attachment H – Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement
o Attachment J – Recovery of Costs Associated with New Facilities
o Attachment L – Treatment of Revenues
o Attachment S – Procedure for Calculation of MW-mile Impacts
o Attachment Z – Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures
• Supplemented: Section 1 – Definitions
8. Adopted the Regional State Committee’s Cost Allocation Proposal and instructed SPP Staff to file tariff
language pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.
9. Adopted the Finance Committee recommendation to direct staff to provide Membership the required
notice (30 days) that the Board Directors will be considering a Membership Agreement revision at its
April 26 meeting.

MINUTES NO. 97
Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
Sam’s Town Casino Hotel and Convention Center, Shreveport, LA
January 25, 2005
Agenda Item 1 - Administrative Items
SPP Chair Mr. Jim Eckelberger called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. and thanked everyone present and
participating by phone for attending. Mr. Eckelberger then called for a round of introductions and referred to
the agenda (Agenda – Attachment 1). The following Board/Members Committee members were in attendance
or represented by proxy:
Ms. Phyllis Bernard, director
Mr. Nick Brown, Southwest Power Pool
Mr. David Christiano, City Utilities of Springfield, MO
Mr. Harry Dawson, Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Mr. Michael Desselle, American Electric Power
Mr. Jim Eckelberger, director
Ms. Trudy Harper, Tenaska Power Services Company
Mr. Doug Henry, Westar
Mr. Quentin Jackson, director
Mr. Joshua Martin, director
Mr. Mike Palmer, Empire District Electric Company
Mr. Stephen Parr, Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Mr. Alan Derichsweiler, for Mr. Gary Roulet, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Mr. Robert Schoenberger, director
Mr. Harry Skilton, director
Mr. Richard Spring, Kansas City Power & Light
Mr. Kurtz Stowers, for Mr. Jim Stanton, Calpine
Mr. David Brian, for Mr. Rick Tyler, Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative
Mr. Gary Voigt, Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
Mr. Kurtz Stowers, for Mr. Walt Yeager, Cinergy Corporation
There were 55 persons in attendance representing 20 members and 7 regulators (Attendance List Attachment 2). Mr. Brown reported proxies and a quorum was declared (Proxies - Attachment 3).
Mr. Eckelberger referred to draft minutes of the October 27 meeting (10/27/04 Meeting Minutes - Attachment 4)
and noted the following changes:
• Mr. Walt Yeager (Cinergy Services, Inc.) was in attendance.
• Omit the following sentence from Agenda Item 3, second paragraph: A percentage to be determined
by the Cost Allocation Working Group would be set as a cap on the allowable impact a DNR-related
upgrade may have on the zonal rates.
Mr. Skilton moved that the minutes be approved as amended. Mr. Brown seconded the motion, which passed.
Mr. Eckelberger invited the Members Committee and the Markets and Operations Policy Committee chair to
attend the executive session following the meeting.
Mr. Eckelberger instructed Mr. Schoenberger who joined the meeting via teleconference to submit his votes by
email to Mr. Carl Monroe (SPP).
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Agenda Item 2 – President’s Report
Mr. Nick Brown presented the President’s Report (President’s Report – Attachment 5). In addition to the
Quarterly Report, Mr. Brown announced that Commissioner Pat Wood has planned a FERC meeting with the
directors of the RTO/ISO organizations, FERC commissioners and senior FERC staff to continue dialog on
various initiatives including, standardized cost accounting, interfacing and governance. Mr. Brown pointed out
that this was an historic meeting and encouraged all SPP directors to check their calendars and plan to
participate.
Mr. Brown reported intentions to hold training sessions to provide education on various issues and to help keep
directors better informed. Members will be contacted to offer input regarding style of training sessions to aid
Staff in the training structure.
Mr. Brown provided an update on recent FERC activities:
• Southwest Power Pool was given final acceptance as a Regional Transmission Organization in
response to materials submitted for the October 1, 2004 conditional order.
• Approved Attachment Z regarding the Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures and
suspended the cost allocation portion for 5 months pending SPP’s filing of the Cost Allocation
Proposal.
• Rehearing regarding the SPP/MISO JOA was denied. Staff will discuss whether additional action
should be taken.
Agenda Item 3 – Corporate Governance Committee Report
Mr. Brown presented the Corporate Governance Committee report (CGC Report – Attachment 6). Mr. Brown
explained that Southwestern Power Administration (SPA) withdrew its membership from SPP effective October
31, 2004 replacing it with a contractual relationship. SPA represented the State/Federal Power Agencies
sector of the membership on the Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, as well as
the Transmission Owning sector of the membership on the Human Resources Committee. In accordance with
SPP Bylaws, the Corporate Governance Committee offered the following recommendation to fill these
vacancies:
1) The Corporate Governance Committee asks that the Board of Directors recognize Kevin Easley from
GRDA as the representative of the State/Federal Power Agencies membership sector on the Members
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee effective immediately.
2) The Corporate Governance Committee nominates Mike Palmer for appointment to the Human
Resources Committee to fill the Transmission Owning member vacancy.
Mr. Brown moved to approve this recommendation. Mr. Jackson seconded the motion. The Members
Committee vote was unanimous in approval. The directors voted and the motion passed.
The Corporate Governance Committee plans to meet again in April in conjunction with the Board of Directors
meeting.
Agenda Item 4 – Regional State Committee Report
Oklahoma State Commission Chairman and RSC President, Denise Bode was asked to give the Regional
State Committee (RSC) report. Chairman Bode stated that the Regional State Committee met January 24 and
thanked everyone who participated. Ms. Bode reported that the Cost Benefit Study was currently running. A
preliminary report will be provided by the end of January with a final report expected in March 2005.

Ms. Bode informed the Board of Directors that the RSC has tentatively planned its next meeting to be in
conjunction with the NARUC meeting on Tuesday, February 15, to discuss cost allocation and the
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reasonableness test. Notice of this meeting will be posted.
Ms. Bode stated that Mr. Brown led a discussion at the RSC meeting on how the RSC and SPP can interact
moving forward to ensure maximum support and to improve processes so that together we can achieve the
best product possible.
Ms. Bode announced that David Fleischaker, Secretary of Energy for Oklahoma, had joined the RSC as an
associate member and welcomed him aboard.
Agenda Item 5 – Independent Market Monitor Report
Mr. Craig Roach (Boston Pacific) was asked to provide a summary of the Independent Market Monitor (IMM)
activities. Mr. Roach stated that Boston Pacific has developed a monitoring plan as required by FERC. The
Market Implementation Task Force approved the monitoring plan November 2004 and the Market Working
Group offered approval in December 2004. The Regional Tariff Working Group and the Markets and
Operations Policy Committee will review the monitoring plan for approval. There is a work session planned
with FERC in February 2005. The complete plan including protocols and market mitigation is expected to be
ready in April 2005. FERC requires a state of the market report in June. Full participation in markets trials are
due to take place this summer prior to going live October 1, 2005.
Agenda Item 6 – Strategic Planning Committee Report
Mr. Richard Spring presented the Strategic Planning Committee Report (SPC Report & Recommendations –
Attachment 7). Mr. Spring recognized the SPC as: Ricky Bittle, Dave Christiano, Michael Desselle, Jim
Eckelberger, Josh Martin, Mike Palmer, Steve Parr, Mel Perkins, Harry Skilton and Jim Stanton with Stacy
Duckett as staff secretary. Mr. Spring provided an update on SPC activities and presented the following SPC
recommendations:
• Market Implementation: The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Board of Directors
affirm SPP’s planned phased implementation of additional market services, including directing the
Markets Working Group through the Markets and Operations Policy Committee and the Strategic
Planning Committee to conduct an assessment of the impact to existing and prospective members of
the offering and timing of additional services prior to a significant investment of resources in design
and development of these next phases.
• Independent Market Monitor: The Strategic Planning Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee jointly recommend that the IMM report to the Compliance Committee of the Board.
• RTO/RRO: The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Membership receive the required
notice (30 days) that the Board of Directors will be considering at its April 26 meeting the necessary
Bylaws revisions to reflect that the NERC Compliance function reports to the Board of Directors to
assure independence of the function within SPP.
• Cost Allocation Proposal: The Strategic Planning Committee has no recommendation at this time as to
the position SPP should take relative to the RSC’s proposed plan, but does recommend that staff work
with the membership, the RSC, and state regulatory bodies to develop a cost recovery solution related
to the RSC’s plan.
Mr. Brown moved to approve all SPC recommendations as presented. Mr. Martin seconded the motion. Mr.
Eckelberger asked the Members Committee to vote on each recommendation. The Members Committee
showed unanimous support on all four recommendations. The Directors were instructed to vote on each SPC
recommendation; the motion passed.

Agenda Item 7 – Markets & Operations Policy Committee
Mr. Mel Perkins presented the Markets & Operations Policy Committee Report (MOPC Report & Presentation
– Attachment 8). Mr. Perkins stated that the MOPC had the following recommendations to present to the Board
for approval:
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•

•
•

SPP Criteria 4, Improved use of Counter-Flows and Positive Flows to increase short-term AFCs (daily
and weekly firm). Mr. Brown moved to approve Criteria 4 modifications. Mr. Skilton seconded the
motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous support. The directors voted and the motion
passed.
Attachment AC, System Impact Studies for Short Term Service: Mr. Brown moved to approve
Attachment AC. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous
support. The directors voted and the motion passed.
Schedule 9, NITS service by load served by transmission owner: Mr. Brown moved to approve
Schedule 9. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members Committee voted unanimous support.
The directors voted and the motion passed.

Mr. Ricky Bittle (AECC) provided an overview of the Regional Tariff Working Group (RTWG) activities
regarding the Transmission Cost Allocation Proposal and SPP OATT modifications. Mr. Bittle provided
revisions of the following primary sections and attachments of SPP OATT:
• New: Tariff Part V and Schedule 11- Base Plan Charge
• Modified:
o Attachment H – Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement
o Attachment J – Recovery of Costs Associated with New Facilities
o Attachment L – Treatment of Revenues
o Attachment S – Procedure for calculation of MW-mile impacts
o Attachment Z – Aggregate Transmission Service Study Procedures
• Supplemented: Section 1 – Definitions
Mr. Bittle made the following recommendation as approved by the MOPC:
Without addressing the merits of the RSC Cost Allocation Plan, the MOPC submits the following
revised OATT for FERC filing, where such revisions reflect the intent of the RSC Cost Allocation Plan
and conforms the existing OATT provisions to accommodate such RSC Cost Allocation Plan. The
MOPC recommends that SPP staff and the RTWG be authorized to make, with appropriate
involvement from the CAWG, any needed clarifications and structural modifications necessary in
preparation for filing the revised OATT at FERC.
Mr. Brown moved to accept the MOPC recommendation. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion. The Members
Committee voted in support with one abstention from Mr. Dawson. The directors voted and the motion passed.
SPP has committed to file the revised SPP OATT by March 1.
The RTWG was commended for its great work, theamount of effort required and expended and the timely
fashion in which the task was completed. The SPP directors stated appreciation and recognized the
complexity of work and unity of purpose exhibited in this process. Mr. Bittle gave credit to the assistance of
Pam Kozlowski of BDR, Inc. The RTWG passed the following resolution: By acclamation and with great
appreciation the RTWG recognizes the knowledge, support and sacrifice of Pam Kozlowski, BDR, Inc., and
expresses its appreciation for her support in the development of the RSC Cost Allocation Policy and the
conversion of that Policy into Tariff language. Mr. Brown suggested that written documentation be sent to
BDR, Inc.
Mr. Brown stated that there had been much debate between the RSC and the Board of Directors on the
procedure of filing the Transmission Cost Allocation Proposal and the SPP Tariff language that supports the
proposal. Mr. Brown made the following motion:
The SPP Board of Directors adopts and accepts the Cost Allocation Proposal of the Regional State
Committee and instructs SPP Staff to file jointly the tariff language developed by the Regional Tariff
Working Group with the RSC pursuant to Section 205 and 206 of the Federal Power Act.
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Following discussion Mr. Brown amended the motion to read:
The SPP Board of Directors adopts and accepts the Cost Allocation Proposal of the Regional State
Committee and instructs SPP Staff to file the tariff language developed by the Regional Tariff Working
Group pursuant to Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.
Mr. Skilton seconded the amended motion. The Members Committee voted in support with 9 in favor, Mr.
Spring against and Mr. Palmer, Mr. Desselle and Mr. Henry in abstention. The directors voted and the motion
passed.
Mr. Bittle continued with an update on RTWG regulatory activities and filings. Mr. Perkins concluded his
presentation providing information on the Operating Reliability Working Group’s work regarding the feasibility of
reducing control areas, the Market Working Group, the Reactive Compensation Task Force, and offered a
compliance update.
Agenda Item 8 – Finance Committee Report
Mr. Harry Skilton presented the Finance Committee report (FC Report and Recommendations – Attachment 9).
Mr. Skilton reported that the Finance Committee had met with auditors, developed language on the
Membership Withdrawal formula, and completed the Finance Committee self-evaluation as required in the SPP
Bylaws. Mr. Skilton explained that due to the requirement to notify the membership 30 days in advance of the
Board’s consideration of Membership Agreement modifications, the Finance Committee’s recommendation
would be amended to direct staff to provide the Membership the required notice (30 days) that the Board of
Directors will be considering the revisions at its April 26 meeting. The directors voted to approve the amended
recommendation. Mr. Tom Dunn was commended for his work regarding membership withdrawal.
Agenda Item 9 – Human Resources Committee Report
Mr. Quentin Jackson provided a Human Resources Committee report. Mr. Jackson stated that the committee
had met at 6:30 a.m. prior to the Board meeting and were in full attendance. Items discussed:
• SPP has engaged Foundation Resource Management to manage the assets of the defined benefit
pension plan.
• SPP has engaged Smith Capital Management to manage the assets in the 401K plan.
• Updated the Investment Policy Statement to allow direct investment in non-U.S. domiciled entities.
• Reviewed the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) and directed Mr. Brown to determine
the level of interest in select staff to participate in a SERP.
Agenda Item 10 – Compliance Committee Report
Mr. Josh Martin presented the Compliance Committee report. Mr. Martin provided history and a committee
scope statement (Compliance Committee Scope – Attachment 10). The Board accepted the scope statement
as presented.
Future Meetings
The next Board of Directors Meeting will be held April 26, 2005 in Austin Texas. Mr. Brown asked for
comments concerning the October meeting location in Santa Fe, New Mexico.
Adjournment
With no further business, Mr. Eckelberger thanked everyone for participating and adjourned the meeting at
11:55. He reminded the Members Committee and MOPC chair of the executive session to convene at 12:45
p.m.
Stacy Duckett, Corporate Secretary
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SUMMARY
1Q 2005

4Q 2004

3Q 2004

2Q 2004

1Q 2004

$11.7M (YTD)

$40.3M

$31.0M

$20.8M

$9.8M

$11.1M (YTD)

$28.4M

$20.8M

$14.1M

$7.4M

$477K (YTD)

$18.7M

$3.5M

$8.4M

$2.6M

$40.1M (03/31/05)

$47.6M

$42.1M

$41.2M

$12.0M

31

105

128

55

23

472

416

440

520

489

42,720

61,504

65,099

32,901

27,844

184 requests/
95 studies

172/74

136/63

132/61

122/53

34 requests

35
requests

37
requests

40
requests

50
requests

52

55

55

40

42

FERC Dockets Pending

20

15

13

7

7

Legal Matters Pending

3

0

0

0

1

Executive Industry Activities

38

27

26

17

5

Number of Members

45

43

48

48

48

8 (2005)

8 (2005)

15 (2004)
2 (2005)

16 (2004)

12 (2004)

137

131

131

128

119

Assessments/Tariff Fees &
Member Fees
Operating Expenses
Operating Cash Flow
Cash on Hand
TLR Events
Tags (daily average)
Transmission Service
Requests
Transmission Service Study
Queue
Generation Interconnection
Queue
Stakeholder Meetings

Withdrawal Notices
Staff
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance Sheet
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Cash balances declined by $7.6 million from year end 2004 balances. This decline resulted
primarily from:
o $5.0 million principal payment on debt in March 2005
o $3.1 million in capital expenditures in first quarter 2005
The overall decline was partially offset by positive cash from operations of $0.5 million
Accounts receivable and accounts payable resulting from tariff activities are now reported on
a net basis as a result of accounting rule interpretation. This effectively leaves only SPP’s
administrative fee remaining in accounts receivable.
Overall decrease in A/R of $0.3 million is attributable mainly to the reduction of the amounts
owed from withdrawing members.
Other current assets increased $0.6 million primarily due to the annual premium on insurance
policies paid in January 2005.
Net fixed assets increased $2.4 million as SPP booked nearly $3.1 million in gross purchases
during first quarter 2005. Over $2.1 million of the purchases were related to the software in
development associated with the imbalance energy markets.
Total current liabilities decreased $0.8 million from year end primarily due to the following
items:
o $1.8 million decrease in customer deposits ($1.5 million resulting from refund of cash
deposit and replacement with letter of credit)
o $0.6 million of accruals were made at year end for services performed and goods
received in 2004
The overall decrease is partially offset by the monthly accrual ($0.6 million) for the estimated
2005 FERC assessment.
Ιn March 2005, SPP made a $5.0 million principal payment on the 7.5% note due in 2008.
Members’ equity increased by $0.9 million as a result of retention of earnings.

Income Statement
•
•
•

•

Revenues from assessments and tariff administrative fees were below budget by $1.4 million
primarily due to SPP’s assumption of recovering the FERC assessment in the 2005 budget
which has not been realized to date.
Miscellaneous income exceeded budget by nearly $0.4 million primarily due to the increased
billings for impact studies.
Operating expenses fell $3.7 million short of budget primarily due to project timing/schedule
changes, specifically with the shift in market implementation from March to October. The
expenses are still expected to be incurred. The most notable variance is the salary and
benefits line item, which results from a greater number of new headcount being assumed in
the budget than was actually added in first quarter 2005. Additionally, the cash basis budget
will cause some variance in comparison to the accrual based financial statements primarily as
it relates to leases, maintenance, and insurance costs.
Νet other income/expense was favorable to budget by $0.3 million largely due to earnings on
deposits being greater than what was assumed in the budget.
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Cash Flow
•
•
•

SPP recorded a net decrease in cash of $7.6 million in first quarter 2005. As noted in the
comments regarding the balance sheet, this is primarily the result of the $5.0 million
principal payment on the 7.5% note due in 2008.
Additionally, SPP made $3.1 million in capital expenditures in the first quarter.
These outflows were partially offset by the positive cash flow from operations of
approximately $0.5 million.

Southwest Power Pool
Statement of Income and Members' Equity
For the Quarter Ending March 31, 2005

($000)
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
Assessment/Tariff
Member Fees
Miscellaneous Income
Total Income
Expense
Salary & Benefits
Employee Travel
Administrative
Assessments & Fees
Meetings
Communications
Leases & Maintenance
Services
Regional State Committee
Depreciation & Amortization
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
Other Income/Expense
Other Income
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Fixed Asset
Interest Income
Total Other Income

Actual
Jan - Mar 05

Budget
Jan - Mar 05

Variance
to Budget

Actual
Jan - Mar 05

Actual
Jan - Mar 04

Variance

10,683
1,065
660
12,408

12,075
1,100
240
13,415

(1,392)
(35)
420
(1,007)

10,683
1,065
660
12,408

9,879
1,067
420
11,366

804
(2)
240
1,042

4,010
161
364
1,977
81
321
1,053
2,157
366
641
11,131

5,042
199
1,036
1,977
102
839
1,904
2,443
64
1,220
14,826

(1,032)
(38)
(672)
0
(21)
(518)
(851)
(286)
302
(579)
(3,695)

4,010
161
364
1,977
81
321
1,053
2,157
366
641
11,131

3,601
94
284
157
59
289
1,319
1,567
0
1,095
8,465

409
67
80
1,820
22
32
(266)
590
366
(454)
2,666

1,277

(1,411)

2,688

1,277

2,901

(1,624)

0
199
199

0
30
30

0
169
169

0
199
199

2
13
15

(2)
186
184

Other Expense
Interest Expense
Bad Debt Expense
Total Other Expense

596
0
596

719
0
719

(123)
0
(123)

596
0
596

513
0
513

83
0
83

Net Other Income (Expense)

(397)

(689)

292

(397)

(498)

101

(2,100)

2,980

Net Income

880

880

2,403

(1,523)

Southwest Power Pool
Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2005

($000)

Mar. 31, 2005

Dec. 31, 2004

Variance

25,430
14,644
3,866
905
44,845
21,727
517

31,221
16,430
4,195
288
52,134
19,294
538

(5,791)
(1,786)
(329)
617
(7,289)
2,433
(21)

67,089

71,966

(4,877)

1,515
14,644
5,000
2,755
23,914

1,666
16,430
5,000
1,575
24,671

(151)
(1,786)
0
1,180
(757)

10,000
25,000
35,000
58,914
8,175

15,000
25,000
40,000
64,671
7,295

(5,000)
0
(5,000)
(5,757)
880

67,089

71,966

(4,877)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Restricted Cash Deposits
Accounts Receivable (net)
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Total Fixed Assets
Total Other Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable (net)
Customer Deposits
Current Maturities of LT Debt
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
7.50% Senior Notes - 2008
4.78% Senior Notes - 2011
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Members' Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Southwest Power Pool
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Quarter Ended March 31, 2005

($000)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by operations:
Depreciation
Amortization
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Customer deposits
Net cash provided by operating activities

Jan - Mar 05

880

621
20
329
(617)
(151)
1,180
(1,786)
477

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities

(3,054)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment on 7.5% Senior Notes - 2008
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

(5,000)

Net cash decrease for period
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

(3,054)

(5,000)
(7,577)
47,651
40,074
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Southwest Power Pool
Capital Expenditures
For the Quarter Ended March 31, 2005

($000)
Jan - Mar 05

Budget

Variance to Budget

Imbalance Market
Primary Operations Center
Maintenance - Software
Maintenance - Hardware

2,056
7
325
666

2,208
1,302
1,580
2,056

(152)
(1,295)
(1,255)
(1,390)

Total Capital Expenditures

3,054

7,146

(4,092)

Capital Expenditures
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RELIABILITY COORDINATION
TLR Events per Quarter
140

# of Events

120
100
80
60
40
20
0
SPP

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

1Q-05

23

55

128

105

31

1Q05 v. 1Q04 shows slight increase in number of events.

SCHEDULING
Daily Average Tags Processed
600

Number of Tags

500

400

300

200

100

0

SPP

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

1Q-05

489

520

440

416

472

1Q05 v. 1Q04 shows slight decrease in the number of tags processed.
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TARIFF ADMINISTRATION
Total Requests Subm itted
70000
60000
50000
40000
30000
20000
10000
0
SPP

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

1Q-05

27844

32901

65099

61504

42720

1Q05 v. 1Q04 shows strong increase in total transmission service requests.
% of Total Requests that are Confirm ed
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
SPP

1Q-04

2Q-04

3Q-04

4Q-04

1Q-05

71%

63%

29%

32%

56%

1Q05 v. 1Q04 shows decrease in percentage of transmission service requests granted.
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QUEUE STATUS REPORT
Transmission Service Request Queue
Number of requests/studies = 184/95, representing 22,320 MW
Number of non-DC Tie requests/studies = 98/64, representing 13,710 MW
There are 86 requests/31 studies for DC Tie requests representing 8,556 MW that cannot be
processed due to impending DC Tie competition.
During the same period last year, there were 121 requests/53 studies in process, representing
9,080 MW. There were 45 requests/16 studies for DC Tie requests representing 2,025 MW that
could not be processed due to impending DC Tie competition.

Generation Interconnection Queue
Number of requests = 34, representing 6,889 MW
•
Number of wind requests = 24, representing 3,630 MW
•
Number of fossil fuel requests = 10, representing 3,259 MW
Number of requests with Interconnection Agreement pending = 9
Interconnection Agreements signed during 2005 = 0
During the same period last year, there are 46 requests in process (34 wind; 12 fossil fuel)
representing 10,269 MW (5,790 MW wind; 4,479 MW fossil fuel). There were 17
Interconnection Agreements pending.
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SPP DOCKETS AT FERC/STATE COMMISSIONS
DOCKET
NUMBER

RT04-01 and
ER04-48

ER05-326

ER04-1096

ER05-666

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION
SPP filed a proposal for recognition as an RTO. By order
issued February 10, the Commission accepted SPP’s
proposal for recognition as an RTO subject to conditions
and compliance filing requirements. On October 1, 2004
FERC issued an Order on SPP’s August 2, 2004
compliance filing. The order recognized SPP as an RTO
and required several additional compliance steps by
November 1. FERC has since issued a February 11,
2005 Order addressing SPP’s compliance filings and
directing SPP to make additional filings.
SPP filed an amendment to Attachment J to allow the
implementation of the Regional State Committee Cost
Allocation Proposal that was approved by the SPP Board
of Directors.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Pursuant to FERC’s October 1 Order, SPP filed an
executed JOA with MISO with the condition that the
JOA could be amended if rehearing was granted.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP made an omnibus filing to revise portions of its
tariff and add a schedule 4-A. This includes changes to
Generation Imbalance Service, Limitation of Liability,
Monthly Demand Charge & Zone Transmission Load,
etc.

CURRENT STATUS

SPP has submitted numerous
compliance filings to date. SPP
has committed to make the
necessary compliance filings in
90 days from FERC’s 2/11/05
Orders.

In a February 11, 2005 Order,
FERC accepted SPP’s changes
to the regional tariff.
In its January 21, 2005 Order,
FERC denied SPP’s rehearing
request and accepted the
executed JOA. FERC also
indicated that the Parties could
amend the JOA if needed.
Interventions and Protests have
been filed and SPP filed an
answer to the protests on April 6,
2005. No FERC decision has
been made on this docket.
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DOCKET
NUMBER
ER05-576

ER05-415

ER04-833

ER05-109

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

On February 11, 2005, Southwest Power Pool, Inc
submitted an Agreement for Wholesale Distribution
Services Charges between Kansas Electric Power
Cooperative, Inc and the Empire District Electric Co.

No FERC action has been taken
in this docket.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

On December 30, 2004, SPP filed a tariff revision to
change SWPA’s rates.

FERC accepted SPP’s revisions
in a letter Order on February 22,
2005.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filed Attachment AA to add an experimental
customer pre-payment option to support construction of
transmission facilities to facilitate incremental
transmission service, especially short-term service.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filed Attachment Z on October 29, 2004 to provide
an aggregate transmission service study process that will
allow long term transmission service requests to be
studied in aggregate to provide ATC at the minimum
total cost.

On October 5, 2004 FERC
issued an order accepting SPP’s
Filing as supplemented. FERC
granted rehearing to its October
5 Order on December 7, 2005.
In a Rehearing Order on March
25, 2005, FERC denied the
request for rehearing.
On January 21, 2005, FERC
accepted the proposed
procedures to be effective
February 1, 2005, and accepted
and suspended SPP’s proposed
cost allocation and cost recovery
provisions to become effective
the earlier of July 1, 2005 or a
further order by FERC.
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DOCKET
NUMBER

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

On February 8, 2005, SPP filed a revision to its open
access transmission tariff to add Schedule 12 in order to
recover SPP’s payments to FERC’s Annual Charges.

ER05-156

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filed Attachment AD on November 1, 2004 to
provide an interim agreement between SPP and
Southwestern Power Administration until a permanent
agreement can be executed.

ER04-1232

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Filing of an amendment to the SPP OATT to implement
a rate change proposed by Excel for Southwestern Public
Service in Docket ER04-1174-000

East Texas Electric
Cooperatives, Inc. v. FERC

SPP filed revisions to its tariff in order to implement
network integration transmission service. FERC granted a
rehearing request in accordance with a Court decision to
remand the case to FERC.

ER05-562

ER99-4392

CURRENT STATUS
Interventions and Protests have
been filed and SPP filed an
answer to the protests on April 4,
2005. No FERC decision has
been made on this docket.
On February 8, 2005, SPP filed a
supplement to Attachment AD
and a revised agreement. On
March 31, 2005, FERC accepted
Attachment AD and the revised
agreement. A final agreement
being concluded and the filing is
underway.
FERC accepted the revisions,
suspended them for five months,
to become effective May 20,
2005, subject to refund, and
established hearing and
settlement judge procedures. On
February 14, 2005, FERC
granted rehearing to allow
additional time to consider the
issues.
On February 11, 2005, FERC
accepted SPP’s past compliance
filing and directed SPP to make
a new compliance filing. SPP
filed on March 14, 2005.
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DOCKET
NUMBER

ER03-765

CASE NAME

Calpine Oneta Power, L.P

EC03-131

Oklahoma Gas & Electric
Company and NRG
McLain

ER04-699-000

Entergy Services, Inc.

Arkansas
04-137-U

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION
Calpine Oneta filed a rate schedule intended to allow it to
provide Reactive Power Service to SPP and charge SPP
based on an annual revenue requirement of $2.7M. SPP
intervened asserting that Calpine Oneta had not made an
adequate showing that it is entitled to compensation for
Reactive Power Service, and that SPP only acts as a
conduit to collect Reactive Power Service charges and
pass the revenues through to the provider of the service.
OG&E and NRG filed an application for OG&E to acquire
NRG’s ownership interest in the McLain generating
facility. FERC stated that the proposed transaction could
have an adverse effect on competition and established
hearing procedures. One of the issues set for hearing was
whether a third-party should perform the disputed tariff
functions until SPP is determined to be a fully independent
system operator or regional transmission organization
(“RTO”).

CURRENT STATUS
The procedural schedule for
resolution of Calpine’s issue has
been reinstated and is scheduled
to have an initial decision by the
ALJ on November 3, 2005.

In its July 2 Order, FERC
approved the settlement proposal
set forth by OG&E. On August
2, 2004 Intergen requested
rehearing of the FERC Order.
FERC issued a tolling order on
September 1, 2004.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission proceedings
concerning Entergy’s ICT proposal.

Entergy filed its enhanced ICT
proposal on January 3, 2005.

SPP’s CCN Filing with APSC for recognition as a public
utility.

On October 13, 2004, SPP made
a CCN Filing with APSC for
recognition as a public utility
and asked for disclaimer of
regulation. No action has been
taken to date.
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DOCKET
NUMBER

CASE NAME

Kansas
04-GIME922-GIE.

In the Matter of a General
Investigation into the
Involvement of Kansas
Jurisdictional Utilities in
the Southwest Power Pool
Regional Transmission
Organization

Louisiana
U-28155

Arkansas
04-050-U

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

On April 15, 2004 the KCC Staff initiated a general
investigation into the question of jurisdictional utilities’
involvement in SPP.

On September 10, 2004, SPP
filed a response to questions of
the KCC Staff concerning RTO
participation appropriate for
Kansas electric utilities.

Entergy Services, Inc.

Louisiana Public Service Commission proceedings
concerning Entergy’s ICT proposal

SPP filed an intervention on
September 13, 2004. Entergy
filed its enhanced ICT proposal
on January 6, 2005.

Entergy Services, Inc.

An Investigation regarding Entergy Arkansas, Inc.’s
participation in an Entergy-only independent
transmission system administrator structure as compared
to its participation in the Southwest Power Pool Regional
Transmission Organization.

SPP has filed initial and reply
comments in the proceeding.

Aquila filed to join the MISO, and MISO has committed
to complete a study of the costs and benefits of Aquila as
part of MISO and Aquila as part of SPP.

SPP filed an intervention on
February 25, 2005 and a
technical conference is being
held on April 11, 2005 in Kansas
City, Missouri.

In The Matter Of Aquila,
Inc. D/B/A Aquila
Networks – MPS and
Missouri
Aquila Networks – L&P’s
EO-2003-0566 Application to Join the
Midwest Independent
Transmission System
Operator, Inc.
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LEGAL MATTERS PENDING

Party/Description

Issue

Reliant Energy

Disputed withdrawal fee.

City of Jonesboro

Demand letter sent for repayment of membership
overpayment.

EEOC Charge

Former SPP employee filed EEOC charge.
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EXECUTIVE INDUSTRY ACTIVITIES
Executive

Event

Nick Brown

Golden Spread Board Meeting – Santa Fe
Member Meeting: OGE
ISO/RTO Council – Scottsdale
Wal-Mart – Bentonville
Grandfathered Agreements Conference
Member Meeting: Lafayette/CLECO
Oklahoma Corporation Commission
ISO/RTO Roundtable – Washington, DC
Energy Bar Association – Kansas City

Les Dillahunty

Kansas Corporation Commission Pre-Filing Conference
FERC Pre-Filing Conference
Member Meeting: ETEC, NTEC, Tex-La

Tom Dunn

ISO/RTO CFOs – Little Rock
Wal-Mart – Bentonville
Member Meeting: Lafayette/CLECO
Member Meeting: GRDA
Member Meeting: City of Utilities, Springfield, MO
RTO 101 by Organization of MISO States

Stacy Duckett

NERC (Feb. 8-9)
Compliance Workshop (March 15-16)

Carl Monroe

NERC Resources Subcommittee – Gulfport, MS
Aquila Meeting with FERC – Washington, DC
Transmission Summit 2005 – Washington, DC
ISO/RTO Roundtable – Washington, DC
FERC Discussion on Long-Term Transmission Rights – Washington, DC
NERC Standing Committees – Long Beach, CA

Charles Yeung

ISO/RTO Council – Austin
Joint Interface Committee – Tampa
NAESB Energy Day – Houston
NAESB/NERC – Houston
NERC Board of Trustees – Scottsdale
NAESB Energy Day – Houston
IIPTF – Houston
FMTF – Houston
NAESB Energy Day – Houston
NERC Market Committee & Operating Committee – Long Beach, CA
OASIS FERC Conference – Washington, DC
NAESB/NERC TLR – Houston
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WITHDRAWAL LETTERS
MEMBERS

EFFECTIVE DATES

Cleco Corporation

10/31/05

Grand River Dam Authority

10/31/05

Louisiana Energy & Power Authority

10/31/05

City of Lafayette Utilities System

10/31/05

Midwest Energy

10/31/05

Oklahoma Municipal Power

10/31/05

The Empire District Electric Company

10/31/05

Westar Energy

10/31/05
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STAFFING REPORT
SPP Employee count as of January 1, 2005:

131

1Q New hires:

8

YTD Terminations:
0 – Retiree
1 – Voluntary termination
1 – Involuntary termination
0 – Interns (part time/seasonal)

2

SPP Employee count as of March 31, 2005:

137

SPP Employee count as of December 31, 2004:

131

There are 167 full time employees in the 2005 budget.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
April 26, 2005
Roster:
Harry Skilton, Chair
Jim Eckelberger
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry (proxy – Dennis Reed)
Michael Desselle

Director
Director
Arkansas Electric Coop Corp
Tenaska
Westar Energy
AEP

Background
SPP annually engages a Certified Public Accounting firm to audit its financial statements
and accounting controls. The SPP Board of Directors at its October 27, 2004 meeting
accepted the recommendation of the Finance Committee to engage BKD, LLC to
perform an audit of SPP’s 2004 financial results.
Analysis
BKD, LLC has completed and published its audit of SPP’s 2004 financial results. The
Finance Committee, at its March 29, 2005 meeting met with representatives of BKD,
LLC and discussed their findings, specifically focusing on: 1) adequacy of SPP’s
accounting policies and procedures, 2) SPP’s interpretation of accounting rules (both
new and historical), 3) adequacy of internal control procedures and the extent tested, 4)
any areas of weakness or concern that SPP should address going forward.
Recommendation
The Finance Committee recommends the SPP Board of Directors accept in its entirety
the 2004 audit report and findings of BKD, LLC.
Approved:

Finance Committee
Passed Unopposed

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

March 29, 2005

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Accountants’ Report and Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
December 31, 2004 and 2003
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Balance Sheets
December 31, 2004 and 2003
Assets
2004
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash deposits
Accounts receivable, net of allowance:
2004 – $156,853, 2003 - $183,859
Prepaid expenses and other

$

Total current assets
Property and Equipment, At Cost
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment and machinery
Software
Software in development
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Other Assets, Net

$

31,221,289
16,429,695

2003
$

3,791,372
11,319,713

4,194,807
288,264

3,869,412
92,062

52,134,055

19,072,559

2,339,063
6,470,085
14,681,143
15,302,754
38,793,045
19,498,679

2,195,168
4,361,521
13,672,205
13,830,379
34,059,273
14,218,317

19,294,366

19,840,956

537,368

303,924

71,965,789

$

39,217,439

Liabilities and Members’ Equity
2004
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Current maturities of long-term debt
Accrued expenses

$

Total current liabilities
Long-term Debt
Members’ Equity

$

1,665,650
16,429,695
5,000,000
1,575,386

2003
$

368,069
11,319,713
5,000,000
1,123,722

24,670,731

17,811,504

40,000,000

20,000,000

7,295,058

1,405,935

71,965,789

$

39,217,439
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004
Operating Income
Tariff fees and member assessments
Other member services
Other

$

Operating Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Employee travel
Administrative
NERC assessment
SPP/NERC meetings
Communications system
Leases
Maintenance
Consulting services
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment loss

Operating Income
Other Income (Expense)
Withdrawal fees
Bad debt expense
Interest income
Interest expense

39,284,003
2,581,191
13,249

2003

$

41,878,443

29,948,281

14,498,645
612,658
1,108,819
692,265
333,548
1,197,751
698,232
1,958,927
7,483,271
5,341,033
2,485,060

12,005,891
582,981
1,007,093
622,900
190,979
1,107,306
648,701
1,522,432
4,637,465
4,406,970
—

36,410,209

26,732,718

5,468,234

3,215,563

1,549,300
(211,320)
306,248
(1,223,339)

—
(4,355)
92,391
(1,993,394)

420,889
Net Income

See Notes to Financial Statements

$

27,320,263
2,119,339
508,679

5,889,123

(1,905,358)
$

1,310,205
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Statements of Members’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004
Balance, Beginning of Year

$

Net income
Balance, End of Year

See Notes to Financial Statements

1,405,935

2003
$

5,889,123
$

7,295,058

95,730
1,310,205

$

1,405,935
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004
Operating Activities
Net income
Items not requiring (providing) cash
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment loss
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

$

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year

1,310,205

5,341,033
2,485,060
(2,000)

4,406,970
—
(2,825)

(325,395)
(196,202)
(294,115)
1,297,581
451,664

(3,041,567)
137,404
—
1,874,420
(305,699)

14,646,749

Investing Activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

5,889,123

2003

4,378,908

(7,218,832)
2,000

(922,239)
7,023

(7,216,832)

(915,216)

25,000,000
(5,000,000)

—
(2,000,000)

20,000,000

(2,000,000)

27,429,917

1,463,692

3,791,372

2,327,680

$

31,221,289

$

3,791,372

$

1,261,560

$

1,837,000

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest paid (net of interest capitalized of $1,023,440 in 2004)

See Notes to Financial Statements
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003
Note 1:

Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations
Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (the “Company”) is a not-for-profit entity formed in 1941 and
incorporated in 1994. Through its operation as a North American Electric Reliability Council and its
administration of a Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) approved regional
transmission tariff, the Company maintains the reliable operation of the wholesale electric
transportation system throughout an eight state region of the southwestern United States and ensures
non-discriminatory access to that system. As of December 31, 2004, the Company was comprised of
46 utility participant members representing investor-owned utilities, municipal systems, generation
and transmission cooperatives, state authorities, federal agencies, wholesale generators and power
marketers.
During March 2003, the Company’s Board formed the Strategic Planning Task Force to completely
review the Company’s organization considering the current industry environment and to make
appropriate recommendations to the Board as to the future direction of the Company. One objective
of the strategic plan issued in June 2003 was set in motion with the October 2003 filing FERC
seeking formal recognition as a Regional Transmission Organization (“RTO”) in accordance with
FERC Order 2000. In February 2004, the Company was granted conditional RTO status and upon
completion of the specified FERC requirements, the Company received final RTO approval in
October 2004. An important milestone as an RTO will be met with the scheduled implementation of
an imbalance energy market in October 2005.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Deposits
The Company considers all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested in repurchase agreements
with an AA-rated financial institution. The repurchase agreements are fully collateralized with
U.S. Treasury or U.S. government agency securities. Repurchase agreements are not insured or
guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.
Restricted cash deposits are invested in money market mutual funds investing in U.S. Treasury and
U.S. government agency securities. Restricted cash deposits are not insured or guaranteed by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.
Income Taxes
The Company is exempt from income taxes under Section 501c(6) of the Internal Revenue Code
and a similar provision of state law.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to customers plus any accrued and unpaid
interest. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review
of outstanding receivables, historical collection information and existing economic conditions.
Accounts receivable are ordinarily due 15 days after the issuance of the invoice. Accounts that are
unpaid after the due date bear interest at a rate set by FERC. Interest continues to accrue until the
account is deemed uncollectible.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
each asset. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment and machinery
Software

5 years
3 years
3 years

During 2001, the Company accepted delivery of software in development to facilitate operation of
wholesale energy markets under FERC Order No. 2000 (the “Order”). The software is composed of
three major components: customer service, power operations, and settlement/invoicing. The
software enables the Company to operate a real-time energy imbalancing market, which facilitates
the purchase and sale of energy in real-time to balance schedules to actual load, and meet the
requirements, under the Order, of being the provider of last resort for ancillary services. The
customer service component has been utilized for call tracking by the customer service department
since 2002. The power operations and settlement/invoicing components are still under development
and will be the backbone of the system that will be used by the Company as it implements the
imbalance energy market projected for October 2005. The Company capitalizes development costs,
including interest, for internal use software costs in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. These
costs are included in software and software in development. Management of the Company is of the
opinion that all costs capitalized in association with the software in development, except for those
costs impaired as discussed in Note 9, are fully recoverable over the anticipated life of the asset.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues, consisting of member assessments, tariff administrative fees, working capital
contributions from members, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses
are recognized when incurred.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

Customer Deposits
Customers may be required to make deposits with the Company prior to the performance of
transmission services. These amounts are typically held for the duration of the service and applied to
the customer’s final invoice. An offsetting liability equal to the deposit balance is recorded on the
balance sheet under current liabilities.
Monthly Assessments/Annual Membership Fees
Beginning October 1, 2003, members are assessed based on their prior year average 12 month peak
demand multiplied by hours in a month multiplied by the assessment rate as established by the
Board. A member’s monthly assessment is offset dollar for dollar for qualifying tariff
administrative fees collected from a member in any given assessment period. Prior to October 1,
2003, members were assessed based on monthly operating expenses after reduction for tariff fees
and interest and other income.
The Company collects a membership fee from each member annually. Non-load serving members
pay an annual fee of $6,000. Those members serving load will be subject to a fee based on their
annual “Net Energy for Load” for the preceding year.
Tariff Fees
An administrative charge is applied to all transmission service under the Company’s tariff to cover
the expenses related to the administration of the tariff. The charge is calculated in accordance with
the terms of the Company’s Open Access Transmission Tariff. The administrative rate used for the
calculation is established by the Board of Directors.
Withdrawing Members
Members wishing to withdraw from the Company must provide 12 months written notice and are
responsible for their portion of the Company’s existing obligations as defined in the Bylaws, which
include unpaid membership fees, any assessments imposed prior to the effective withdrawal date,
any costs or expenses imposed upon the Company as a direct consequence of the member’s
withdrawal, and the member’s share of long term obligations and related interest.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of accounts
receivable. Customers are required to conduct business subject to approved credit limits and to
post deposits if the Company elects not to extend unsecured credit to the customer.

8

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

Reclassifications
In previous years, transmission service charges were billed to transmission customers and recorded
as accounts receivable on the balance sheet. Concurrently, an equal amount less the tariff
administrative fee was recorded as accounts payable to reflect the balances owed each transmission
owner. Given that the Company was in effect a billing agent for the transmission owner and the
money passing through the Company was not revenue to the Company, it was determined in 2004
that it would be a more appropriate representation of the transaction, and the role of the Company
with respect to the transaction, to exclude those amounts that are to be collected from the customers
and remitted to the owners from accounts receivable and accounts payable, respectively. In effect,
only the administrative fee charged to the customer by the Company will be recorded as accounts
receivable on the balance sheet. The previously reported 2003 amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the 2004 presentation. This change in classification had no effect on reported net
income. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company was due to collect from customers and
remit to owners transmission service charges of $18,498,947 and $17,333,067, respectively.
Certain other 2003 amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 2004 presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on net income.

Note 2:

Line of Credit

The Company has an $8,000,000 revolving line of credit expiring in 2008. At December 31, 2004
and 2003, no amounts were borrowed against this line. The agreement requires maintenance of a
fixed charges coverage ratio as well as numerous reporting requirements. The agreement has a
variable interest rate equal to either the bank’s prime rate or the London Interbank Offered Rate.

Note 3:

Long-term Debt

7.50% notes due 2008 (A)
4.78% notes due 2011 (B)

$

Less current maturities
$
(A)

2004

2003

20,000,000 $
25,000,000
45,000,000

25,000,000
—
25,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

40,000,000 $

20,000,000

Due March 15, 2008: principal payable $5,000,000 annually, interest payable semi-annually
at 7.5%. The note agreement requires the maintenance of a fixed charges coverage ratio as
well as numerous reporting requirements. The Company was in compliance with the
covenant and reporting requirements during 2004 and 2003. The note agreement also
requires mandatory prepayments of outstanding principal upon withdrawal from the
Company of various aggregates of membership. The Company was not subject to any
mandatory prepayments during 2004 and 2003. Note proceeds were used to fund
development of market settlement software. The notes are unsecured.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

(B)

Due May 11, 2011; principal payable $5,000,000 annually beginning on June 25, 2007,
interest payable semi-annually at 4.78%. The note agreement requires the maintenance of a
fixed charges coverage ratio as well as numerous reporting requirements. The Company was
in compliance with the covenant and reporting requirements during 2004. The note
agreement also requires mandatory prepayments of outstanding principal upon withdrawal
from the Company of various aggregates of membership. The Company was not subject to
any mandatory prepayments during 2004. Proceeds will be used to fund general corporate
activities. The notes are unsecured.

Aggregate annual maturities of long term debt at December 31, 2004 are:
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

Note 4:

$

5,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000

$

45,000,000

Operating Leases

The Company has noncancellable operating leases for office space and certain office equipment
which expire at various times through 2011. The Company incurred lease expense related to these
operating leases of $698,232 and $648,701 in 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments at December 31, 2004, were:
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

$

725,619
745,769
765,380
782,014
758,549
1,361,318

$

5,138,649

10

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003
Note 5:

Employee Benefit Plans

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering all employees who
meet the eligibility requirements. The Company’s funding policy is to make the minimum annual
contribution that is required by applicable regulations, plus such amounts as the Company may
determine to be appropriate from time to time. The Company expects to contribute approximately
$1,116,000 to the plan in 2005.
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit postretirement health care plan covering
eligible retirees including those retiring between the ages of 55-65 and hired prior to January 1,
1996. The Company’s funding policy is to make the minimum annual contribution that is required
by applicable regulations, plus such amounts as the Company may determine to be appropriate
from time to time. The Company expects to contribute approximately $504,000 to the plan in
2005.
The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for the plans. Significant balances, costs and
assumptions are:
Pension Benefits
2004
2003

(in thousands)

Projected - benefit
obligation
Fair value of plan
assets

$

6,738

$

4,783

Funded status

$

Accumulated benefit
obligation

$

6,147

$

3,594

(1,955) $
3,860

Health Care Benefits
2004
2003

3,153

$

2,004

(2,553) $

$

2,815

2,380
1,422

(811) $

(958)

(8) $

(9)

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets:
Prepaid (accrued)
benefit cost
Benefit costs
Employer
contributions
Benefits paid

$

314

$

224

$

$

845

$

814

$

426

$

386

$
$

936
60

$
$

837
9

$
$

426
2

$
$

386
0
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations and costs:
Pension Benefits
2004
2003
Discount rate
Expected return
on plan assets
Rate of
compensation
increase

Health Care Benefits
2004
2003

7%

7%

7%

7%

7%

7%

7%

7%

4%

4%

The Company has estimated the long-term rate of return on plan assets based primarily on
historical returns on plan assets, adjusted for changes in target portfolio allocations and recent
changes in long-term interest rates based on publicly available information.
For measurement purposes, a 10% and 8% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health care benefits was assumed for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The rate was assumed to
decrease gradually to 5% by the year 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (the Act) was signed into law. The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare
Part D, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide
benefits at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. The Company has not determined
whether its plan provides benefits that are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D.
In accordance with FASB Staff Position 106-1, the Company has not reflected the effects of the
Act on the measurements of plan benefit obligations and periodic benefit costs and accompanying
notes. The Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff recently issued FASB Staff Position 106-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” which requires federal subsidies, if any, attributable
to past service to be accounted for as an actuarial gain and federal subsidies, if any, attributable to
current service to be accounted for as a reduction of net periodic benefit cost. The Company
expects to first apply FASB Staff Position 106-2 during its fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.
The impact of applying the new statement has not yet been detemined.
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid as of December 31:
Pension
Benefits
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010 - 2014

$

64,500
64,500
64,500
67,400
70,400
694,800

Health Care
Benefits
$

8,700
9,500
15,400
22,000
23,300
449,800
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The Company’s investment strategy is based on an expectation that equity securities will
outperform debt securities over the long-term. Accordingly, the composition of the Company’s
plan assets is broadly characterized as a 70%/30% allocation between equity and debt securities.
The strategy utilizes indexed and actively managed mutual fund instruments as well as direct
investment in individual equity and debt securities. Investments in the plans must adhere to the
Investment Policy Statement developed by the Company. The Investment Policy Statement is
reviewed annually. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, plan assets by category are as follows:
Pension Benefits
2004
2003
Fixed income mutual
funds
Domestic equities
and mutual funds
International equity
funds
Cash and equivalents

Health Care Benefits
2004
2003

28.8%

26.5%

27.2%

37.7%

71.2

73.5

58.0

43.4

—
—

—
—

11.6
3.2

5.5
13.4

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Defined Contribution Plan
The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering substantially all employees. The
Company contributes funds to the Plan on behalf of plan participants equal to 75% of the
participants’ elective deferral up to 6% of deferred compensation. Contributions to the plan were
$415,247 and $374,038 for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 6:

Related Party Transactions

General disbursements of the Company are apportioned to members based on the formula described
in the Bylaws of the Company (see Note 1). The Company’s receivables from members totaled
$3,485,803 and $3,313,481 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company
recognized revenues of $35,304,259 and $25,802,417, including assessments and tariff
administrative fees, from members for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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The Southwest Power Pool Regional State Committee (‘RSC”) was incorporated on April 7, 2004,
in the State of Arkansas. The RSC is comprised of commissioners from the state public service
commissions, or equivalent, having regulatory authority over Company members. FERC, in its
February 20, 2004, Order regarding the Company’s RTO application stated, “the RSC should have
primary responsibility for determining regional proposals and the transition process for funding of
regional transmission enhancements, rate structure for a regional access charge and allocation of
transmission rights.” The RSC prepares budgets annually for the expected costs of its operations.
This budget is submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors for approval. The Company includes
in its annual budget funds sufficient to cover 100% of the operating costs of the RSC. During 2004
the Company incurred $8,444 in expenses attributable to RSC operations. Management of the
Company expects such expenditures for 2005 to be $1.1 million.

Note 7:

Open Access Transmission Operations

The Company provides “one-stop-shopping” for short- and long-term firm and non-firm point-topoint transmission services and network integration transmission service across 11 providers in eight
southwestern states. The Company is responsible for the billing of the transmission customers for
the respective services and the remittance of the subsequent collections to the transmission owner on
a monthly basis. The Company receives a fee from the customer for facilitating the transmission
process, which is recorded as tariff fees in the Company’s statements of income. For the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company billed transmission customers $228,934,605 and
$206,374,647, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company
remitted to transmission owners $214,817,891 and $190,076,500, respectively. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, the Company was due to collect from customers and remit to owners transmission
service charges of $18,498,947 and $17,333,067, respectively.

Note 8:

Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
The Company entered into an agreement for the development of software to be used for internal
use. Total costs capitalized as of December 31, 2004, for this project are approximately
$23,564,000, which is included as hardware and software and software in development in property
and equipment. Remaining commitments under this agreement are approximately $4 million per
year, with inflationary increases, through 2006 for commercial operations outsourcing services.
Litigation
The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. The
resolution of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
financial position, cash flows, or results of operations.
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Note 9:

Asset Impairment

As discussed in Note 1, the Company capitalizes interest cost related to software in development.
During 2004 management of the Company assessed the recoverability of the capitalized cost of
such software and determined that future revenues will not recover the portion of the software cost
attributable to capitalized interest. Accordingly, an impairment loss of $2,485,060, representing
$1,461,620 and $1,023,440 of interest capitalized in 2001 and 2004, respectively, was charged to
income in 2004.

Note 10: Change in Accounting Estimate
Effective January 1, 2004, the estimated service life of certain software was lowered from five to
three years to more accurately reflect the economic life of the asset. The effect of this change was
to decrease net income for 2004 by $893,667.

15

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
April 26, 2005
Roster:
Harry Skilton, Chair
Jim Eckelberger
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry (proxy – Dennis Reed)
Michael Desselle

Director
Director
Arkansas Electric Coop Corp
Tenaska
Westar Energy
AEP

Background
The Finance Committee formed the Credit Task Force, comprised of credit professionals from
SPP member companies, in late 2003 with a directive to thoroughly review and update SPP’s
credit processes. The Credit Task Force determined that SPP’s existing credit policy required
substantial revisions to properly govern the extension and monitoring of credit for services sold
under SPP’s tariff.
Analysis
The Finance Committee has reviewed the work of the Credit Task Force related to development
of a credit policy. The policy appears to meet recent guidance provided by FERC related to
ISO/RTO credit policies:
1) Applicants rated based on qualitative and quantitative measures,
2) Applicants are able to calculate their own credit rating with a degree of accuracy,
3) Maximum and minimum credit limits detailed,
4) Formula for calculation of total potential exposure is disclosed,
5) Policy allows netting,
6) Policy should be filed with tariff, or, at a minimum, posted on corporate web site.
The revised credit policy also allows for the extension of unsecured credit to those entities that do
not have a credit rating from a major reporting agency. SPP’s customer and member base has
numerous entities that may benefit from this change.
Recommendation
The Finance Committee recommends the SPP Board of Directors adopt the revised credit policy.
Further, the Finance Committee recommends implementation of the revised credit policy as soon
as practicable, but no later than implementation of the energy imbalance market.
The Markets and Operations Policy Committee further recommends the following:
•
•
•
•

Approve the proposed Credit Policy
Direct the Credit Task Force to calculate scores and exposures for all members
Direct the SPP to implement the Credit Policy as soon as practical
Delay filing the Credit Policy as part of the OATT until EIS is implemented unless
required by FERC

Approved:

Finance Committee
Passed, Unopposed
Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Passed, Unopposed

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

March 29, 2005

April 12-13, 2005
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SOUTHWEST POWER POOL, INC.
CREDIT POLICY
ARTICLE ONE
General Provisions
1.1

Policy Statement. In furtherance of competition and the orderly administration of the
Tariff, Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (“SPP”) shall administer, implement and enforce this
Credit Policy. This Credit Policy is intended to encourage the maximum participation of
large and small participants in all market sectors while minimizing the likelihood of
losses due to default.

1.2

Applicability of Credit Policy and Overview.
1.2.1

This Credit Policy is applicable to each Market Participant that takes or seeks to
take service under the Tariff, including all Transmission Service and Market
Services, or otherwise participates in Market Services, regardless of whether SPP
previously extended credit to, or established a Total Credit Limit for, the Market
Participant.

1.2.2

As a condition to taking any service under the Tariff, including all services,
including all Transmission Service and Market Services, or otherwise transacting
as a Market Participant, SPP must determine that the Market Participant satisfies
SPP’s credit requirements under this Credit Policy and the terms and conditions
for an extension of credit. SPP’s determination is a Credit Assessment. The
Credit Assessment is based upon quantitative and qualitative credit scoring under
the formulae and procedures set forth in this Credit Policy. This Credit Policy
provides for initial and ongoing Credit Assessments. In order to facilitate
continuous evaluation of credit, it requires the submission of Credit Information
to SPP periodically and, additionally, upon the occurrence of certain events.
Based upon the ongoing Credit Assessment, SPP is authorized, at any time, to
revise a Market Participant’s Total Credit Limit and the terms and conditions for
the extension of credit.

1.2.3

SPP shall conduct initial and ongoing Credit Assessments for each Market
Participant, based, as applicable, upon the Credit Application, Credit Information,
and Credit Ratings. Credit Information includes: (a) the information contained in
and submitted with the Market Participant’s duly executed Credit Application;
and (b) updated and additional information the Market Participant is required to
submit from time to time under this Credit Policy. Credit Information and Credit
Ratings, if any, shall be sufficient to enable SPP to determine under this Credit
Policy whether to approve an extension of credit, and the amount, terms, and
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conditions thereof, including the extent and nature of any Corporate Guaranty or
Financial Security.

1.3

1.4

1.2.4

Based upon its Credit Assessment, SPP will: (a) determine the Market
Participant’s Total Potential Exposure; (b) determine the amount of credit the
Market Participant requires; (c) determine whether to grant, and the amount of,
any Unsecured Credit Allowance; (d) evaluate any Corporate Guaranty the
Market Participant offers to provide, including a Credit Assessment for the
proposed Guarantor; and (e) determine the amount of any required Financial
Security. Based on these determinations, which shall include consideration of the
Market Participant’s ability to fulfill SPP’s requirements to obtain credit, SPP will
set the Total Credit Limit for the Market Participant.

1.2.4

To facilitate the Credit Assessment, each Market Participant shall submit a duly
executed Credit Application in the form attached as Exhibit “A,” and the Credit
Information required under this Credit Policy. If SPP determines that an
extension of credit to a Market Participant must be supported by Financial
Security, the Market Participant shall, upon SPP’s request, duly execute the Credit
and Security Agreement in the form attached as Attachment “B,” without
variation. Any Letter of Credit shall be substantially in the form attached as
Attachment “C,” and any Corporate Guaranty shall be substantially in the form
attached as Exhibit “D.” Any variations in the forms of Letter of Credit and
Corporate Guaranty must be reasonably acceptable to SPP.

Components of Credit Policy. This Credit Policy includes the following elements:
1.3.1

Requirements for the establishment and maintenance of credit applicable to
Market Participants.

1.3.2

The basis for establishing a Total Credit Limit for a Market Participant in order to
extend credit, but diminish the possibility of failure of payment under the Tariff
and Agreements.

1.3.3

Forms of Corporate Guaranty and Financial Security acceptable to SPP, to be
provided if SPP does not approve an Unsecured Credit Allowance sufficient to
cover the Market Participant’s Total Potential Exposure.

1.3.4

Requirements to facilitate ongoing Credit Assessments.

1.3.5

Specification of Defaults under this Credit Policy and remedies.

Fairness, Objectivity, and Non-Discrimination. SPP will seek and receive information
and explanation from a Market Participant as appropriate to help ensure that the Credit
Assessment is fair and thorough. SPP will base each Credit Assessment upon SPP’s
evaluation of the Credit Information, Credit Ratings, and other pertinent indicators of
2
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financial strength identified under this Credit Policy. SPP shall make each Credit
Assessment objectively and without undue discrimination in favor of or against any
market sector.
1.5

Construction and Interpretation.
1.5.1

The word “including” shall be understood to mean “including without limitation.”
The singular form of a word shall be understood to include the plural form, and
vice versa, as appropriate to implement the applicable term or condition.

1.5.2

Except as otherwise stated, the words “Section” and “Article” refer to sections
and articles of this Credit Policy. A Section reference includes all subsections and
subparts of the Section.

1.5.3

All references to amounts of cash, cash deposits, and to monies paid, provided,
due or otherwise, shall be construed to refer to United States dollars.

ARTICLE TWO
Definitions
2.1

Definitions. The following definitions apply in this Credit Policy. Capitalized terms
used herein and not defined herein shall be given the meaning assigned to them under the
Tariff.
Affiliate
A business concern, organization, or individual is an affiliate of another business
concern, organization, or individual, including a Market Participant, that directly or
indirectly: (a) has the power to control or is controlled by it; or (b) is under common
control of a third party. Elements of control include interlocking management or
ownership, shared facilities and equipment, and common use of employees.
Affiliated Market Participants
Market Participants that are Affiliates.
Agreements
The Tariff, this Credit Policy, any and all agreements entered into by the Market
Participant under, pursuant to or in connection with the Tariff and/or this Credit Policy,
and any and all other Agreements to which SPP and the Market Participant are parties.
Business Day
A day on which the Federal Reserve System is open for business.
Cash Deposit
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Cash collateral provided to SPP to secure a Market Participant’s performance under the
Tariff, this Credit Policy, and/or any other Agreements, and any other cash to which the
Market Participant has title or rights in the possession of SPP (cash SPP has applied to
payment of an obligation under the Tariff or Agreements is not cash to which a Market
Participant has title or rights).
Central Prevailing Time
As established by national time standards, either Central Standard Time or Central DayLight Time.
Composite Credit Score or Credit Score
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.
Corporate Guaranty
A legal document used by an Affiliate of a Market Participant to guarantee the
obligations of such Market Participant for the benefit of SPP.
Credit and Security Agreement
A legal document, outlining certain terms pursuant to which a security interest in certain
collateral is granted to SPP, in the form incorporated herein as Attachment “B”.
Credit Application
The completed, executed, and submitted Credit Application in the form attached as
Attachment “A” hereto, together with the Credit Information required under this Credit
Policy.
Credit Assessment
This term shall have the meaning given in Article Three.
Credit Contact
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 9.1.
Credit Information
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 1.2.3.
Credit Policy
This Credit Policy, as it may be amended or restated from time to time.
Credit Ratings
Rating assigned by a Rating Agency based on an obligor’s creditworthiness to pay
financial obligations.
Default or Event of Default
Any default under Article Eight or otherwise under this Credit Policy.
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Energy Imbalance Market Exposure
This term has the meaning given in Section 5.2.1.
FERC
The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
Financial Security
A Cash Deposit or Irrevocable Letter of Credit in amount and in forms determined by and
acceptable to SPP, provided by a Market Participant to SPP as security.
Financial Statements
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 3.1.1.1.
Guarantor
An entity that guarantees the obligation of another entity under a Corporate Guaranty.
Irrevocable Letter of Credit
An irrevocable standby letter of credit, with SPP as beneficiary, substantially in the form
attached as Attachment “C” to this Credit Policy and reasonably acceptable to SPP.
Large Company Market Participants or Large Company
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.1.
Market Services
Services taken and/or provided pursuant to the Tariff, excluding transmission services
and interconnection obligations.
Material
The lesser of (i) the materiality standard established by the certified public accounting
firm performing the Market Participant’s annual audit, (ii) an amount that equals or
exceeds five percent (5%) of the Market Participant’s Tangible Net Worth using the last
audited financial statements, calculated in accordance with generally acceptable
accounting principles; and (iii) a change, event, proceeding, or other occurrence, that
results (or if adversely determined could result) in a change of five percent (5%) or more
in the Market Participant’s Tangible Net Worth compared to the Tangible Net Worth of
the Market Participant using the last audited financial statements, calculated in
accordance with generally acceptable accounting principles.
Material Change
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 3.2.6.
Not-For Profit Market Participants or Not-For-Profit
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.3.
Peak Market Activity Day
5
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The day in which a Market Participant’s calculated charges owed to SPP are the greatest,
over a specified period.
Potential Exposure Window
The number of days of credit exposure for a Market Participant equal to the sum of days
of service that have been invoiced but not paid, days of service that have been calculated
but not invoiced, days of service in the cure period, and days before service can be
terminated.
Qualitative Score
This term has the meanings applicable under Article Four.
Quantitative Score
This term has the meanings applicable under Article Four.
Rating Agency(ies)
Any Rating Agency that is a “Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations” as
defined by the US Securities Exchange Commission. Currently there are four —
Dominion Bond Rating Service Ltd., Fitch, Inc., Moody's Investors Service, and the
Standard & Poor's Division of the McGraw Hill Companies Inc.
SEC
The Securities and Exchange Commission.
Small Company Market Participants or Small Company
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.2.
SPP
The Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Tangible Net Worth
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.
Tariff
The SPP Open Access Transmission Tariff, as it may be amended or supplemented from
time to time, together with all replacements and substitutions.
Total Credit Limit
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.5.
Total Potential Exposure or TPE
SPP’s estimate of the Market Participant’s current or anticipated transaction activity and
resulting obligations for all services under the Tariff or otherwise.
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Total Potential Exposure Violation
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5.4.1.
Transmission Service Potential Exposure
This term shall have the meaning give in Section 5.2.2.
Unsecured Credit Allowance
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.

ARTICLE THREE
Credit Assessment
3.1

Initial Credit Assessment.
3.1.1

Credit Application and Credit Information. A Market Participant must submit
a completed and duly executed Credit Application. A completed Credit
Application includes submission of the Credit Application form (Attachment
“A”), all information required under Section 3.1.1, and additional information that
SPP may request. The Market Participant must submit the following information
with its Credit Application.
3.1.1.1

Audited Financial Statements and Related Information. All
annual Financial Statements submitted must be audited. Financial
Statements are the following.
a.

If the Market Participant is subject to SEC reporting
requirements, Financial Statements are:
i.

ii.

iii.

b.

Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal
years most recently ended, together with any
amendments thereto;
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each
completed fiscal quarter of the then current fiscal
year, together with any amendments thereto; and
Form 8-K reports, if any, filed after the most recent
Form 10-K.

If the Market Participant is not subject to SEC reporting
requirements, Financial Statements are:
i.

For each of the three fiscal years most recently
ended, the Report of Independent Accountants (for
each of the three fiscal years most recently ended);
and audited financial statements, including balance
7
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ii.

iii.
iv.

sheet, income statement, statement of cash flow,
and statement of stockholder’s equity;
For each completed fiscal quarter of the then current
fiscal year; financial statements as described in (i)
above. Unaudited quarterly financial statements are
acceptable.
Notes to financial statements; and
Management’s discussion and analysis, if any.

c.

The Market Participant may submit Financial Statements
by informing SPP, in writing, where the Financial
Statements can be retrieved through the Internet.
Successful retrieval by SPP will satisfy the Financial
Statements submission requirements of this Section. If SPP
is not satisfied with the retrieval through the Internet, it
may require the Market Participant to submit Financial
Statements in hard copy form.

d.

In the event any parts of the Financial Statements required
under this Section are inapplicable to the Market
Participant, SPP may specify alternate requirements. SPP
may request additional Financial Statements and related
information at its sole discretion.

3.1.1.2

References. The Market Participant must provide at least one
bank reference and at least three references from entities that have
significant commercial relationships with the Market Participant.

3.1.1.3

Loss Contingencies. The Market Participant must fully and
accurately identify and describe each of the following, or state that
there are no such matters applicable to the Market Participant:
a.

known pending or, to the Market Participant’s knowledge,
threatened, court actions, arbitration proceeding,
investigations, commitments, claims, contingencies, or
existing or potential liabilities that are or would be Material
if determined adversely to the Market Participant;

b.

ongoing investigations by the SEC, the FERC, or of any
other governing, regulatory, or standards body that is
Material or would be Material if determined adversely to
the Market Participant;
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3.1.2

c.

prior bankruptcy declarations or petitions, voluntary or
involuntary, by or against the Market Participant, its
predecessors, subsidiaries or Affiliates; and

d.

Material defalcations or fraud by or involving the Market
Participant, its predecessors, subsidiaries or Affiliates, or
any of their respective assets.

3.1.1.4

Affiliates. The Market Participant must identify all Affiliates that
are Market Participants.

3.1.1.5

Total Potential Exposure Information. The Market Participant
shall provide an estimate of its current or anticipated transaction
activity for all services under the Tariff or otherwise over the
succeeding twelve months, sufficient to permit SPP to determine
the Market Participant’s Total Potential Exposure.

3.1.1.6

Additional Information. At any time and from time to time, SPP
may request such additional information as SPP determines is
necessary and appropriate for the Credit Assessment and the
Market Participant shall timely provide such additional
information. At any time, the Market Participant may provide SPP
with additional information that the Market Participant considers
relevant to the Credit Assessment.

Rating Agency Information. In the initial Credit Assessment and in SPP’s sole
discretion thereafter, SPP will consider Rating Agency reports applicable to the
Market Participant. This review will be focused on the Market Participant’s
unsecured, senior long-term debt ratings. If these ratings are not available, SPP
will consider issuer ratings.

3.1.3 Guaranties. If the Market Participant proposes a Corporate Guaranty to
establish, contribute to, or maintain an Unsecured Credit Allowance, Credit
Information required under Section 3.1.1 must be submitted with respect to both
the Market Participant and the proposed Guarantor.
3.2.

Annual and Other Ongoing Credit Assessments.
3.2.1

Purpose of Annual and Other Ongoing Credit Assessments. At least once
annually, SPP will review and update its Credit Assessment for each Market
Participant.
This will include a review of the Market Participant’s
creditworthiness and consideration of revisions of the Market Participant’s (a)
Unsecured Credit Allowance; (b) Financial Security requirements; and (c) Total
Credit Limit. In its sole discretion, SPP may conduct additional reviews and
updates, including reviews in response to new facts or occurrences that may bear
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upon the Market Participant’s creditworthiness. Unless otherwise stated, all
annual information required under Section 3.2 shall be provided to SPP no later
than 120 days after the end of the Market Participant’s fiscal year.
3.2.2

Procedures; Period for Posting Additional Financial Security. Based upon the
annual or other Credit Assessment, SPP may, at any time, revise any (a)
Unsecured Credit Allowance; (b) Financial Security requirements; and (c) Total
Credit Limit, applicable to the Market Participant. If SPP has upwardly revised
the required amount of Financial Security, the Market Participant will have two
(2) Business Days from receipt of the notice (or three (3) Business Days if
notification occurs after noon Central Prevailing Time) to provide the required
Financial Security, in an amount and form acceptable to SPP. Failure to provide
additional required Financial Security shall be a Default under this Credit Policy
and a default under the Tariff.

3.2.3

Rating Agency Information. The Market Participant will give notice to SPP of
any changes to its Credit Ratings within five (5) Business Days of the
announcement of the change.

3.2.4

Financial Statements. On an annual basis, and except as otherwise stated with
respect to quarterly reports, each Market Participant must provide SPP with
updated Financial Statements within ten (10) days after they become available,
and in no event later than 120 days after the end of the Market Participant’s fiscal
year. Quarterly reports must be provided quarterly, within five (5) days after they
become available. Financial Statements may be submitted in the manner provided
under Section 3.1.1.1.

3.2.5

Other Credit Information. On an annual basis, each Market Participant must
provide SPP with the information specified in Section 3.1.1.3 (Loss
Contingencies), 3.1.1.4 (Affiliates), 3.1.1.6 (Additional Information).

3.2.6 Information Concerning Material Changes. Each Market Participant with an
Unsecured Credit Allowance must give SPP notice of any Material Change in its
financial condition (and, as applicable, the financial condition of its Guarantor)
within five (5) Business Days of the occurrence of the Material Change. If a
Market Participant or Guarantor files Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, or Form 8-K with
the SEC, notice of such filing, timely delivered to SPP in accordance herewith,
will suffice on the condition that such notice states that the filing addresses a
Material Change. A Material Change in financial condition includes any Material
change in operations or financial condition that a reasonable examiner of
creditworthiness would deem material to decisions concerning the extension of
credit, including any of the following (“Material Change”):
a.

A downgrade of any debt rating or issuer rating, or change in the outlook
of any Credit Rating, including debt rating or issuer rating;
10
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b.

Any placement on a credit watch with negative implication by a Rating
Agency;

c.

The filing or threatened filing of a voluntary or involuntary petition to
institute bankruptcy proceedings under the United States Bankruptcy Code
or any successor statute, or the filing or threatened filing to institute any
proceedings under state law concerning actual or potential insolvency.

d.

Insolvency;

e.

The filing of a lawsuit or initiation of an arbitration, investigation or other
proceeding (including regulatory proceeding) which if decided adversely
could have a Material effect on any current or future financial results or
financial condition;

f.

Any changes in financial condition which, individually, or in the
aggregate, are Material;

g.

Any adverse changes, events or occurrences which, individually or in the
aggregate, could affect the ability of the Market Participant to pay its debts
as they become due or could have a Material adverse effect on any current
or future financial results or financial condition;

h.

Discovery or disclosure of conflict of interest issues;

i.

Resignation or removal of a key officer or director;

j.

Any action requiring the filing of a Form 8-K;

k.

Any report of a quarterly or annual loss or a decline in earnings of ten (10)
percent or greater compared to the prior period; and

l.

Any restatement of prior financial statements.

3.2.7 Affiliates. Each Market Participant must identify all Affiliates that are Market
Participants.
3.2.8

Additional Information. At any time and from time to time, SPP may request
such additional information as SPP determines is necessary and appropriate for
the Credit Assessment and the Market Participant shall timely provide such
additional information. At any time, the Market Participant may provide SPP
with additional information that the Market Participant considers relevant to the
Credit Assessment.
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3.2.9 Guaranties. If the Market Participant relies upon a Corporate Guaranty to
maintain an Unsecured Credit Allowance, Credit Information required under
Section 3.2 must be submitted with respect to both the Market Participant and the
Guarantor.
3.3

SPP Rights to Use Other Information. Notwithstanding any provision of this Credit
Policy, SPP shall have the right to utilize, in a Credit Assessment, any information of
which it is aware concerning the Market Participant.

3.4

Positive Material Change in Financial Condition of the Market Participant. If there
is a positive Material Change in the financial condition of the Market Participant, a
significant reduction in the Total Potential Exposure of the Market Participant, or any
other change that the Market Participant believes may warrant an increase in the Market
Participant’s Unsecured Credit Allowance and/or a reduction in the Financial Security
required of the Market Participant, the Market Participant may make a written request to
SPP to update the Credit Assessment and include or refer to any supporting information.
SPP may request any Credit Information described in Section 3.2 in support of the
Market Participant’s request. SPP anticipates that it will respond to the Market
Participant’s request within a reasonable period of time, generally within ten (10)
Business Days after receiving all information that is required for an ongoing review as
required in this Article.

ARTICLE FOUR
Creditworthiness and Total Credit Limit
4.1

Creditworthiness Overview. SPP will establish a Total Potential Exposure for each
Market Participant based on the Market Participant’s estimated cumulative financial
obligation arising under the Tariff or otherwise to SPP, as provided in Article 5. The
Total Potential Exposure is the amount that the Market Participant must support with
credit. The credit will consist of a combination of the Unsecured Credit Allowance and
Financial Security, or either of them. SPP will determine the Market Participant’s
Unsecured Credit Allowance based upon the Composite Credit Score. The Composite
Credit Score, as defined herein, is a determination of financial strength and
creditworthiness, based upon the Credit Assessment. Where Market Participants are
Affiliates of each other, an aggregate Unsecured Credit Allowance will be established for
the Affiliates, as provided below. Financial Security is a Letter of Credit or other
collateral in accordance with this Credit Policy. If the Market Participant’s Unsecured
Credit Allowance is less than its Total Potential Exposure, the Market Participant will be
required either to establish additional credit in the amount of the difference by posting
Financial Security or to decrease its Total Potential Exposure. A Market Participant’s
total credit with SPP, consisting of the Unsecured Credit Allowance and any Financial
Security, is the Market Participant’s Total Credit Limit. A Market Participant may
provide additional Financial Security at any time to increase or maintain its Total Credit
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Limit, for example, in order to increase its Total Potential Exposure or to compensate for
a reduction in its Unsecured Credit Allowance.
4.2

Composite Credit Score. The “Composite Credit Score” is the numerical result of
SPP’s scoring process based upon various quantitative and qualitative predictors of
creditworthiness as set forth in this Section. The results are scaled from one (1) to six (6)
with one (1) being the strongest score and six (6) being the weakest. Key factors in the
scoring process include financial ratios, years in business, and Credit Ratings. SPP will
apply all measures used to determine Composite Credit Scores in a consistent manner.
The respective models SPP will use to determine the Composite Credit Score for Large
Company Market Participants, Small Company Market Participants, and Not-For-Profit
Market Participants are set forth in this Section.
4.2.1 Large Company Credit Scoring. The Large Company Market Participant
model will be utilized for Market Participants with net fixed assets equal to or in
excess of $250 million (“Large Company Market Participants” or “Large
Company”). The Large Company Credit Score will be comprised of a
Quantitative Score and a Qualitative Score. Each score is then weighted as shown
below to build a Composite Credit Score.
Large Company Analysis
Quantitative Score
Qualitative Score
4.2.1.1

Weight
70%
30%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Large-Company Market Participant and compared with
benchmarks to assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each
measure. A score of one (1) indicates that the Market Participant
has a strong financial health with regard to the measure, while a
score of six (6) indicates poor financial health with regard to the
measure. The following measures are used:
a.

Current Ratio—Current Assets/Current Liabilities

b.

EBIT Interest Coverage—(Interest Expense + Income
Taxes + Net Income) / Interest Expense

c.

Total Debt to Total Capitalization (“TD/TC”)—(Long
Term Debt + Current Portion + Other Short Term
Barrowings) / (Total Debt + Preferred Equity + Common
Equity)

d.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) to Total Debt—(Cash
from Operating Activities - Changes in Operating Assets
13
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and Liabilities) / (Long Term Debt + Current Portion +
Other Short Term Barrowings)
The measures are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Scale
1
2
3
4
5
6

Current
>1.34
1.15 – 1.34
1.00 – 1.14
0.85 – 0.99
0.70 – 0.84
<0.70

EBIT Interest
>4.99
3.50 – 4.99
2.50 – 3.49
2.00 – 2.49
1.25 – 1.99
<1.25

TD/TC
<.30
.30 - .39
.40 - .49
.50 - .59
.60 - .69
>.69

FFO to Total Debt
>.350
.271 - .350
.181 - .270
.120 - .180
.070 - .119
<.070

The measures are weighted as follows:
Large Company Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Debt to Total Capitalization
FFO to Total Debt

Weight
10%
25%
25%
40%
100%

If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data
to calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to
that ratio or ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining
ratios.
4.2.1.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one
(1) to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about
a Market Participant’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1)
indicates that the Market Participant has strong qualitative
measures, while a score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative
measures. The qualitative analysis will take into account a variety
of information, but at a minimum will include the assessment of
the following characteristics:
-Management
-Regional / Commodity Diversity
-Physical Liquidity
-Financial Liquidity
-Quality of Equity
-Volatility of Earnings
-Regulation/Rates
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
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-SPP Payment Record
-Risk Procedures
4.2.1.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
Large Company Qualitative Score = 4.0
Large Company Financial Measures:
Value
.82
2.08
.63
.17

Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Debt to Total Capitalization
FFO to Total Debt

Score
5
4
5
4

Weight
10%
25%
25%
40%

Large Company Quantitative Score =
(5 x 10%) + (4 x 25%) + (5 x 25%) + (4 x 40%) = 4.35
Large Company Credit Score = (4.35 x 70%) + (4 x 30%) = 4.25
4.2.2

Small Company Credit Scoring. The Small Company model will be utilized for
Market Participants with net fixed assets less than $250 million (“Small Company
Market Participants” or “Small Company”). The Small Company Composite
Credit Score will be comprised of a Quantitative Score and a Qualitative Score.
Each score is then weighted as shown below to build a Composite Credit Score.
Small Company Analysis
Quantitative Score
Qualitative Score
4.2.2.1

Weight
70%
30%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Small Company Market Participant and compared with
benchmarks to assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each
measure. A score of one (1) indicates that the Market Participant
has a strong financial health with regard to the measure, while a
score of six (6) indicates poor financial health with regard to the
measure. The following measures are used:
a.

Current Ratio—Current Assets/Current Liabilities

b.

EBIT Interest Coverage—(Interest Expense + Income
Taxes + Net Income) / Interest Expense
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c.

Total Liabilities to Total Net Worth (“TL/TNW”)—(Total
Liabilities) / (Total Equity-Intangibles-Treasury Stock)

d.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) to Total Debt—(Cash
from Operating Activities - Changes in Operating Assets
and Liabilities) / (Long Term Debt + Current Portion +
Other Short Term Barrowings)

e.

Return on Assets (“ROA”)—Net Income / Total Assets

The values are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Scale Current
1
2
3
4
5
6

>2.50
1.75 – 2.50
1.40 – 1.74
1.15 – 1.39
1.00 – 1.14
<1.00

EBIT Interest TL/TNW
>4.99
3.50 – 4.99
2.50 – 3.49
2.00 – 2.49
1.25 – 1.99
<1.25

FFO to Total Debt

<0.40
0.40 - 0.70
0.71 – 1.49
1.50 – 2.25
2.26 – 4.00
>4.00

>.350
.271-.350
.181 - .270
.120 - .18
.070 - .119
<.070

ROA
>.120
.100 - .120
.075 - .099
.045 - .074
.015 - .044
<.015

The measures are weighted as follows:
Small Company Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Liabilities / Total Net Worth
FFO to Total Debt
ROA

Weight
25%
10%
25%
15%
25%
100%

If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data
to calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to
that ratio or ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining
ratios.
4.2.2.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one
(1) to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about
a Market Participant’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1)
indicates that the Market Participant has strong qualitative
measures, while a score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative
measures. The qualitative analysis will take into account a variety
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of information, but at a minimum will include the assessment of
the following characteristics:
-Management
-Regional / Commodity Diversity
-Physical Liquidity
-Financial Liquidity
-Quality of Equity
-Volatility of Earnings
-Regulation/Rates
-Peer Comparison using SIC codes
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
-SPP Payment Record
4.2.2.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
Small Company Qualitative Score = 4
Small Company Financial Measures:
Value
1.10
1855.00
2.47
0.03
0.02

Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Liabilities / Total Net Worth
FFO to Total Debt
ROA

Score
5
1
5
6
5

Weight
25%
10%
25%
15%
25%

Small Company Quantitative Score =
(5 x 25%) + (1 x 10%) + (5 x 25%) + (6 x 15%) + (5 x 25%) = 4.75
Small Company Credit Score =
(4.75 x 70%) + (4 x 30%) = 4.53
4.2.3 Not-For-Profit Credit Scoring. The Not-For-Profit model will be utilized for
Market Participants who are not structured to generate profits for investors (“NotFor-Profit Market Participants” or “Not-For-Profit”), including electric
cooperatives, municipalities, and government agencies. The Not-For-Profit
Composite Credit Score will be comprised of a Quantitative Score and a
Qualitative Score. Each score is then weighted as shown below to build a
Composite Credit Score.
Not-For-Profit Market Participant Analysis
Quantitative Score
17
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Qualitative Score
4.2.3.1

50%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Not-For-Profit Market Participant and compared with benchmarks
to assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each measure. A score of
one (1) indicates that the Market Participant has a strong financial
health with regard to the measure, while a score of six (6) indicates
poor financial health with regard to the measure. The following
measures, or their substantive equivalents for not-for-profit
entities, are used:
a.

Current Ratio (“CR”)—Current Assets / Current Liabilities

b.

Debt Service Coverage (“DSC”)—(Operating Income +
Interest Expense + Depreciation + Interest Income + Cash
Portion of Capital Credits - Onetime Charges)/(Interest
Expense + Debt Amortization)

c.

Times Interest Earned Ratio (“TIER”)—(Interest Expense
on total long term debt + Patronage Capital or Margins) /
(Interest Expense)

d.

Total Debt to Total Capitalization (“TD/TC”)—(Long
Term Debt + Current Portion + Other Short Term
Barrowings) / (Total Debt + Preferred Equity + Common
Equity). Members’ Equity could also be called Net Assets
or Patronage Capital.

The values are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Not-For-Profit Market Participant Model Ratio Scales
Scale CR
DSC
TIER
TD/TC
1
2
3
4
5
6

>1.34
1.15 – 1.34
1.00 – 1.14
0.85 – 0.99
0.70 – 0.84
<0.70

>1.99
1.50 – 1.99
1.00 – 1.49
0.80 – 0.99
0.60 – 0.79
<0.60

>2.00
1.50 – 2.00
1.00 – 1.49
0.80 – 0.99
0.50 – 0.79
<0.50

The measures are weighted as follows:
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Not-For-Profit Market Participant Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
Debt Service Coverage
Times Interest Earned Ratio
Total Debt / Total Capitalization

Weight
15%
35%
20%
30%
100%

If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data to
calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to that ratio
or ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining ratios.
4.2.3.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one
(1) to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about
a Market Participant’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1)
indicates that the Market Participant has strong qualitative
measures, while a score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative
measures. The qualitative analysis will take into account a variety
of information, but at a minimum will include the assessment of
the following characteristics:
-Regulation/Rates
-Terms of wholesale power contracts
-Customer count served
-Power supply portfolio (e.g., contracts, assets, etc)
-Management
-Ability to access short-term capital
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
-SPP Payment Record

4.2.3.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
Not-For-Profit Qualitative Score = 2
Not-For-Profit Financial Measures:
Value
1.42
1.17
0.73
1.50

Current Ratio
Debt Service Coverage
Times Interest Earned Ratio
Total Debt / Total Capitalization

Not-For-Profit Quantitative Score =
(1 x 15%) + (3 x 35%) + (5 x 20%) + (6 x 30%) = 4.00
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Not-For-Profit Credit Score =
(4.00 x 50%) + (2.0 x 50%) = 3.00
4.3

Unsecured Credit Allowance. The Composite Credit Score is converted into an
“Unsecured Credit Allowance,” which is a percentage of Tangible Net Worth. (Tangible
Net Worth = Total Equity – Intangibles – Treasury Stock). The Composite Credit Score
is a numeric value on a scale of one (1) to six (6) with one (1) indicating stronger
creditworthiness and six (6) indicating weaker creditworthiness. The conversion into an
Unsecured Credit Allowance is based on the percentage values stated in Table 1.
Table 1
Composite
Score

Credit

1.00 - 1.99
2.00 - 2.99
3.00 - 3.29
3.30 - 3.59
3.60 - 3.99
4.00 - 4.49
4.50 - 4.69
4.70 - 4.99
5.00 - 6.00

% Tangible Net
Worth
Small
Company Model

%
Tangible
Net
Worth
Large
Company Model

%
Tangible
Net
Worth Not For Profit
Model

5.00%
3.00%
2.00%
1.50%
1.00%
0.50%
0.30%
0.10%
0%

5.00%
3.00%
2.00%
1.50%
1.00%
0.50%
0.30%
0.10%
0%

7.50%
4.50%
3.00%
2.25%
1.50%
1.00%
0.45%
0.15%
0%

To illustrate, a Large Company Market Participant with a Composite Credit Score of 4.36
and Tangible Net Worth of $501,468,000 would have a suggested Unsecured Credit
Allowance calculated as follows:
Unsecured Credit Allowance = Table 1 Percentage x Tangible Net Worth
= 0.5% x $501,468,000
= $2,507,300
4.3.1

Maximum and Minimum Unsecured Credit Allowances. Notwithstanding the
calculation under Section 4.3:
4.3.1.1

No Market Participant shall have an Unsecured Credit Allowance
in excess of $25 million; and

4.3.1.2

On the condition that a Not-For-Profit provides all required Credit
Information and executes all documents required under this Credit
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Policy, and subject to the Default provisions of this Credit Policy,
a Not-For-Profit Market Participant shall have a minimum
Unsecured Credit Allowance in the amount of $50 thousand.
4.3.2 Corporate Guaranty. In the event that the Market Participant has a Corporate
Guaranty, the Unsecured Credit Allowance will be based on the Credit
Assessments of the Market Participant and the Guarantor.
4.3.3 Unsecured Credit Allowance for Affiliates.
4.3.3.1

Determination of Creditworthiness of Combined Affiliates. If
two or more Market Participants are Affiliates, and each is granted
an Unsecured Credit Allowance and a corresponding Total Credit
Limit, SPP will consider the overall creditworthiness of the
Affiliated Market Participants when determining the Unsecured
Credit Allowances in order not to grant more unsecured credit than
the overall group of affiliated entities could support. SPP will
work with Affiliated Market Participants to allocate the total
Unsecured Credit Allowance among the Affiliates while assuring
that no individual Market Participant, nor common guarantor,
exceeds the Unsecured Credit Allowance appropriate for its credit
strength. A $25 million maximum Unsecured Credit Allowance
shall apply to all Affiliates as though the Affiliates are a single
Market Participant.
Example: Market Participants A and B each have a $10.0 million
Corporate Guaranty from their common parent, a holding company
with an Unsecured Credit Allowance calculation of $12.0 million.
SPP may limit the Unsecured Credit Allowance for each Market
Participant to $6.0 million, so the total Unsecured Credit
Allowance does not exceed the corporate total of $12.0 million.

4.3.3.2

4.3.4

Corporate Guaranty. If the Corporate Guaranty is applicable to
Affiliates (i.e., more than one Market Participant), then the
Unsecured Credit Allowance of the Guarantor shall be allocated
among such Affiliates and the applicable allocation shall be
utilized in determining each Affiliated Market Participant’s
Unsecured Credit Allowance.

Continuous Right to Modify. SPP has the right at any time to modify any
Unsecured Credit Allowance and/or require additional Financial Security as may
be reasonably necessary to support the Market Participant’s ability to pay for
Market Services and Transmission Services provided under the Tariff and other
Agreements. If the modification results in a reduction or revocation of Unsecured
Credit Allowance and the reduction or revocation results in the need to provide
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Financial Security, then the rights and duties of SPP and the Market Participant
shall be as set forth in Section 3.2.2.
4.4

Financial Security Requirement. If a Market Participant (i) is denied an Unsecured
Credit Allowance, or (ii) is granted an Unsecured Credit Allowance that is below its
Total Potential Exposure calculated pursuant to Article 5, then the Market Participant
may submit Financial Security to cover or exceed the difference in the amount of the
Unsecured Credit Allowance granted to the Market Participant and the amount of its
Total Potential Exposure. Any Market Participant may provide Financial Security in lieu
of or in addition to the Unsecured Credit Allowance it was granted.

4.5

Total Credit Limit. The “Total Credit Limit” is the amount of any Unsecured Credit
Allowance approved by SPP for the Market Participant, plus the amount of any Financial
Security the Market Participant has provided to SPP. SPP shall determine the Total
Credit Limit for each Market Participant.

ARTICLE FIVE
Calculation of Total Potential Exposure
5.1

Overview. The Total Potential Exposure is a calculated value applied to assure that the
Market Participant engages in activities within its Total Credit Limit. The Total Potential
Exposure is based on the Market Participant’s estimated cumulative financial obligation
under the Tariff or otherwise to SPP. Potential Exposure to non-payment is calculated
separately for each category of Market Services and Transmission Services and then
summed together to obtain the amount of Total Potential Exposure. This Article
addresses the calculation and use of the value for Total Potential Exposure.

5.2

Calculation of Total Potential Exposure for A Market Participant. A Market
Participant’s Total Potential Exposure shall be the sum of the potential exposure to nonpayment for Energy Imbalance Market transactions and Transmission Service
transactions billed pursuant to the Tariff.
5.2.1 Energy Imbalance Market Exposure (“EIME”). Potential exposure to nonpayment associated with the Energy Imbalance Market transactions that involve
physical delivery of Energy is calculated under the following formula:
EIME = IMSC + CMSC + MEME
IMSC = Invoiced Market Settlement Charges (all imbalance charges that have
been invoiced but not yet paid).
CMSC = Calculated Market Settlement Charges (all daily settlement activity that
has been calculated but not yet invoiced).
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MEME = Maximum Estimated Market Exposure (the charges incurred on the
Peak Market Activity Day in the last 365 days or a lesser period of time
service has been taken, multiplied by the number of days in the
Potential Exposure Window).
Following are examples of the calculation of Energy Imbalance Market Exposure.
Example of Energy Imbalance Market Exposure Calculation:
ASSUMPTIONS:
CURRENT DAY IS TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 23, 2004
CUSTOMER HAS PAID PREVIOUS WEEKLY INVOICE IN FULL(NOVEMBER 12)
HIGHEST POSITIVE DAILY SETTLEMENT FOR LAST 365 DAYS IS $1,000

Settlement
Weekday

Mon
Mon
Mon
Tue
Wed
Thu
Fri

Mon
Mon
Mon

Tue
Wed
Thu
Fri
Sat

Settlement
Date

Operating
Weekday

Operating
Date

Invoice
Date

11/13/04
11/14/04
11/15/04
11/16/04
11/17/04
11/18/04
11/19/04

INVOICED MARKET
SETTLEMENT
CHARGES (IMSC)
Mon
Tue
Wed
Thu
Fri
Sat
Sun

11/08/04
11/09/04
11/10/04
11/11/04
11/12/04
11/13/04
11/14/04

11/19/2004
11/19/2004
11/19/2004
11/19/2004
11/19/2004
11/19/2004
11/19/2004
TOTAL

$1,000
$850
$900
$750
-$500
$800
$900
$3,850

11/20/04
11/21/04
11/22/04

CALCULATED
MARKET
SETTLEMETN
CHARGES (CMSC)
Mon
Tue
Wed

11/15/04
11/16/04
11/17/04
TOTAL

$850
$900
$800
$2,550

11/23/04
11/24/04
11/25/04
11/26/04
11/27/04
Cure Period
Cure Period
Cure Period

MAXIMUM
ESTIMATED MARKET
EXPOSURE (MEME)
Thu
Fri
Sat
Sun
Mon
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11/18/04
11/19/04
11/20/04
11/21/04
11/22/04
11/23/04
11/24/04
11/25/04

Invoice
Amount

$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
$1,000
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11/26/04

Cure Period

TOTAL
TOTAL ENERGY MARKET IMBALANCE EXPOSURE (EIME)

5.2.2

$1,000
$9,000
$15,400

Transmission Service Potential Exposure (“TSPE”). Potential exposure to
non-payment associated with Transmission Service transactions is calculated
under the following formula:
TSPE = ITSC + CTSC + METE
ITSC =

Invoiced Transmission Service Charges (all transmission service
charges that have been invoiced but not yet been paid).

CTSC = Calculated Transmission Service Charges (transmission service
charges that have been calculated but not yet invoiced).
METE = Maximum Estimated Transmission Exposure
An estimate of the charges for the remainder of the Potential
Exposure Window. (the highest transmission service invoice
over the last 12 months, multiplied by 2.5).
Following are examples of Transmission Service Potential Exposure.
Example of Transmission Service Potential Exposure Calculation:
ASSUMPTIONS:
CURRENT DAY IS TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 23, 2004
CUSTOMER HAS PAID PREVIOUS MONTHLY INVOICE IN FULL (NOVEMBER 18)
HIGHEST MONTHLY SETTLEMENT FOR LAST 12 MONTHS IS $8,000
Operating
Date

Invoice
Amount

Invoiced Transmission Service Charges
(ITSC)
Already paid October Charges on November 18
TOTAL

$0
$0

CALCULATED TRANSMISSION
SERVICE CHARGES (CTSC)
11/1/2004
11/2/2004
11/3/2004
11/4/2004
11/5/2004
11/6/2004
11/7/2004
11/8/2004

$300
$350
$250
$300
$350
$250
$300
$350
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11/9/2004
11/10/2004
11/11/2004
11/12/2004
11/13/2004
11/14/2004
11/15/2004
11/16/2004
11/17/2004
11/18/2004
11/19/2004
11/20/2004
11/21/2004
TOTAL

$250
$300
$350
$250
$300
$350
$250
$300
$350
$250
$300
$350
$250
$6,300

TOTAL

$20,000

MAXIMUM ESTIMATED TRANSMISSION
EXPOSURE (METE)
$8000 x 2.5

TOTAL TRANSMISSION SERVICE POTENTIAL EXPOSURE
(TSPE)

$26,300

5.2.3 Calculation of Total Potential Exposure for a Market Participant. A Market
Participant’s Total Potential Exposure (“TPE”) shall be the sum of the potential
exposure to non-payment for Energy Imbalance Market transactions and
Transmission Service transactions billed pursuant to the Tariff and may be
calculated using the formula:
TPE = EIME + TSPE
Example of Total Potential Exposure Calculation:
Continuing with the previous examples in 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 the calculation would be
as follows:
EIME = $15,400
TSPE = $26,300
$15,400 + $26,300 = $41,700 (TPE)
5.3

Total Potential Exposure Violations.
5.3.1

Transaction Limits. At all times, the Market Participant shall maintain its Total
Potential Exposure to a value equal to or less than its Total Credit Limit. A
“Total Potential Exposure Violation” occurs when a Market Participant’s Total
Potential Exposure equals or exceeds its Total Credit Limit. SPP will regularly
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monitor each Market Participant’s use of services and associated financial
obligations. If a Market Participant’s Total Potential Exposure equals or exceeds
ninety percent (90%) of its Total Credit Limit, SPP shall promptly give notice to
the Market Participant. Failure by SPP to give this notice shall not relieve the
Market Participant of its duties under this Section.

5.4.

5.3.2

Cure of Total Potential Exposure Violation. A Market Participant shall cure a
Total Potential Exposure Violation by: (i) payment to SPP of invoiced amounts to
reduce the Market Participant’s Total Potential Exposure, and/or (ii) provision of
Financial Security in an amount sufficient to increase the Market Participant’s
Total Credit Limit, such that after making such payments of invoiced amounts
and/or providing such Financial Security, the Market Participant’s Total Potential
Exposure will not exceed its Total Credit Limit. The Market Participant shall
have two (2) Business Days from the date of violation to cure the violation. SPP,
in its sole discretion, may determine to treat any amount tendered under (i) as an
increase of Financial Security under (ii) and not as a payment to SPP.

5.3.3

Failure to Cure Total Potential Exposure Violation. A failure to cure a Total
Potential Exposure Violation as required under Section 5.4.2 is a Default. In the
event of such a Default, SPP has all rights under section 7 of the Tariff and all
other rights and remedies in accordance with applicable law. Without prejudice
to other remedies, a Market Participant that fails timely to cure a Total Potential
Exposure Violation shall be suspended from from requesting any future services,
including all Transmission Service and Market Services, unless and until the
Market Participant’s Total Potential Exposure Violation is cured.

Excess Financial Security. In the event a Market Participant has provided additional
Financial Security under Section 5.4.2 to address a Total Potential Exposure Violation,
and the Market Participant’s outstanding invoiced amounts subsequently return to levels
preceding that violation such that the total amount of Financial Security exceeds the
amount required under this Credit Policy, the Market Participant may request return of
the excess Financial Security and SPP shall comply with the request within two (2)
Business Days; provided, that if SPP determines to review the Credit Assessment for the
Market Participant due to the violation, it shall not be required to respond to the request,
including return of any excess Financial Security, until two (2) Business Days after
completing the new Credit Assessment.

ARTICLE SIX
Corporate Guaranty
6.1

Corporate Guaranty. A Corporate Guaranty approved by SPP transfers to the Market
Participant a portion of the Guarantor’s creditworthiness and thereby increases the
Market Participant’s Total Credit Limit. Unlike a bank guaranty or Irrevocable Letter of
Credit, a Corporate Guaranty is not Financial Security. A Corporate Guaranty that is
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backed by Financial Security will have the same impact upon the Total Credit Limit as
Financial Security. A Corporate Guaranty that is not backed by Financial Security is
unsecured and will be considered unsecured credit in the determination of the Unsecured
Credit Allowance.
6.2

Approval Process. SPP will determine whether to approve a Corporate Guaranty based
upon the creditworthiness of the proposed Guarantor as though it were a Market
Participant under this Credit Policy. All Credit Information required under this Credit
Policy with respect to a Market Participant must be submitted initially for the proposed
Guarantor and regularly thereafter. SPP will evaluate the Credit Information and
determine any Unsecured Credit Allowance and the Total Credit Limit for the Market
Participant beneficiary of the proposed Corporate Guaranty. SPP shall have the right to
revise the Unsecured Credit Allowance and Total Credit Limit from time to time based
upon continued assessment of the Credit Information of the Guarantor.

6.3

Requirements for Corporate Guaranty. A Market Participant can utilize a Corporate
Guaranty if all of the following conditions are satisfied:
6.3.1

Guarantor’s Satisfaction of Financial Standards under this Credit Policy. A
Guarantor is subject to the same financial review procedures as a Market
Participant. A Guarantor will be eligible to provide a Corporate Guaranty to the
extent, if any, of the Guarantor’s creditworthiness under this Credit Policy.

6.3.2

The Form and Substance of the Corporate Guaranty Acceptable to SPP.
Attachment “D” of this Credit Policy is a form of Corporate Guaranty. The
Corporate Guaranty must:
6.3.2.1

Be duly authorized by the Guarantor and signed by an officer of
the Guarantor

6.3.2.2

State an effective period, or provide for automatic renewal or other
basis for periodicity subject to cancellation on no less than sixty
(60) days notice and provided that in all events the Corporate
Guaranty is effective for all obligations of the Market Participant
undertaken prior to cancellation.

6.3.2.3

Include certification of the corporate secretary that the execution,
delivery, and performance of the Corporate Guaranty have been
duly authorized;

6.3.2.4

Obligate the Guarantor to submit Credit Information on an ongoing
basis as required under this Credit Policy;

6.3.2.5

Incorporate default provisions, including default provisions
referred to in Section 6.3.4;
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6.3.3

6.3.2.6

Secure, in combination with other forms of financial security, all
obligations of the Market Participant under or in connection with
this Tariff and/or other Agreements; and

6.3.2.7

Be supported by adequate consideration and be otherwise binding
as a matter of law.

Legal Opinion. The Guarantor shall provide a legal opinion in form satisfactory
to SPP that the Corporate Guaranty is duly authorized, not in violation of other
undertakings or requirements applicable to the Guarantor, and enforceable against
the Guarantor in accordance with its terms. The opinion shall include as an
attachment thereto the resolution(s) of the board of directors or other governing
body of the Guarantor authorizing the Corporate Guaranty.

6.3.4 Default. Any breach of the Corporate Guaranty by the Guarantor or the
requirements of the Guarantor under this Credit Policy shall be deemed a Default
of this Credit Policy and a default under the Tariff by the Guarantor and the
Affiliates whose obligations are supported by the Corporate Guaranty. The
following also shall be a Default of this Credit Policy and a default under the
Tariff: (i) the Corporate Guaranty expires or terminates (other than in accordance
with its terms or upon the written consent of SPP); (ii) the Guarantor disaffirms,
disclaims, repudiates, rejects or challenges the validity of all or any part of the
Corporate Guaranty; or (iii) the Corporate Guaranty or any material provision of
the Corporate Guaranty ceases to be in full force and effect (other than in
accordance with its terms or upon the written consent of SPP).
6.4

Corporate Guaranty for Affiliates. A single Corporate Guaranty may support the Total
Credit Limits of Affiliates. With respect to such a Corporate Guaranty, the sum value of
the Unsecured Credit Allowance of all such Affiliates and the Guarantor shall not exceed
the lesser of:
(i) the approved Unsecured Credit Allowance for the Guarantor based on
SPP’s financial review of Guarantor; or
(ii) $25 million.
If a Corporate Guaranty is utilized to establish an Unsecured Credit Allowance for a
Market Participant, the value of the Corporate Guaranty shall be no greater than the lesser
of:
(i) The credit limit imposed in the Corporate Guaranty; or
(ii) The portion of the Unsecured Credit Allowance calculated for the
Guarantor that is allocated to such Market Participant in SPP’s sole
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discretion; provided that the Unsecured Credit Allowance calculated for
the Guarantor may not exceed $25 million; or
(iii)$25 million.
6.5

Costs. The Market Participant shall bear all costs of obtaining and maintaining the
Corporate Guaranty.

6.6

Withdrawal. A Market Participant or the Guarantor may request the withdrawal of the
Corporate Guaranty by written request to SPP. A Corporate Guaranty may be withdrawn
and/or terminated only upon SPP’s written approval. SPP will not approve withdrawal or
termination of a Corporate Guaranty unless and until:
(i) alternate Financial Security acceptable to the Transmission Provider has been
provided; or
(ii) all financial obligations of a Market Participant under the Agreements have
been irrevocably satisfied in full, all Service Agreements have been
terminated, and the Market Participant is no longer a Market Participant.

ARTICLE SEVEN
Financial Security
7.1

Acceptable Forms of Financial Security. Financial Security may be a Cash Deposit or
Irrevocable Letter of Credit. These forms of Financial Security may be submitted
separately or in combination to equal the full amount of any required or provided
Financial Security. In addition, SPP requires the execution of a Credit and Security
Agreement (with respect to Cash Deposit and/or Irrevocable Letter of Credit).
7.1.2

Cash Deposits. A Cash Deposit will be Financial Security in accordance with
this Section.
7.1.2.1

Deposit and Related Agreements. The initial Cash Deposit must
be accompanied by execution and delivery of a Credit and Security
Agreement in the form attached to this Credit Policy as Attachment
“B.” Under the Credit and Security Agreement, the Market
Participant shall grant to SPP a first priority security interest in and
to any and all Cash Deposits, cash collateral, and deposit accounts
held or controlled by SPP then existing or thereafter opened, and
any and all proceeds of such collateral, including, without
limitation, the cash and interest deposited therein. This security
interest secures the prompt payment when due of any and all
obligations of the Market Participant under or in connection with
the Tariff, and/or any and all other Agreements. SPP may amend
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the Credit and Security Agreement from time to time, either for
general applicability or on an individual basis. The Market
Participant will accept such amendment and, upon request, execute
an amendatory document.

7.1.3

7.1.2.2

Segregated Account. The Cash Deposit will be placed in a
segregated, interest bearing account in SPP’s name and held within
the sole control of SPP solely to secure the payment of the Market
Participant’s obligations to SPP and subject to the terms and
conditions of the Credit and Security Agreement. All interest
earned will accrue to the benefit of the Market Participant, will be
added to the segregated account, and will be deemed additional
Cash Deposit; provided, that all such accrued and unpaid interest
that has not been applied to satisfy the Market Participant’s
obligations will be released and paid to the Market Participant
quarterly, and further provided, that SPP shall not be obligated to
pay any interest to the Market Participant or release any amount
from the segregated account during any uncured Default. Interest
will be calculated per section 7.2a of the Tariff.

7.1.2.3

Use of Cash Deposit. In the event a Market Participant fails to
make a payment timely to SPP, SPP will apply the Cash Deposit as
necessary to satisfy the deficit. In such event, within three (3)
Business Days, the Market Participant must replenish the Cash
Deposit in an amount equal to SPP’s draw or in such other amount
as SPP may require under this Credit Policy and failure to
replenish shall be a Default under this Credit Policy. SPP’s
application of the Cash Deposit hereunder shall not cure the
Default due to the Market Participant’s failure to make timely
payment until and unless the Cash Deposit is timely replenished or
other Financial Security is provided under Section 7.1.2.4.

7.1.2.4

Replacement of Cash Deposit. A Market Participant may replace
any part of a Cash Deposit with other Financial Security acceptable
to SPP under this Credit Policy.

Irrevocable Letter of Credit. An Irrevocable Letter of Credit will be Financial
Security in accordance with this Section.
7.1.3.1

Form, Requirements, and Related Agreement. Attachment “C”
of this Credit Policy is an acceptable form of an Irrevocable Letter
of Credit. SPP may amend the form of Irrevocable Letter of Credit
from time to time, either for general applicability or on a case-bycase basis, and the Market Participant will accept such amendment
and, upon request, execute an amendatory document. SPP may
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accept an Irrevocable Letter of Credit, in its sole discretion, in
revised form. The Market Participant must execute the Credit and
Security Agreement with respect to the Irrevocable Letter of
Credit. Under the Credit and Security Agreement, the Market
Participant grants SPP a first priority security interest in and to any
and all proceeds of any and all Irrevocable Letters of Credit then
existing or thereafter issued with SPP as Beneficiary and the
Market Participant as Account Party under the Irrevocable Letter
of Credit, including, without limitation, the cash issued upon a
draw thereon. This security interest secures the prompt payment
when due of any and all obligations of the Market Participant to
SPP, provided that the grant of a security interest shall not
diminish SPP’s rights to apply draws on the Irrevocable Letter of
Credit to pay any and all amounts due. SPP may amend the Credit
and Security Agreement from time to time, either for general
applicability or on an individual basis. The Market Participant will
accept such amendment and, upon request, execute an amendatory
document.
7.1.3.2

Ratings of Issuing Financial Institution. At the time of issuance
and at all times the Irrevocable Letter of Credit is outstanding, the
issuer must be a financial institution organized under the laws of
the United States or any state of the United States or the District of
Columbia or a branch or agency of a foreign commercial bank
located in the United States, subject to regulation by state or
federal banking regulatory authorities, with a minimum corporate
debt rating of an “A-” by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s, “A-” by Fitch or
an equivalent short-term debt rating by any of these agencies. SPP
may accept an Irrevocable Letter of Credit from a financial
institution that does not meet the debt rating requirements ,
provided that the Irrevocable Letter of Credit has a confirmation of
third-party support (as governed by the Uniform Customs and
Practice for Documentary Credits – International Chamber of
Commerce Publication No. 500, Effective January 1, 1994
“UCP500” as stated in Article 9 Section B), in a form acceptable to
SPP, from a financial institution that does meet or exceed the debt
rating requirements stated in this Section. If after the Irrevocable
Letter of Credit has been issued, the rating for the corporate debt of
the financial institution is less than “A-” by S&P, “A3” by
Moody’s or “A-” by Fitch, SPP may give the Market Participant
notice to submit substitute Financial Security no later than three (3)
Business Days after the notice.

7.1.3.3

Costs. The applicable Market Participant shall bear all costs of
providing and maintaining the Irrevocable Letter of Credit.
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7.2

7.1.3.4

Substitution of Irrevocable Letter of Credit. The Market
Participant may replace an Irrevocable Letter of Credit with a
substitute Irrevocable Letter of Credit in form and amount
acceptable to SPP. SPP will return the initial Irrevocable Letter of
Credit upon receipt of an effective and acceptable substitute.

7.1.3.5

Term and Renewal. The Irrevocable Letter of Credit must
automatically renew unless the issuing financial institution
provides a notice to SPP at least ninety (90) days prior to its
expiration date stating its decision not to renew the Irrevocable
Letter of Credit. If the Irrevocable Letter of Credit is not renewed,
at least ninety (90) days prior to its stated expiration date (a “NonRenewal Event”), the Market Participant must submit substitute
Financial Security acceptable to SPP, in SPP’s sole discretion, no
later than eighty-seven (87) days prior to the stated expiration date.

7.1.3.6

Use of Irrevocable Letter of Credit. In the event a Market
Participant fails to make any timely payment to SPP, SPP may
draw upon the Irrevocable Letter of Credit as necessary to satisfy
any and all amounts due from the Market Participant pursuant to
the Agreements. In such event, within three (3) Business Days, the
Market Participant must replenish the Irrevocable Letter of Credit
or provide SPP with other Financial Security in an amount equal to
the draw or in such other amount as SPP may require under this
Credit Policy, and failure to satisfy this requirement shall be a
Default under this Credit Policy. In the event of such failure to
make timely payment, and in addition to any other remedies
available to SPP, SPP may draw down the entire Irrevocable Letter
of Credit and hold the proceeds in an unsegregated account and
apply such proceeds to amounts owed by the Market Participant to
SPP pursuant to the Agreements. The foregoing sentence
notwithstanding, upon the Market Participant’s written notice of
request, SPP will treat as a Cash Deposit the proceeds of a draw
over and above amounts currently due and unpaid and transfer
same to a segregated account in accordance with such treatment,
provided that the Market Participant has executed a Credit and
Security Agreement.

Financial Security Defaults. In addition to the breaches with respect to Financial
Security identified in Section 7.1.2.3 (failure to replenish Cash Deposit) and 7.1.3.6
(failure to replenish Irrevocable Letter of Credit), any failure by an issuer of an
Irrevocable Letter of Credit, or any breach of a Credit and Security Agreement shall be a
Default under this Credit Policy and a default under the Tariff. A Default under this
Credit Policy and a default under the Tariff shall also occur if: (i) the Financial Security
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expires or terminates (other than in accordance with its terms or upon the written consent
of SPP); (ii) the person issuing the Financial Security disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or
rejects or challenges the validity of all or any part of the Financial Security; or (iii) the
Financial Security or any material provision of the Financial Security ceases to be in full
force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms or upon the written consent of
SPP).

ARTICLE EIGHT
Default and Remedies
8.1

Default. Any of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” by a Market
Participant:
8.1.1

Failure to post any required Financial Security required under this Credit
Policy in the time period specified;

8.1.2

Incurring liabilities to SPP in excess of the applicable Total Credit Limit
or committing a Total Potential Exposure Violation;

8.1.3

Failure to pay in full any amount payable under the Tariff;

8.1.4

A Market Participant involved in financial difficulties as evidenced by: (i)
its commencement of a voluntary case under Title 11 of the United States
Code as from time to time in effect, or by its authorizing, by appropriate
proceedings of its board of directors, general partners or other governing
body, the commencement of such a voluntary case; (ii) its filing an answer
or other pleading admitting or failing to deny the material allegations of a
petition filed against it commencing an involuntary case under said Title
11, or seeking, consenting to or acquiescing in the relief therein provided,
or by its failing to controvert timely the material allegations of any such
petition; (iii) the entry of an order for relief in any involuntary case
commenced under said Title 11; (iv) its seeking relief as a debtor under
any applicable law, other than said Title 11, of any jurisdiction relating to
the liquidation or reorganization of debtors or to modification or alteration
of the rights of creditors, or by its consenting to or acquiescing in such
relief; (v) the entry of an order by a court of competent jurisdiction (a)
finding it to be bankrupt or insolvent, (b) ordering or approving its
liquidation, reorganization or any modification or alteration of the rights
of its creditors, or (c) assuming custody of, or appointing a receiver or
other custodian for all or a substantial part of its property, and such entry
or order shall not be vacated or stayed within ninety (90) days; (vi) the
filing of a petition under Title 11 which shall not be vacated within ninety
(90) days; or (vii) its making an assignment for the benefit of, or entering
into a composition with, its creditors, or appointing or consenting to the
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appointment of a receiver or other custodian for all or a substantial part of
its property.
8.1.5

Commission of any other Default specified under this Credit Policy,
including Defaults specified in Sections 3.2.2, 5.4.3, 6.3.4, 7.1.2.3.,
7.1.3.6, and 7.2.

8.1.6

Except with respect to an event described in Sections 8.1.1 through 8.1.6,
the failure to provide any of the Credit Information required under this
Credit Policy in the time periods specified, and the failure to observe or
perform any of the material terms or conditions or provisions set forth in
this Agreement, and such failure is not cured within three (3) Business
Days after notice thereof from SPP. If such failure cannot reasonably be
cured within such period, and if the Market Participant has commenced
and is diligently pursuing such cure and provides SPP with adequate
assurance of due performance to protect SPP against loss arising from the
failure to perform, there shall not be a Default until expiration of such
further period not to exceed five (5) Business Days after the written notice
of Default, as shall be necessary for the Market Participant to cure the
failure with all due diligence.

8.2

Notice of Financial Difficulties. Immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default as set forth in Section 8.1.4, the Market Participant shall provide notice to SPP
and a copy of any pleadings, orders, petitions, agreements or other document initiating or
filed in connection with such Event of Default.

8.3

Remedies for Default. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, SPP will suspend
any Unsecured Credit Allowance for ninety (90) days. SPP may, except to the extent
such remedy is limited in this Credit Policy, exercise any rights or remedies it may have
at law or in equity, including but not limited to bringing suit or otherwise initiating
proceedings for monetary damages, injunctive relief, specific performance, and relief
available under the Federal Power Act. If the Event of Default has not been cured by the
Market Participant within three (3) Business Days after the Market Participant’s receipt
of notice thereof, or, in the case of failure to pay in full amounts payable under Section 7
of the Tariff, within ten (10) Business Days after the Transmission Customer’s receipt of
notice thereof, except as precluded under applicable law, SPP may terminate all of the
Market Participant’s rights under this Credit Policy except as to any liability of the
Market Participant incurred before and existing as of such termination. In addition, and
without prejudice to any other remedies, SPP reserves all rights to terminate service in
accordance with the Tariff and applicable law.
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ARTICLE NINE
Notice
9.1

Designation of Credit Contact. Each Market Participant shall in writing designate a
management level official as the person responsible for the Market Participant’s creditrelated matters under this Credit Policy (“Credit Contact”), which designation may be
changed from time to time in writing, together with contact information including fax, email, and courier delivery address. SPP will seek to effect delivery of notices under the
Credit Policy to the Credit Contact in the first instance; however, if delivery to the Credit
Contact fails, then SPP may effect delivery to any officer, executive, or manager of the
Market Participant.

9.2

Notices to SPP. Any notice or request made by SPP shall be given in writing, by fax,
email, hand delivery, reputable overnight courier, or first-class mail, to the Market
Participant’s Credit Contact. Notice to SPP shall be addressed to:
Southwest Power Pool
Financial Coordinator
415 N. McKinley, Suite 140
Little Rock, AR 72205
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Attachment “A”
Credit Application Form
CREDIT APPLICATION
GENERAL CREDIT INFORMATION FORM
Customer Information

Customer Name: _______________________________________
Street Address: _____________________________________________
City: ____________________________________________

State: ____________

Contact Person: __________________________ Phone: _____________
NERC Acronym:_________________ SIC Code:

Zip Code: ___________

E-mail: ____________________

Dun & Bradstreet no.:______________

Attach Financial Statements as described in Section 3.1.1.1 of the SPP Credit Policy or give web address where
they may be obtained:

Market Participants anticipated peak monthly transmission activity:

Market Participants anticipated peak weekly market activity:

$

$

Bank Reference
Bank Name: _______________________________________ Account No(s): _________________________
Street Address: ____________________________________________________________________________
City: ____________________________________________

State: ____________

Contact Person: ____________________________ Phone: _____________

Zip Code: __________

E-mail: __________________

Significant Commercial References
1. Company Name: ________________________________________________________________________
Contact: ____________________________ Phone: _____________
Contract Date: __________________________

E-mail: _______________________

Contract Amount: ____________________________

2 Company Name: ________________________________________________________________________
Contact: ____________________________ Phone: _____________
Contract Date: __________________________

E-mail: _______________________

Contract Amount: ____________________________

36

Attachment X
Southwest Power Pool Credit Policy
Draft 04/18/05 - Final
3. Company Name: ________________________________________________________________________
Contact: ____________________________ Phone: _____________
Contract Date: __________________________

E-mail: _______________________

Contract Amount: ____________________________

Identify or describe any loss contingencies that require disclosure under Section 3.1.1.3 of the SPP Credit Policy.
Attach documents as necessary:

Identify all Affiliates that are Market Participants. Give NERC Acronym, SIC Code, and Dun and Bradstreet number for
each:

Credit Support
Intended form(s) of credit support if know at this time:
a)

Cash (See Section 7.1.2 and Attachment B)

b)

Irrevocable Letter of Credit (See Section 7.1.3 and Attachments B and C)

c)

Corporate Guaranty (See Section 3.1.3, Article Six, and Attachment D)

Not-For-Profit Companies, as defined in Section 4.2.3, should also answer the Additional Not-For-Profit Questions
to help SPP have a better understanding of your organization. If your organization will not be considered a NotFor-Profit company it is not necessary that you answer the additional questions.

Authorized Signature: ____________________________________________
Print Name: _____________________________________________
Title: _____________________________________________
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Additional Not-For-Profit Questions

Additional sheets may be added to fully answer the following questions.

1.

Does your company have the ability to set it’s own rates? If yes, please attach any documentation
that will show that ability.

2.

What are the terms and expiration dates of your company’s wholesale power contracts?

3.

How many customers do you serve directly? When considering your five largest customers that you
directly serve, what percentage of your load do they represent?

4.

Please describe your power supply portfolio and how it is used to meet your load. What percent of
your load is secured by asset ownership or purchase power contracts? Are these assets or
contracts long-term in nature? What are the expiration dates of your contracts? What is the fuel
mix of your power supply portfolio? Do you engage in risk management activities? If so, please
provide a brief summary of such activities.

5.

How long has the present management team been in place? Please discuss their experience with
the present firm and any previous experience.

6.

Discuss your ability to access lines of credit from financial institutions.

7.

Please discuss any other factors you want to have considered by SPP when assessing
creditworthiness. If there are items concerning your financials that need explanation, please provide
the explanation here. If your company receives capital credits, please provide the associated cash portion
of such capital credits, as well as the information needed to compute such an amount from your most recent
audited financials.
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Attachment “B”
Credit and Security Agreement
This Credit and Security Agreement is effective as of the _____ day of ________________,
20__, by and between _______________________ (“Company”) and Southwest Power Pool,
Inc. (“SPP”).
Recitals
WHEREAS, SPP offers certain services, including certain transmission services, market services
and other services as set out in the _________________ Tariff of SPP, as may be amended and
supplemented from time to time and together with all replacements and substitutes thereto
(collectively, the “Tariff”);
WHEREAS, SPP maintains a Credit Policy (which is Attachment [ ] to the Tariff, as the same
may be amended from time to time) in order to determine, on a case by case basis, the level of
unsecured credit available to each person who takes services under the Tariff and the form and
amount of financial assurance to be required by each person, if any;
WHEREAS, in the event Company provides financial assurance to SPP in the form of cash
collateral or a letter of credit, SPP requires Company, in accordance with the terms of its Credit
Policy as filed and accepted by FERC, to execute this Credit and Security Agreement in order to
assure the strength of SPP’s security interest in such cash collateral or letter of credit;
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
is hereby acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, Company and SPP hereby agree as
follows:
(1)
The “Liabilities” as used in this Credit and Security Agreement means all of the financial
obligations of the Company under the Tariff and/or any and all agreements entered into, under,
pursuant to, or in connection with the Tariff (including, without limitation, the SPP Credit
Policy) and any and all other agreements to which SPP and the Company are parties
(collectively, the “Agreements”).
(2)
As security for the payment and performance of the Liabilities, SPP shall have, and the
Company hereby grants to SPP, a continuing security interest in the following collateral (as
indicated below) (the “Collateral”): all of the Company’s right, title, and interest in any and all
cash, cash collateral, cash deposits and deposit accounts of the Company held or controlled by
SPP, including accounts designated “for the benefit of” Company, that either (i) are or contain
proceeds from any draw upon any Letters of Credit naming SPP as beneficiary to the extent that
SPP determines in its sole discretion to treat such payments as cash collateral, and without
prejudice to SPP’s right to treat draws as payments to SPP of any and all amounts due to SPP
from the Company , or (ii) are or contain cash submitted by the Company as collateral or
security, however created or evidenced, whether now existing or hereafter owned, acquired,
created, used or arising, including all products and proceeds of the foregoing, any and all
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renewals, extensions, replacements, modifications, additions, and substitutions of the foregoing
and all rights, remedies, claims and demands under or in connection with each of the foregoing.
(3)
All Collateral held or controlled by SPP after the date of this Credit and Security
Agreement shall be free of any lien, security interest or encumbrance, except for liens, security
interests or encumbrances in favor of SPP, and the Company agrees not to grant any security
interest or permit any lien or encumbrance to arise in any of the Collateral except for security
interests, liens and encumbrances in favor of SPP without the prior written consent of SPP.
(4)
The Company agrees to do such reasonable acts and things and deliver or cause to be
delivered such other documents as SPP may reasonably deem necessary to establish and
maintain a valid perfected security interest in the Collateral (free of all other liens and claims
except those of SPP) to secure the payment and performance of the Liabilities and to defend title
to the Collateral against any person claiming any interest therein adverse to SPP. The Company
authorizes SPP to file a financing statement or statements on its behalf in those public offices
deemed advisable or necessary by SPP to protect the security interest of the Company herein
granted. If permitted by law, the Company agrees that a carbon, photographic or other
reproduction of this Credit and Security Agreement or of a financing statement may be filed as a
financing statement.
(5)
Subject to the Tariff, upon the occurrence of any Default and at any time thereafter, SPP
shall have all rights and remedies available at law or in equity including, without limitation, the
rights and remedies of a secured party under the Arkansas Uniform Commercial Code, as in
effect from time to time, including, without limitation, the right to retain and/or take possession
of the Collateral. SPP may in its discretion transfer any property constituting Collateral into its
own name or that of its nominee and receive the income thereon and hold the same as security
for the Liabilities or apply it on amounts due on Liabilities.
(6)
Until such time as SPP exercises its remedies upon a Default, all income, earnings and
profits with respect to the Collateral shall be reported for state and federal income tax purposes
as attributable to the Company and not SPP. Company hereby instructs SPP (and any other
person authorized to report taxable income distributions) to issue, or cause to be issued, IRS
Form 1099 indicating the Company as the recipient of such income, earnings and profits.
(7)
Whenever possible each provision of this Credit and Security Agreement shall be
interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Credit and Security Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under
applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition without
invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Credit and
Security Agreement. The Company recognizes that SPP has relied on this Credit and Security
Agreement in extending credit to the Company and agrees that such reliance by SPP shall be
sufficient consideration for this Credit and Security Agreement.
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(8)
The Company maintains any and all rights under Section 206 of the Federal Power Act it
may have with regard to this Credit and Security Agreement or its implementation.
This Credit and Security Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and
governed by, the laws of the State of Arkansas (without giving effect to the principles of
conflicts of laws thereof).
_____________________________________
Company Name
_____________________________________
Authorized Signature
_____________________________________
Print Name
_____________________________________
Title
SOUTHWEST POWER POOL, INC.
By:
_____________________________________
Authorized Signature
_____________________________________
Print Name
_____________________________________
Title
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Attachment “C”
Form of Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. ________
Issued: [Date]
Expires at our counter (unless evergreen): [Date]
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We do hereby issue this Irrevocable Non-Transferable Standby Letter of Credit No. __________
by order of, for the account of and on behalf of _____________________
(“Account Party”) and in favor of Southwest Power Pool (“Beneficiary” or “SPP”) (“Letter of
Credit”).
This Letter of Credit is irrevocable and is issued, presentable and payable and we guaranty to the
drawers, endorsers and bona fide holders of this Letter of Credit that drafts under and in
compliance with the terms of this Letter of Credit will be honored on presentation and surrender
of certain documents pursuant to the terms of this Letter of Credit.
This Letter of Credit is available in one or more drafts and may be drawn hereunder for the
account of __________________ up to an aggregate amount not exceeding $ _______________
.00 (United States Dollars __________ and 00/100).
This Letter of Credit is drawn against by presentation to us at our office located at the following
address:
_____________________________
_____________________________
of a drawing certificate: (i) Signed by an officer or authorized agent of the Beneficiary; (ii) dated
the date of presentation; and (iii) containing one (1) of the following statements:
1. “The undersigned hereby certifies to _________________________ (“Issuer”), with
reference to its Irrevocable Non-Transferable Standby Letter of Credit No.
__________________, dated _______________, issued on behalf of
______________________ (“Account Party”) and in favor of Southwest Power Pool,
Inc. (“Beneficiary”) that said Account Party has failed to make a payment in
accordance with the terms and provisions of one or more of the following, as
applicable: SPP’s Tariff, as may be amended and supplemented from time to time,
together with all replacements and substitutes (the “Tariff”), any and all agreements
entered into by Account Party under, pursuant to, or in connection with the Tariff and
any and all agreements to which Account Party and SPP are parties, as such
agreements may be amended and supplemented from time to time, whether now or
hereafter executed, and any replacements or substitutions thereof, (collectively, the
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“Agreements”). The Beneficiary hereby draws upon the Letter of Credit in an amount
equal to $ _______________ (United States Dollars ______________ and 00/100)”;
or
2. “As of the close of business on _________________, 20__ (fill in date which is less
than eighty-seven (87) days before the expiration date of the Letter of Credit),
Account Party has failed to renew, replace or amend the Letter of Credit in a manner
acceptable to Beneficiary”; or
3. “As of the close of business on _________________, 20__ (fill in date which is more
than three (3) Business Days after the Beneficiary has requested that Account Party
replace the Letter of Credit because the Issuer’s corporate debt is rated less than “A-”
by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s, “A-” by Duff & Phelps, or “A-” by Fitch), Account Party
has failed to replace the Letter of Credit in a manner acceptable to Beneficiary.”
Beneficiary shall have the right, in the event of a draw pursuant to subparagraph (2) or (3) of the
immediately preceding paragraph, to draw down the entire face value of the Letter of Credit.
If presentation of any drawing certificate is made on a business day and such presentations made
on or before 10:00 a.m.________ Time, (“Issuer”) shall satisfy such drawing request on the same
business day. If the drawing certificate is received after 10:00 a.m.________ Time, (“Issuer”)
will satisfy such drawing request on the next business day.
It is a condition of this Letter of Credit that it will be automatically extended without amendment
for one year from the expiration date hereof, or any future expiration date, unless 90 days prior to
any expiration date we notify you by registered mail that we elect not to consider this Letter of
Credit renewed for any such period.
This Letter of Credit may be terminated upon Beneficiary’s receipt of full payment from the
Account Party and Issuer’s receipt of a written release from the Beneficiary releasing the Issuer
from its obligations under this Letter of Credit.
Disbursements under the Letter of Credit shall be in accordance with the following terms and
conditions:
1. The amount, which may be drawn by the Beneficiary under this Letter of Credit, shall be
automatically reduced by the amount of any drawings hereunder.
2. All commissions and charges will be borne by the Account Party.
3. This Letter of Credit may not be transferred or assigned by the Issuer.
4. This Letter of Credit is irrevocable.
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5. This Letter of Credit may not be amended, changed or modified without the express written
consent of the Beneficiary and the Issuer.
6. No Beneficiary shall be deemed to have waived any rights under this Letter of Credit, unless a
Beneficiary or an authorized agent of a Beneficiary shall have signed a written waiver. No such
waiver, unless expressly so stated therein, shall be effective as to any transaction that occurs
subsequent to the date of the waiver, nor as to any continuance of a breach after the waiver.
7. This Letter of Credit shall be governed by the International Standby Practices Publication No.
590 of the International Chamber of Commerce, including any amendments, modifications or
revisions thereof (the “ISP”), except to the extent that terms hereof are inconsistent with the
provisions of the ISP, in which case the terms of the Letter of Credit shall govern. This Letter of
Credit shall be governed by the internal laws of the state of Arkansas to the extent that the terms
of the ISP are not applicable; provided that, in the event of any conflict between the ISP and such
Arkansas laws, the ISP shall control.

_________________________________
[Authorized Signature]

___________________
[Date]

Name: _____________________________

Title:_____________________________
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Attachment “D”
Corporate Guaranty Forms
GUARANTY AGREEMENT
This Guaranty Agreement (the “Guaranty”) is made by ____________________ (“Guarantor”),
a _____________ corporation, in favor of Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (“Creditor”), an Arkansas
[non-stock] corporation.
WHEREAS, one or more direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Guarantor (each referred to
individually as “Debtor” and collectively as “Debtors”) and the Creditor are parties to
[DESCRIBE AGREEMENT(S)] (collectively “Agreements”);
WHEREAS, Guarantor is the direct or indirect parent of the Debtor, will receive
substantial and direct benefits from the extensions of credit contemplated by the Agreements and
has agreed to enter into this Guaranty to provide assurance for the performance of Debtor’s
obligations in connection with the Agreements and to induce the Creditor to enter into the
Agreements; and
WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Guaranty is a condition to Creditor’s
further performance of its obligations under the terms of the Agreements;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and other good and valuable
consideration, the adequacy, receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
Guarantor hereby agrees as follows:
1.

Guaranty. Guarantor hereby unconditionally and absolutely guarantees the punctual
payment as and when due of Debtor’s payment obligations arising under any Agreement,
as such Agreement may be amended or modified from time to time, together with any
interest thereon (collectively, the “Guaranteed Obligations”). Guarantor’s obligations and
liability under this Guaranty shall be limited to payment obligations only and Guarantor
shall have no obligation otherwise to perform under any Agreement, including, without
limitation, to sell, deliver, purchase, receive, or transmit any electrical energy product or
service.

2.

Guaranty Absolute. The liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty shall be absolute
and unconditional irrespective of:
(a)

any lack of validity or enforceability of or defect or deficiency in any Agreement
or any other documents executed in connection with any Agreement;

(b)

any modification, extension or waiver of any of the terms of any Agreement;
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(c)

any change in the time, manner, terms or place of payment of or in any other term
of, all or any of the Guaranteed Obligations, or any other amendment or waiver of
or any consent to departure from any Agreement or any other agreement or
instrument executed in connection therewith;

(d)

any sale, exchange, release or non-perfection of any property standing as security
for the liabilities hereby guaranteed, or any liabilities incurred directly or
indirectly hereunder or any setoff against any of said liabilities, or any release or
amendment or waiver of or consent to departure from this Guaranty or any other
guaranty, for all or any of the Guaranteed Obligations;

(e)

except as to applicable statutes of limitation, failure, omission, delay, waiver or
refusal by Creditor to exercise, in whole or in part, any right or remedy held by
Creditor with respect to any Agreement or any transaction under any Agreement;

(f)

any change in the existence, structure or ownership of Guarantor or any Debtor,
or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding
affecting any Debtor or its assets; or

(g)

any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a
discharge of, any Debtor or any other individual, partnership, joint venture,
corporation, association, trust or other enterprise that is a party to any Agreement,
or any other agreement or instrument (including any guarantor) in respect of the
Guaranteed Obligations, other than payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations.
The obligations of the Guarantor hereunder are several from any Debtor or any
other person, and are primary obligations concerning which the Guarantor is the
principal obligor. There are no conditions precedent to the enforcement of this
Guaranty, except as expressly contained herein. It shall not be necessary for
Creditor, in order to enforce payment by Guarantor under this Guaranty, to show
any proof of any Debtor's default, to exhaust its remedies against any Debtor, any
other guarantor, or any other person liable for the payment or performance of the
Guaranteed Obligations. Creditor shall not be required to mitigate damages or
take any other action to reduce, collect, or enforce the Guaranteed Obligations.
This Guaranty shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be,
if at any time any payment of any of the Guaranteed Obligations are annulled, set
aside, invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, rescinded or must
otherwise be returned, refunded or repaid by Creditor upon the insolvency,
bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of Debtor or any other
guarantor, or upon or as a result of the appointment of a receiver, intervenor or
conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for, Debtor or any other guarantor or
any substantial part of its property or otherwise, all as though such payment or
payments had not been made.
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3.

Waiver. This is a guaranty of payment and not of collection. Guarantor hereby waives:
(a)

notice of acceptance of this Guaranty, of the creation or existence of any of the
Guaranteed Obligations and of any action by Creditor in reliance hereon or in
connection herewith;

(b)

notice of the entry into any Agreement between any Debtor and the Creditor and
of any amendments, supplements or modifications thereto; or any waiver of
consent under any Agreement, including waivers of the payment and performance
of the obligations thereunder;

(c)

notice of any increase, reduction or rearrangement of any Debtor’s obligations
under any Agreement or any extension of time for the payment of any sums due
and payable to the Creditor under any Agreement;

(d)

except as expressly set forth herein, presentment, demand for payment, notice of
dishonor or nonpayment, protest and notice of protest or any other notice of any
other kind with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations; and

(e)

any requirement that suit be brought against, or any other action by Creditor be
taken against, or any notice of default or other notice be given to, or any demand
be made on, Debtor or any other person, or that any other action be taken or not
taken as a condition to Guarantor’s liability for the Guaranteed Obligations under
this Guaranty or as a condition to the enforcement of this Guaranty against
Guarantor.

4.

Expenses. Notwithstanding and in addition to the limit on Guarantor’s liability
hereunder set forth in Section 1, Guarantor agrees to pay on demand any and all costs,
including reasonable legal fees and expenses, and other expenses incurred by Creditor in
enforcing Guarantor’s payment obligations under this Guaranty; provided that the
Guarantor shall not be liable for any expenses of Creditor if no payment under this
Guaranty is due.

5.

Subrogation. Guarantor shall be subrogated to all rights of Creditor against the Debtors
in respect of any amounts paid by Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty, provided that
Guarantor waives any rights it may acquire by way of subrogation under this Guaranty,
by any payment made hereunder or otherwise (including, without limitation, any
statutory rights of subrogation under Section 509 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §
509, or otherwise), reimbursement, exoneration, contribution, indemnification, or any
right to participate in any claim or remedy of the Creditor against any Debtor or any
collateral which the Creditor now has or acquires, until all of the Guaranteed Obligations
shall have been irrevocably paid to Creditor in full. If any amount shall be paid to the
Guarantor on account of such subrogation rights at any time when all the Guaranteed
Obligations shall not have been paid in full, such amount shall be held in trust for the
benefit of Creditor and shall forthwith be paid to Creditor to be applied to the Guaranteed
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Obligations. If (a) the Guarantor shall perform and shall make payment to Creditor of all
or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations and (b) all the Guaranteed Obligations shall
have been paid in full, Creditor shall, at the Guarantor’s request, execute and deliver to
the Guarantor appropriate documents necessary to evidence the transfer by subrogation to
the Guarantor of any interest in the Guaranteed Obligations resulting from such payment
by Guarantor.
6.

Setoff. The Creditor is hereby authorized at any time, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, to set off and apply any deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or
final) and other indebtedness owing by the Creditor to or for the account of Guarantor
against any and all of the obligations of Guarantor under this Guaranty, irrespective of
whether or not the Creditor shall have made any demand under this Guaranty or such
Agreement and although such obligations may be contingent and unmatured. The
Creditor agrees promptly to notify Guarantor after any such set-off and application made
by the Creditor provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of
such set-off and application.

7.

Notices. All demands, notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall,
unless otherwise specifically provided herein, (a) be in writing addressed to the party
receiving the notice at the address set forth below or at such other address as may be
designated by written notice, from time to time, to the other party, and (b) be effective
upon delivery, when mailed by U.S. mail, registered or certified, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid, by express courier with traceable receipt, by facsimile, or personally
delivered. Notices shall be sent to the following addresses:
If to Creditor:
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
415 N. McKinley, #140
Little Rock, AR 72205
Attention: Financial Coordinator
If to Guarantor:
_____________________
_____________________
_____________________
_____________________

8.

Demand and Payment. Any demand by Creditor for payment hereunder shall be in
writing, signed by a duly authorized officer of Creditor and delivered to the Guarantor
pursuant to Section 6 hereof, and shall (a) reference this Guaranty, (b) specifically
identify the Debtor, the Guaranteed Obligations to be paid and the amount of such
Guaranteed Obligations, and (c) set forth payment instructions. There are no other
requirements of notice, presentment or demand. Guarantor shall pay, or cause to be paid,
such Guaranteed Obligations within three (3) business days of receipt of such demand.
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9.

No Waiver; Remedies. Except as to applicable statutes of limitation, no failure on the
part of Creditor to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder shall operate
as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right hereunder
preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right. The
remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by
law.

10.

Term; Termination. This Guaranty shall continue in full force and effect for the term of
the Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Guaranty may be terminated at any
time by the Guarantor by providing at least sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to
Creditor; provided, however, upon termination hereof, Guarantor agrees that the
obligations and liabilities hereunder shall continue in full force and effect with respect to
any obligations incurred prior to the termination date, and any fees and costs of
enforcement in connection herewith.

11.

Assignment; Successors and Assigns. Creditor may, upon notice to Guarantor, assign
its rights hereunder without the consent of Guarantor. Guarantor may assign its rights
hereunder with the prior written consent of Creditor, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld. Subject to the foregoing, this Guaranty shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, permitted
assigns, and legal representatives.

12.

Amendments, Etc. A written amendment executed by the Guarantor only may (a)
increase the guaranty limit specified in Section 1 and/or (b) extend the termination date of
this Guaranty. No other amendment of this Guaranty shall be effective unless in writing
and signed by Guarantor and Creditor. No waiver of any provision of this Guaranty nor
consent to any departure by Guarantor therefrom shall in any event be effective unless
such waiver shall be in writing and signed by Creditor. Any such waiver shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given.

13.

Captions. The captions in this Guaranty have been inserted for convenience only and
shall be given no substantive meaning or significance whatsoever in construing the terms
and provisions of this Guaranty.

14.

Representation and Warranties.
The Guarantor represents and warrants as follows:
(a)

the Guarantor is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has full corporate power to
execute, deliver and perform this Guaranty;

(b)

the execution, delivery and performance of this Guaranty have been and remain
duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do not contravene the
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Guarantor’s constitutional documents or any contractual restriction binding on the
Guarantor or its assets;
(c)

this Guaranty constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Guarantor
enforceable against Guarantor in accordance with its terms, subject, as to
enforcement, to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general
applicability relating to or affecting Creditor’s rights and to general equity
principles; and

(d)

the audited financial statements of Guarantor for the most recent fiscal year and
the unaudited financial statements of Guarantor for the most recent quarter (the
“Financial Statements”), heretofore delivered to Creditor or filed with the United
States Securities Exchange Commission by Guarantor present fairly the financial
condition and results of operations of Guarantor and its consolidated subsidiaries
as of the dates and for the period specified therein in conformity with United
States generally accepted accounting principles, and, except as otherwise
expressly stated therein, consistently applied. Except as expressly stated to
Creditor in writing, there has been no material adverse change in the financial
condition of Guarantor and its consolidated subsidiaries since the dates of the
Financial Statements.

15.

Limitation by Law. All rights, remedies and powers provided in this Guaranty may be
exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not violate any applicable
provision of law, and all the provisions of this Guaranty are intended to be subject to all
applicable mandatory provisions of law that may be controlling and to be limited to the
extent necessary so that they will not render this Guaranty invalid, unenforceable, in
whole or in part, or not entitled to be recorded, registered or filed under the provisions of
any applicable law.

16.

GOVERNING LAW; SUBMISSION TO EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION. THIS
GUARANTY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF ARKANSAS AND ANY
APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW.
TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY SUBMIT TO THE
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY ARKANSAS STATE COURT SITTING
IN PULASKI COUNTY, ARKANSAS, OR THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS, FOR THE
PURPOSES OF ALL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING
TO
THIS
GUARANTY
OR
THE
TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY
OBJECTION TO VENUE IN PULASKI COUNTY, ARKANSAS, AND ANY
OBJECTION TO ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ON THE BASIS OF FORUM
NON CONVENIENS.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Guarantor has caused this Guaranty to be duly executed
and delivered by its duly authorized officer effective as of this ___ day of _________,
______ (“Effective Date”).
[GUARANTOR]

By:
Name:
Title:
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
April 26, 2005
Roster:
Harry Skilton, Chair
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry
Michael Desselle

Director
Arkansas Electric Coop Corp
Tenaska
Westar Energy
AEP

Background
The Finance Committee submitted to the Board of Directors at its July 27, 2004 meeting
a recommendation defining the obligations of members upon withdrawal. The Finance
Committee, at that same meeting, took on the responsibility to submit draft language
which could be adopted in the SPP Membership Agreement to further clarify the financial
obligation and commitments of members upon withdrawal from SPP.
Analysis
Arnie Podgorsky, a commercial law attorney at Wright & Talisman in Washington D.C.
was engaged to draft language to better detail the obligations of members upon
withdrawal. The Finance Committee met on October 8, 2004, October 18, 2004, and
November 30, 2004 to review and edit numerous revisions to the initial draft. Following
the November 30, 2004 meeting, final revisions were made to the document and the
Finance Committee members voted to accept as final those changes and recommend to
the Board of Directors adoption of the language in the SPP Membership Agreement.
These revisions were presented at the January meeting for initial consideration. The
required notice was provided to the Membership that these changes would be
considered for action at this meeting.
Recommendation
The Finance Committee recommends that the SPP Board of Directors incorporate the
attached language into the SPP Membership Agreement detailing the financial
obligations and commitments of members upon withdrawal from Southwest Power Pool,
Inc.
Approved:

Finance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 7, 2005

Draft Revisions Following FC Meeting 113004
Discussion Only

Proposed Revisions to SPP Membership Agreement
Withdrawal/Termination Provisions

[New Definitions to be added to definition section:]
“Existing Obligations” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Financial Obligations” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Future Interest” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.2(b).
“Partial Termination” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.1.
“Termination” shall have the meaning given in Section 4.1.
“Termination Date” shall mean the date the Termination is effective in accordance with
Section 4.2.2(b).
[Revised Language:]
4.0 Termination of Membership
This Section states the terms and conditions applicable to any Termination or
Partial Termination.
4.1
Events of Termination and Partial Termination. A “Termination” shall
mean any cessation of Membership, voluntary or involuntary, or a termination of this
Agreement for any reason, including the following:
a.
b.
c.
d.

e.
f.

g.

Member voluntarily withdraws from membership under Sections 4.0 or
5.0 of this Agreement,
An involuntary termination of membership occurs pursuant to Section 6.0
of this Agreement;
Member withdraws from membership or terminates this Agreement to
comply with the terms of any applicable law or regulation;
A withdrawal from membership or termination of this Agreement is
ordered by any court or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction;
SPP reserves the right, but is not obligated, to maintain before such court
or administrative agency, or on any appeal, that FERC has preemptive
jurisdiction;
A material breach or repudiation of this Agreement, in the discretion of
the non-breaching or non-repudiating party;
The liquidation or dissolution of SPP, unless a third party has assumed
the rights and obligations of SPP under this Agreement and has
reasonably demonstrated capability to perform SPP’s obligations under
this Agreement;
An agreement between SPP and the Member to terminate this
Agreement.
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A “Partial Termination” occurs upon a Member’s voluntary removal of a portion of
its transmission facilities or customers from the SPP service area, including, by way of
example and not limitation, sale of a part of the Member’s distribution or transmission
network or transfer to another service provider of a portion of its retail load.
4.2 Termination Procedures and Effective Dates
4.2.1 Notice of Voluntary Withdrawal
Subject to Section 4.3, a Member may withdraw voluntarily from this Agreement,
provided that it has given written notice to the President of its intent to withdraw. Notice
of intent to withdraw must state a proposed date for the withdrawal and be delivered to
the President no less than twelve (12) months prior to such date. The President will
advise the Membership and the Board of Directors of any withdrawal notices received.
In order to assure that there is no more than one proposed termination date with respect
to a Member, a withdrawal notice shall be deemed to rescind any prior withdrawal notice
given by the Member. Voluntary withdrawal is a Termination and creates the same
obligations as a Termination for any other reason.
4.2.2 Effective Date of Termination
(a)
Voluntary Withdrawal. If the withdrawing Member is not a
Transmission Owner subject to FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be
the date proposed in the withdrawal notice under Section 4.2.1 or otherwise
agreed by SPP. If the withdrawing Member is a Transmission Owner subject to
FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be the later of (i) the proposed date
specified in the withdrawal notice or other agreed by SPP, (ii) the effective date, if
any, set by the FERC order approving the withdrawal; or (iii) the date that such
FERC order is no longer subject to review by a court of competent jurisdiction.
(b)
Termination other than Voluntary Withdrawal.
If the
Termination occurs for any reason other than the Member’s voluntary withdrawal
under Section 4.2.1 or by agreement with SPP, the Termination Date shall be as
follows:
(i)
If the Member is not a Transmission Owner subject to
FERC jurisdiction, the Termination Date shall be the date of the event by
which the Termination occurs, for example, the date a party gives notice
that it will treat a breach or repudiation as a Termination or the date a
Member withdraws in order to comply with the terms of a law or
regulation. The foregoing notwithstanding, if the Termination occurs due
to the order of a court of administrative agency, the Termination Date
shall be the date the order is no longer subject to review by a court of
competent jurisdiction.
(ii)
If the Member is a Transmission Owner requiring
regulatory agency approval prior to effectively withdrawing from
Southwest Power Pool, then the Termination Date shall be the later of (i)
the effective date, if any, set by the regulatory agency order approving the
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Termination; or (iii) the date that such regulatory order is no longer
subject to review by a court of competent jurisdiction.
(iii) In conjunction with the requirements and limitations imposed in
Section 4.2.2(b)(ii) above; Transmission Owning Members of Southwest
Power Pool wishing to withdraw from Southwest Power Pool and
requiring regulatory agency approval prior to such withdrawal being
effective are required to initiate the required regulatory filings seeking
approval to withdraw prior to the end of the 12 month notice period.
Addtionally, these members must provide Southwest Power Pool copies
of the regulatory filings in a timely manner after filing with the appropriate
regulatory agency. Failure to comply with the terms of this paragraph will
effectively rescind the notice of the withdrawing member.
4.3 Obligations Upon Termination
4.3.1

Obligation to Hold Users Harmless

Transmission Customers taking service which involves facilities being withdrawn
by a Transmission Owner from the functional control of SPP and where such service is
under transmission contracts executed before the Termination Date, shall continue to
receive the same service for the remaining term of each such contract at the same rates,
terms, and conditions that would have been applicable if the Termination or Partial
Termination had not occurred. Transmission Owner agrees to continue providing
service to such Transmission Customers in accordance with the preceding sentence,
and shall receive revenues calculated in accordance with the OATT but no more in
revenues for that service than if there had been no Termination or Partial Termination.
4.3.2

Obligation to Pay Current and Existing Obligations

(a)
In the event of a Termination or Partial Termination, the Member
shall pay all obligations incurred under this Agreement at any time prior to the
Termination Date. In addition, in order for SPP to recover a portion of certain
debts and costs payable by SPP after the Termination Date as further specified
in this Agreement, the Member shall pay all Existing Obligations (as defined
herein) calculated as of the Termination Date. SPP shall make reasonable
efforts to mitigate the Member’s Existing Obligations by commercially reasonable
actions (such as prepayment of allocable debt, or investment of part or all of the
Member’s payment in an interest-bearing instrument) and, in its discretion, may
further discount the Member’s Existing Obligations to reflect any additional
mitigation SPP determines it will achieve.
(b)
“Existing Obligations” are all of the following and other obligations
as may be set forth in the Bylaws from time to time:
i. Member’s unpaid annual membership fee,
ii. Member’s unpaid dues, assessments, and other amounts charged
under Section 3.8 or otherwise under the Bylaws, plus the Member’s
share of costs SPP customarily includes in such dues, assessments
or other charges, but which as of the Termination Date SPP had not
included in such dues, assessments or other charges.
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iii. Member’s share (computed in accordance with the Bylaws) of the
entire principal amounts of all SPP Financial Obligations outstanding
as of the Termination Date. “Financial Obligations” are all long-term
(in excess of six (6) months) financial obligations of SPP, including
but not limited to the following:
a.
debts under all loans, loan agreements, borrowings,
promissory notes, bonds, and credit lines, under which SPP
is obligated, including principal and interest;
b.
all payment obligations under equipment leases, financing
leases, capital leases, real estate and office space leases,
consulting contracts, and contracts for outsourced services;
c.
any unfunded liabilities of any SPP employee pension
funds, whether or not liquidated or demanded; and
d.
the general and administrative overhead of SPP for a
period of three (3) months.
iv. Any costs, expenses or liabilities incurred by SPP directly due to the
Termination, regardless of when incurred or payable, and including
without limitation prepayment premiums or penalties arising under
SPP Financial Obligations.
v. Member’s share (computed in accordance with the Bylaws) of all
interest that will become due for payment with respect to all interest
bearing Financial Obligations after the Termination Date and until the
maturity of all Financial Obligations in accordance with their
respective terms (“Future Interest”). In the event that a Financial
Obligation carries a variable interest rate, the interest rate in effect at
the Termination Date shall be used to calculate the applicable Future
Interest. In determining the Member’s share of Future Interest, SPP
shall take into account any reduction of Financial Obligations due to
mitigation under this Section.
(c)
In the event of a Partial Termination, Existing Obligations shall first
be calculated as though a Termination occurred, and the Member shall pay a
percentage thereof as Existing Obligations due to the Partial Termination. Such
percentage shall be the percentage reduction of the Net Energy for Load Ratio
applicable to the Member resulting from the Partial Termination

(d)
SPP shall invoice Member for Existing Obligations within one
month after the Termination Date, except that delay by SPP in issuing the invoice
shall not diminish Member’s obligation to make timely payment. The invoice shall
be due and payable no later than five (5) business days after issuance. Any
amounts owed by SPP to the Member shall, solely at SPP’s election and in its
discretion, be offset against the Member’s Existing Obligations or paid to the
Member concurrently with issuance of the invoice.
(e)
The Member acknowledges and agrees that Existing Obligations
include amounts that SPP expects to accrue and that will become payable by
SPP following the Member’s Termination, and that no part of a payment of
Existing Obligations shall be refundable to the Member under any circumstances,
including (except as provided in this Section with respect to mitigation) any
reduction of the Financial Obligations. Any disagreement as to the calculation of
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Existing Obligations shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution
procedures in the Bylaws.
4.3.3 Construction of Transmission Facilities
Any obligations relating to the construction of new facilities pursuant to an
approved plan of SPP shall be renegotiated between SPP and the Transmission Owner
prior to the Termination Date or promptly thereafter. If such obligations cannot be
resolved through negotiations, they shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute
resolution procedures in the Bylaws.
4.3.4 Regulatory and Other Approvals or Procedures
Any Termination with respect to a Transmission Owner shall be subject to
applicable federal and state law and regulatory approvals or procedures.
***
6.0 Removal Of Members
The Board of Directors may terminate the membership of Member for cause,
including but not limited to material violation of the Bylaws or nonpayment of obligations,
subject to any applicable regulatory approvals. Such Board of Directors termination shall
be after an affirmative vote consistent with the voting procedures in the Bylaws. Where
membership is terminated by the Board, the Member shall comply with the requirements
of Section 4.3 of this Agreement.
7.0 Effective Date, Duration, And Transition
a. This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date and shall remain in
force until any Termination Date. All obligations incurred pursuant to Section 4.3 of this
Agreement shall survive a Termination.
b. Where Member has, prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement, executed an
agency agreement and/or a membership agreement with SPP, upon the Effective Date
of this Agreement any prior agreements shall be considered terminated between
Member and SPP.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Market Working Group:
Richard Ross, AEP
Gene Anderson, OMPA
Wes Berger, Xcel Energy
Rick McCord, EDE
Tom Saitta, Aquila
John Stephens, City of Springfield
David Toole, Cargill

Keith Sugg, AECC
Doug Base, Western Farmers
Burton Crawford, KCPL
Tambra Offield, ETEC
Jim Stanton, Calpine
Tom Stuchlik, Westar
Bill Wylie, OGE

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
Mike Boughner Xcel Energy
Seth Brown GDS Associates
Gary Clear OG&E
Daryl Cote The Structure Group
Sean Donoghue Structure Consulting
Wendell Drost Alstom Esca
Al Galiunes KEMA
Terri Gallup AEP
Larry Gurley Tenaska
Tracey Hannon SWPA
Shah Hossain Westar
Leon Howell OG&E
Robert Janssen Boston Pacific Company, Inc.
Jim Jacoby AEP
David Lemmons Xcel Energy
James Liao WFEC
Doug Logan PCI
Sam Loudenslager APSC
Paul Mahlberg City of Independence Power &
Light

Partha Malvadkar FERC
Stan Mason SWPA
Rick McCord EDE
Shane O'Quinn Global Energy Decisions
Mike Proctor MoPSC
Jasyn Randazzo City of Independence Power
& Light
Dennis Reed Westar
Craig Roach Boston Pacific Company, Inc.
Heather Sanders APX
James Sanderson, KCC
Walt Shumate OG&E
William Simpson Tenaska
Tim Soles Occidental Energy Ventures Corp.
Mike Stafford GRDA
Kristy Tackett Empire District
Mike Templin Accenture
Bary Warren Empire District

Background
The Market Working Group has met on a monthly basis in person, and conducted reviews of the market
protocols and other design issues through conference calls. The Market Implementation Task Force,
Market Monitoring and Market Power Mitigation Task Force, and Settlement Data and Metering
Standards Task Force have also met frequently.
Following the December 2004 meeting of the MWG, Protocols for the Imbalance Market, including market
mitigation and market monitoring, were released to the RTWG and MOPC. Some items were still under
discussion, as documented in the release transmittal. In the January 5, 2005 meeting of the MWG, the
remaining items were resolved and a revision of Market Protocols was transmitted.

The MWG unanimously approved a motion “The Protocols be approved for an October 2005
implementation of an Imbalance Market and development of necessary Tariff Language.”
The Chair of the MOPC requested on January 20, 2005 that: “Each SPP Organizational Group should
review and discuss those Market Protocols in light of their responsibilities as a group and the SPP
Criteria, Bylaws, Membership Agreement, Business Practices, etc. If there are any
issues/concerns/questions that arise from that review and discussion, the group needs to address those
issues to the MWG (rross@aep.com) and work to a resolution. This is a very critical task.
The deadline for resolution is prior to the April 12-13, 2005 MOPC meeting where the RTWG/MWG will be
bringing the language for approval. Please make this a priority.” MOPC discussion also highlighted that
any issues with the MWG would actually have to be resolved by the March 1-2 MWG meeting.
Additionally, during this time SPP signed the MISO Joint Operating Agreement as required by FERC and
it included some changes in the way Energy Imbalance Flow would be treated with NERC and its
reliability processes.
The MWG received reviews from the ORWG on 3/24/05, the TWG on 3/28/05, and the SPCWG on
4/1/05. (See attached)
Analysis
Because of the significant issues that were raised, the Chair of the MWG called a small group from the
MWG to discuss these issues on 3/29-30/05. This group worked through some of the suggestions from
the other groups as solutions to these issues. They were not able to resolve all the issues in that short
period of time and forwarded their work on to the MWG. During the April 5 – 6 meeting, the MWG
discussed and tried to address issues brought by the ORWG, TWG and SPCWG from the January
request of the MOPC. As a result of the review, the MWG is recommending the following motion that
includes a task force formation to quickly deal with the changes in market design to deal with the reliability
issues brought forward by the ORWG and their concern about NERC guidance. This will cause a delay in
the market implementation that is indeterminate at this time. The intent is that a final recommendation
and impact would be presented in the July 2005 MOPC meeting.
Recommendation
(1) Direct that market trials not be started as currently scheduled on May 9 and direct MWG to develop an
updated market trials and implementation schedule based on the changes that will be necessary to
resolve the issues described below for presentation by no later than the July 2005 MOPC meeting.
Delay of the market trials and market implementation is necessary due to the fact that the solutions to
some of the reliability issues raised by ORWG will require system changes that cannot be accomplished
within the current schedule. Specifically the issues identified by ORWG include:
•
•
•
•

the treatment of self dispatch in the market solution and
the interaction of the market solution with the IDC and
the interaction of the market solution with the ARS
the interaction of the market solution with adequate regulation and compensation

In order to facilitate compliance with NERC Reliability Standards, solutions to these issues identified to
date will require a change to the dispatch interval, a change to the treatment of self dispatch resources in
the market solution and the development of an IDC like system for use internal to the RTO footprint, all of
which will cause a delay in market implementation.
(2) Direct MWG to develop a comprehensive list of all of the issues identified by other working groups and
identify a timeline/process to be used to develop solutions to the MOPC by April 20th (1 week after the
MOPC meeting).

(3) Direct the formation of a special Task Force that will completely define solutions to the reliability issues
and provide proposed protocol revisions to the MWG by no later than May 30. This Task Force should be
populated with appropriate participation from MWG, ORWG, SPP staff and other working groups as
appropriate.
(4) The MOPC should provide direction to the MWG and the Task Force to be formed regarding whether
or not consolidation of the control areas could be considered as part of the solution. Such guidance is
necessary since a decision to consolidate the Control Areas will potentially impact the solutions
developed to the issues raised by the other working groups.
(5) Direct MWG to develop an updated market trials and implementation schedule based on the changes
that will be necessary to resolve the issues for presentation by no later than the July 2005 MOPC
meeting.
Approved:

Markets & Operations Policy Committee
Passed, Two (2) Opposed
Market Working Group
Passed, Unopposed
Strategic Planning Committee endorsed
One (1) Opposed

April 12-13, 2005
April 6, 2005
April 14, 2005

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Transmission Working Group:
Ronnie Frizzell, AECC
Howard Conus, SPRM
John Fulton, SPS
Matt McGee, AEPW
Dave Sargent, SPA
Don Taylor, Westar
Mitch Williams, WFEC
Phil Crissup, OKGE
Sam McGarrah, EDE
Alan Myers, Aquila
Terry Whitmore, CLEC
Jim Useldinger, KCPL
Background
SPP began its first RTO Expansion Planning process back in 2003. The main objective of the expansion
plan is to create an effective long-range plan with a comprehensive assessment of mitigation plans to
maintain planning standards. The SPP RTO Expansion Plan Process is divided into two phases. During
the first year, SPP developed an expansion plan for reliability needs. During the second year, SPP will
assess the system to determine market needs based on an economic expansion plan. All study results
through the planning process are being coordinated with other entities/regions responsible for
transmission needs assessment/planning.
Analysis
The Reliability Assessment (Phase 1) is intended to provide an independent assessment of expansion
plans required by SPP in order to meet NERC, regional, and local planning standards. The study will
review the summer peak conditions for 2005 and 2010. Major projects recommended through the
reliability assessment are also being evaluated in 2013 summer peak to verify the long-term effectiveness
of these projects.
SPP evaluated 7,775 contingencies in the load flow study. This study identified numerous criteria
violations. Criteria violations identified were shared during Planning Summit II. SPP requested
stakeholder suggestions for projects to address criteria violations. Inputs from stakeholder, along with
proposed and exploratory projects provided by Transmission Owners, as well as alternative solutions by
SPP staff were independently evaluated. SPP staff then recommended the best projects among the pool
of solutions.
Recommendation
The TWG approved the Phase 1 Report unanimously during its March conference call and requested that
they be forwarded to the MOPC and Board.
Approved:

Markets & Operations Policy Committee
Passed, Three (3) Abstentions
Transmission Working Group
Passed, Unopposed

Action Requested:

Approve SPP RTO Expansion Plan Phase 1 Report.

April 12-13, 2005
March 23, 2005

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005
Organizational Roster
The following Operating Reliability Working Group members participated in group discussions:
Scott Moore – AEP
Mike Gammon – KCPL (by proxy)
Bill Nolte – Sunflower Electric (by proxy)

Bob Cochran – SPS
Allen Klassen – Westar

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
Dan Boezio – AEP
Will Franklin – Entergy EMO
Don Hargrove – OG&E
Jim Jacoby – AEP
Bary Warren - EDE

Mike Crouch – WFEC
Ronnie Frizzell – AECC
Matt Irwin – AECC
Stan Mason – SPA

Background
NERC Reliability Standard TOP-002-0, Normal Operations Planning, requires Transmission Operators to
perform studies to determine System Operating Limits (SOLs) and to make those limits known to their
Reliability Coordinator. NERC Reliability Standard TOP-007-0, Reporting SOL and IROL Violations,
requires a Transmission Operator to notify its Reliability Coordinator when an SOL or Interconnected
Reliability Operating Limit (IROL) has been exceeded. Additionally, Compliance Template P2 T1 requires
Control Areas or Transmission Operators to inform their Reliability Coordinator of any violation of an SOL
or IROL. SOL and IROL are defined in the NERC Glossary of Terms and again in Compliance Template
P2 T1. The concept for these limits resulted from a study conducted by NERC’s Operating Limit
Definitions Task Force (OLDTF) that was published in April 2003.
Analysis
SPP Criteria is silent regarding the responsibility for determining and reporting violations of SOLs. At its
April 4, 2005 meeting, the ORWG unanimously approved Criteria 5 and 14 revisions that
•
•
•
•

Delegate the responsibility for determining SOLs to Transmission Operators, in conjunction with
Transmission Owners,
Specify SOLs would be provided for flowgates and other facilities, as determined by Transmission
Operators in conjunction with Transmission Owners,
Require Transmission Operators to inform the Reliability Coordinator of any changes to SOLs
and
Require Transmission Operators to report SOL violations to the Reliability Coordinator.

The ORWG also incorporated the NERC definitions for SOLs and IROLs into Criteria to emphasize the
critical nature of these terms which are now the basis for implementation of the Transmission Loading
Relief Procedure within SPP.

Specific changes are captured in Criteria 5.2.1, 14 and Appendix 7. Redlined versions of these sections
of Criteria are attached. The Appendix 7 changes have been approved by the ORWG and submitted to
the MOPC for their information.
Recommendation
Approve the proposed modifications to Criteria 5.2.1 and 14.
Approved:

Markets & Operations Policy Committee
Passed, Unopposed
Operating Reliability Working Group
Passed, Unopposed

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

April 12-13, 2005
April 4, 2005

5.2.1 Member Responsibilities
Transmission Operators shall determine System Operating Limits (SOLs), as defined in
Criteria 14.2.4, in conjunction with transmission owners. SOLs will be provided for
facilities that comprise flowgates and any other facilities as determined by the
Transmission Operator in conjunction with the transmission owners. The Transmission
Operator shall inform the Reliability Coordinator of changes to any SOL as specified in
Appendix 7 and notify the Reliability Coordinator of any SOL violations.
Control aAreas shall notify the Reliability CoordinatorAuthority of current or foreseen
operating conditions that may adversely affect interconnection reliability. Scheduled
outages of critical transmission facilities shall be approved by the Reliability
CoordinatorAuthority. Scheduled outages of all other facilities greater than 60 kV shall
be coordinated with the Reliability Coordinatorauthority. The Operatiing Reliability
Working Group shall be responsible for identifying those facilities classified as critical.
Non-control areas shall notify their cControl aArea of current or foreseen operating
conditions that may adversely affect interconnection reliability. Scheduled transmission
outages shall be coordinated with their cControl aArea.

14.0 TRANSMISSION LOADING RELIEF
14.1 Purpose
In the continuous operation of the bulk electric power network, certain procedures are
necessary to involve those operating entities that impact overloaded facilities.
Procedures are included for corrective action and mutual assistance during periods for
which Transmission Loading Relief is necessary. These Criteria ensure SPP maintains
a high level of reliability using standard procedures to relieve overloaded transmission
circuits. The rating of transmission circuits is described elsewhere in SPP Criteria.
14.2 Definitions
14.2.1 Flowgate
A flowgate is a pre-defined proxy for network limitations representing thermal, voltage,
and stability constraints of power transfer. Flowgates consist of one or more
transmission circuits rated at 60 kV or above.
14.2.2 Transmission Circuit
A transmission circuit shall consist of all load-carrying elements between circuit breakers
or comparable switching devices. Transmission circuit rating criteria is described in
Criteria 12.
14.2.3 Interconnected Reliability Operating Limit
The North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) defines Interconnected
Reliability Operating Limit (IROL) as “The value (such as MW, MVar, Amperes,
Frequency or Volts) derived from, or a subset of the System Operating Limits, which if
exceeded, could expose a widespread area of the Bulk Electric System to instability,
uncontrolled separation(s) or cascading outages.”
14.2.314.2.4 System Operating LimitOperating Reliability Limit
The North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) defines System Operating Limit
(SOL) as “The value (such as MW, MVar, Amperes, Frequency or Volts) that satisfies
the most limiting of the prescribed operating criteria for a specified configuration to
ensure operation within acceptable reliability criteria. System Operating Limits are
based upon certain operating criteria. These include, but are not limited to:
•

Facility Ratings (Applicable pre- and post-Contingency equipment or facility

ratings)
•

Transient Stability Ratings (Applicable pre- and post-Contingency Stability Limits)

•

Voltage Stability Ratings (Applicable pre- and post-Contingency Voltage Stability)

•

System Voltage Limits (Applicable pre- and post-Contingency Voltage Limits)” An
Operating Reliability Limit for a thermally limited transmission circuit or flowgate
is the lesser of the amount of power that can flow over that circuit precontingency without exceeding its normal rating or the amount of power that can
flow over the circuit pre-contingency and not exceed its emergency rating
following the worst single contingency occurring. Similarly, an Operating
Reliability Limit for stability or voltage limited circuits is the amount of power that
can flow over those circuits without violating defined voltage or stability limits.
14.3 Daily Reliability Assessment
14.3.1 Control Area Data Reporting

Control Areas shall comply with SPP Criteria and NERC Reliability StandardsNorth
American Electric Reliability Council Operating Policies regarding data reporting.

14.3.2 Overload Evaluation
Information collected shall be used by the Reliability Coordinator to evaluate
transmission conditions for the current and next day. Single contingency analysis as
well as other reviews shall be made daily. The Reliability Coordinator shall report the
daily results to SPP Control Areas.
14.3.3 Control Area Planning
Control Areas shall review the daily reliability assessment report. If the report indicates
that anticipated conditions could result in excessive loading on a transmission circuit,
Control Areas shall consider and plan for internal procedures that can be taken to
prevent degradation of system reliability.
14.4 Transmission Loading Mitigation
14.4.1 Reliability Coordinator Responsibilities
14.4.1.1 Monitoring
The Reliability Coordinator will monitor the transmission system. Monitoring and

appropriate control action will be performed to ensure the transmission system is
operated so that instability, uncontrolled separation, cascading outages, or equipment
damage will not occur as a result of the most severe single contingency. Flowgate flows
will be closely monitored and compared to applicable SOLs and IROLs.Operating
Reliability Limits.
14.4.1.2 Weather Adjustment of Limits
Some flowgates or transmission circuits have static seasonal ratings that are developed
using certain pre-determined weather condition assumptions (see Criteria 12). To the
extent that certain weather conditions such as ambient temperature, wind speed, or wind
direction are available, the Reliability Coordinator will coordinate with the Transmission
Operatortransmission owner to appropriately adjust the SOLsOperating Reliability Limits
for those flowgates during heavy loading conditions.
14.4.2 Control Area Responsibilities
Control Areas will monitor their own transmission systems for system reliability. They
are responsible for identifying and addressing reliability problems and shall work with the
Reliability Coordinator, as appropriate, to correct those problems. Control Areas can
call for Transmission Loading Relief to relieve excessive transmission loading. Control
Areas shall notify the Reliability Coordinator whenever internal procedures are
implemented to relieve overloading.
14.4.3 Transmission Loading Relief Procedures
These procedures shall be implemented whenever the Reliability Coordinator or a
Control Area observes excessive flows on a flowgate or other transmission circuit.
a. The Reliability Coordinator will verify actual real-time flow readings with the
Control Area and compare against the applicable SOL and IROLOperating
Reliability Limit for the flowgate or circuit.
b. The Reliability Coordinator will determine the contribution of transactions to the
excessive loading and will convey the results of this assessment to the Control
Area. This information will be used to determine if transaction curtailments or
local control actions are necessary to relieve the excessive loading.
c. Upon request by the Control Area, the Reliability Coordinator will initiate a
request for Transmission Loading Relief pursuant to NERC Reliability

StandardsNorth American Electric Reliability Council Operating Policies.
d. The Reliability Coordinator shall notify Control Areas and other Reliability
Authorities of which scheduled interchange transactions, network service, and
native load impacts are to be curtailed during the relief period. Control Areas
shall acknowledge receipt of scheduled interchange transaction curtailment,
curtail the transactions and/or redispatch generation, as appropriate, for the line
loading problems.
e. The Reliability Coordinator shall continuously monitor flows, dispatch, and
transactions throughout the period of excessive loading. Any request for
Transmission Loading Relief will be canceled when the condition of excessive
loading no longer exists and termination of Transmission Loading Relief is not
anticipated to cause renewed line loading problems.
f.

Rerouting curtailed schedules through another path is prohibited.
14.5 Subsequent Overload Conditions

In the event of simultaneous or concurrent requests for Transmission Loading Relief, the
same procedures will be used with due consideration being given to all existing
conditions.
14.6 Curtailment Reports
Reports shall be posted on an hourly basis during any period of Transmission Loading
Relief. Daily and monthly summary reports shall also be distributed. These reports shall
be used as verification of associated energy schedules.
14.7 Compensation for Assistance
This procedure contains no compensation provision for any party, but compensation is
not precluded.
14.8 Responsibilities
14.8.1 Control Areas
It shall be the responsibility of each Control Area to follow policies and procedures
contained herein; reporting daily information, identifying potential and actual
transmission overloads and supplying assistance to members when directed.

14.8.2 Operating Reliability Working Group
The Operating Reliability Working Group shall receive periodic reports of any
implementation of Transmission Loading Relief. The Operating Reliability Working
Group shall make a report of this information to the Markets and Operations
PolicyEngineering & Operating Committee at each regular meeting.
14.8.3 Reliability Coordinator
It shall be the responsibility of the Reliability Coordinator to provide daily analysis and
monitor and evaluate real-time flows and voltages against appropriate SOLs and
IROLs.Operating Reliability Limits. The Reliability Coordinator shall be responsible for
providing timely 24- hour coordinationg and implementationg during Transmission
Loading Relief periods and provide periodic reports to the Operating Reliability Working
Group.
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Data Dictionary for Electric System Security Data
Introduction
The data and terms described here are intended as a definition and clarification of the electric
system security data required by SPP Criteria 5. The definitions herein were derived from the
requirements listed in Appendix 4B of NERC Policy 4, Section B, System Coordination –
Operational Security Information and the additional data required by Southwest Power Pool.
Each term is defined and its current or expected method of exchange is specified.

Assumptions and Standard Conventions
1. All presently telemetered values must be supplied as specified in this appendix. Requests
for real-time data not presently telemetered must follow the NERC data request process.
2. Control Areas that cannot meet some portion of the requirements of this appendix may
seek a waiver from the Operating Reliability Working Group (ORWG). The request for
waiver shall indicate, if appropriate, when the Control Area will comply with the
requirement for which the waiver is being sought.
3. It is assumed that Ampere measurements are used only for thermal limits calculations,
and therefore, only an absolute value is required.
4. With respect to sign convention, positive is expected to be out of the bus and out of the
generating unit at the point of measurement. The ISN Data Definition File,
UsageMultiplier value must be defined as a negative value (normally –1.0) if the
measurement does not follow this convention.
5. The ICCP standard does not discuss the scaling of analog quantities. Conversion to
correct units is the responsibility of the originating host. Where that is not possible, the
UsageAdder and UsageMultiplier values on the ISN Data Definition File must define the
appropriate scaling factors. Sign (direction) conversion is the responsibility of the
receiver.
6. ICCP data will be exchanged via the following blocks:
1. BLOCK 1: Periodic dataset at the defined periodicity
2. BLOCK 2: Exception triggered dataset, Report by Exception, 5 second buffering
period, 10 minute integrity (full dataset) transmission.
7. The acceptable values assigned to the indication status point are prescribed in IEC 870-6802 TASE.2 Object Models, Section 8.1 Use of IndicationPoint Models. Specifically, the
following values are expected:
0
Between
1
Tripped, Open, Off, Out-of-service
2
Closed, On, In-service
If the sender of the data cannot accommodate the above standard, documentation of the
possible values and their meaning must be provided to SPP.
8. All measurements to be exchanged via ICCP will be defined in the NERC ISN Data
Definition File. The ISN Data Definition File will be updated per the following criteria:
¾ At least 7 calendar days prior to a planned topology change but not effective until
notified by company representative.
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¾ Within 20 business days, upon request of SPP.
¾ Six months elapsed since last submitted.
9. Each Control Area shall provide topological updates, including System One-Line
Diagrams, in a format acceptable to SPP. The topological updates will be provided per
the following criteria:
¾ At least 7 calendar days prior to a topology change becoming effective (i.e.
energizing the revised system).
¾ Within 20 business days, upon request of SPP.
If the update cannot be provided within the time frames above, the Control Area shall
advise SPP staff and provide an estimate of when the information will be available.
10. Each Control Area shall provide model data updates, such as line and transformer ratings
(for the EMS model), SCADA limits (used for display/operator alarming), line
characteristics, transformer characteristics, and unit characteristics in a format acceptable
to SPP. The model data updates will be provided per the following criteria:
¾ At least 7 calendar days prior to the updated system model data becoming
effective (i.e. energizing the revised system).
¾ Within 20 business days, upon request of SPP.
If the update cannot be provided within the time frames above, the Control Area shall
advise SPP staff and provide an estimate of when the information will be available.
11. Gross or net generation measurements (MW and MVAR) can be accepted. If gross
measurements are supplied, the station auxiliary measurements must also be supplied so
that net measurements can be derived.

Node Connectivity Requirement
SPP operates ICCP nodes at both the primary and disaster recovery sites. Both the primary and
disaster recovery site ICCP servers feed real-time data to the primary and disaster recovery site
Energy Management Systems. To ensure maximum availability of ICCP data required for
operating reliability, the following connectivity requirements are stipulated:
•

SPP members are required to configure their ICCP servers to connect to the SPP primary
and disaster recovery sites concurrently and to make the same Block 1 and Block 2 data
available to both nodes.

•

SPP will normally reference the same ICCP Object ID from both nodes when reading
member data, thus imposing no additional maintenance workload upon the member
companies.

•

Members operating a disaster recovery site may choose to concurrently serve data from
that site. In that instance, SPP will configure the primary ICCP node to communicate
with the member’s primary site node and will configure the disaster recovery site ICCP
node to communicate with the member disaster recovery site node. This is required per
the TASE.2 standard.

•

SPP will configure the disaster recovery site ICCP nodes to serve data to member sites
using a separate and distinct ICCP Object ID in order to permit them to concurrently read
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operating reliability data from redundant nodes. This is required per the TASE.2
standard.

Change History
June 6, 2001: Modified submission interval criteria for Unit Commitment Report.
March 11, 2002: Added update periodicity for ISN Data Definition File. Added requirement to
require submission of System One-Line and Overview diagrams.
February 10, 2004: Changed references from Security Working Group (SWG) to Operating
Reliability Working Group (ORWG). Added reference to the reporting requirements of the
NERC Cyber Security Standard and removed references to the InfraGard and SCIS reporting
mechanisms. Added requirement for concurrent connection and data transfer from member
ICCP nodes to the SPP primary and backup site ICCP nodes.
March 12, 2004: Clarified the requirement to submit topology change documentation.
March 26, 2004: Added requirement to submit model data updates
June 30, 2004: Revised timing requirements for submitting ISN Data Definition Files, topology
and system model updates. Replaced Unit Commitment Report with Resource Plan
April 4, 2005: Replaced Special Operating Security Limits with System Operating Limits and
added reporting requirements
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Data Prescribed by NERC Appendix 4B
Transmission Data
Status
Description
Status of the switching devices (breakers, switches, disconnects) at each end of a transmission
line. Possible values are Open and Closed for two-state devices and Open, Closed, and Between
for three state devices.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 2.

Transmission Facility Loading (MW or Ampere Loadings)
Description
Instantaneous power flow (MW and MVar) or instantaneous current flow (ampere loading) on
the transmission facility. If ampere loading is provided, voltage measurement on the same
facility must also be provided.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

MVA Capability
Description
MVA limit for transmission facilities. This may be either a static or dynamic limit.
Exchange Mechanism
Dynamic limits: ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.
Static limits: Network model exchange or other mechanism to be defined.

Transformer Tap Setting
Description
Predefined, fixed positions on one or both sides of a transformer. Each Tap position represents a
specific voltage value. (i.e. changing a Tap Position changes the voltage.) There is no standard
numbering scheme for the tap position. For example, some utilities number beginning at 0,
others at 1. Other utilities refer to the nominal position as position 0, with positive integers for
positions above nominal, and negative integers for positions below nominal. Still other utilities
use turns ratio and not position notations. Documentation defining the possible values and their
meaning must be provided to SPP, either as part of the exchanged network model or as a separate
document.
Exchange Mechanism
Telemetered or derived tap positions: ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.
Non-telemetered and no-load tap information: Network model exchange or other mechanism to
be defined.
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Transformer Phase Angle Setting
Description
Represents the Phase Angle between the current and voltage. (i.e. changing the Phase Angle
changes the power.) The angle settings can typically vary between -90 and +90. The unit of
measurement is Degrees.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Key Voltage
Description
Instantaneous voltage measurement for all telemetered locations on the transmission network.
Unit of measurement is kV. PerUnit, 100Base, 120Base, etc. voltages must be converted to
simple kV readings by the originator or, if not possible, the appropriate scaling factors must be
defined.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Generator Data
Status
Description
Status of the generator as telemetered, or as derived from the status of the breaker associated
with the generator unit. Possible values are In-service, Out-of-service and Between, or On, Off
and Between.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 2

MW Capability
Description
Limit on the gross or net MW output of a generator unit. This value may be either a static or
dynamic limit.
Exchange Mechanism
Dynamic limits: ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.
Static limits: Network model exchange or other mechanism to be defined.

MVAR Capability
Description
MVAR Capability Curve for a generating unit.
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Exchange Mechanism
Network model exchange or other mechanism to be defined.

MW Output
Description
Instantaneous measurement of the gross or net real output power from the generator.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

MVAR Output
Description
Instantaneous measurement of the gross or net imaginary output power from the generator.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Status of Automatic Voltage Control Facilities
Description
Instantaneous telemetered or derived status of automatic voltage regulators, and if they exist, the
statuses of fast acting exciters and stabilizers. Possible values are In-service, Out-of-service, and
Between, or On, Off, and Between.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 2

Operating Reserve
MW Reserve Available Within Ten Minutes
Description
The amount of additional power that can be made available to the system within 10 minutes, as
defined in SPP Criteria 6.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Control Area Demand
Instantaneous Control Area Demand
Description
Instantaneous calculation of the generation minus actual interchange for the control area. The
unit of measurement is MW.
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Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Interchange
Instantaneous Actual Interchange With Each Control Area
Description
Instantaneous reading of the MW flow between control areas.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Current Interchange Schedules With Each Control Area By Individual
Interchange Transaction
Description
Current scheduled MW flows between control areas, and may include interchange identifiers and
reserve responsibilities.
Exchange Mechanism
Electronic Tagging.

Interchange Schedules For the Next 24 Hours
Description
Interchange schedules with each control area by individual interchange transaction for the period
encompassing the next hour to 24 hours into the future.
Exchange Mechanism
Electronic Tagging.

Area Control Error and Frequency
Instantaneous Area Control Error
Description
Instantaneous measurement of the area control error. Unit of measurement is MW. Value may
be positive or negative.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

7

SPP Criteria Appendix 7

June 30, 2004

Clock Hour Area Control Error
Description
Instantaneous Area Control Error averaged since the start of the current hour. This value may be
positive or negative. Unit of measurement is MW.
Exchange Mechanism
This measurement is NOT required by SPP.

System Frequency At One or More Locations in the Control Area
Description
Instantaneous reading of the actual frequency in Hz. This is not the deviation from a value
(nominally 60 Hz).
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Other Operating Information
System Operating Limits (SOLs) Special Operating Security Limits in Effect
Description
Notification of new or revised SOLs.special operating security limits in effect.
Exchange Mechanism
Written notification at least a calendar day prior to the effective date of planned SOLs. Any
deviation from planned SOLs in real-time will be communicated by voice or telemetry.To be
defined. Expected to be exchanged via Security Data Applications (SDA) or Web interface.

Forecast of Operating Reserve at Peak, and Time of Peak for Current Day
and Next Day
Description
Estimate of the operating reserve at the time of peak demand. Unit of measurement is MW. The
time is the local clock time, with time zone specified, for the peak demand.
Exchange Mechanism
Load and Capability Report (requires modification to include time of peak).

Forecast Peak Demand for Current Day and Next Day
Description
Estimate of the peak demand for the day. Unit of measurement is MW.
Exchange Mechanism
Load and Capability Report.
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Forecast Changes in Equipment Status
Description
Notification of expected changes in availability of equipment, or special protection schemes,
such as equipment being placed into service or taken out of service.
Exchange Mechanism
Generation and Transmission Outage Reports.

New Facilities in Place
Description
Notification of new equipment being placed into service.
Exchange Mechanism
To be determined.

New or Degraded Special Protection Systems
Description
Notification of changes to the status of special protection schemes and systems.
Exchange Mechanism
To be determined.

Emergency Operating Procedures in Effect
Description
Notification of Emergency conditions and procedures and expected duration. This may also
include Transmission Loading Relief states, Energy Emergency Alerts, and relevant information
such as action taken or planned.
Exchange Mechanism
IDC, ARS, and other mechanisms to be determined.

Severe Weather, Fire, or EarthQuake
Description
Notification of severe weather conditions such as hurricanes, tornadoes, and severe thunder
storms. May also include tornado and severe weather warnings and watches, and solar magnetic
disturbance alerts. Also includes notification of earthquakes, and fires that affect or could
potentially affect the power system operation.
Exchange Mechanism
To be determined.

Multi-site Sabotage
Description
Notification of cases of sabotage to power system equipment at multiple sites.
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Exchange Mechanism
NIPC/NERC IAW Reporting Procedures and the NERC Cyber Security Standard.

10

SPP Criteria Appendix 7

June 30, 2004

Additional Operational and Topology Data Required by SPP
Scheduled Base Frequency
Description
Instantaneous reading of the scheduled (base) frequency in Hz. This is not the deviation from a
value (nominally 60 Hz). If this value is only valid during periods of time correction, then a
status indication value must also be supplied to indicate whether time correction is in effect or
not.
Exchange Mechanism
Scheduled Base Frequency: ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.
Time Correction status: Block 2.

Scheduled Net Interchange With Each Control Area
Description
Scheduled net MW flow between control areas.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Instantaneous Actual Total Net Interchange
Description
Instantaneous total net MW flow into or out of the Control Area.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

Scheduled Total Net Interchange
Description
Total scheduled MW flow into or out of the Control Area.
Exchange Mechanism
ICCP Block 1, 30 second maximum periodicity.

CPS Report
Description
Monthly NERC reporting requirement for each Control Area. The report includes CPS1 and
CPS2 data reporting.
Exchange Mechanism
SDA or Web Interface, reported to SPP no later than the 10th of the month for the previous
month.
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Inadvertent Accounting Report
Description
Monthly NERC reporting requirement for each Control Area.
Exchange Mechanism
SDA or Web Interface, reported to SPP no later than the 10th of the month for the previous
month.

AIE Report
Description
NERC reporting requirement when an AIE report is requested for each Control Area.
Exchange Mechanism
SDA or Web Interface, submitted upon request.

Hourly Load Report
Description
Historical load reporting required from each Control Area for SPP reporting requirements. Hour
by hour actual loads along with the average high temperature for the day and the deviation of the
temperature from the normal high are required.
Exchange Mechanism
SDA or Web Interface. Reports may be made daily, weekly, or monthly, so long as the previous
month has been completely reported by the 15th of the current month.

Resource Plan
Description
Resource plans for generating facilities within the SPP region to be submitted by SPP members
for the current day and next 6 days. An hourly MW plan must be submitted. The plan may be
submitted on a unit-by-unit or plant-by-plant basis as the unit or plant is modeled in the SPP
EMS. For each unit and for each hour the following information must be submitted: Resource
Status, Planned MW, Minimum Operating Limit, and Maximum Operating Limit. Additionally,
Ramp Rate may be submitted. The current day update must take into account control area load
and all known interchange transactions. The next 6 days update must take into account control
area load and firm transactions.
Exchange Mechanism
The next 6 days update must be submitted by 11:00 Central Time daily to the SPP FTP server
using the SPP-defined XML format. The current day update must be submitted by 7:00 a.m.
Central Time daily to the SPP FTP server using the SPP-defined XML format.
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Load Forecast Report
Description
Hourly forecast / actual integrated load, in MW, for the prior, current, and next six days. Prior
day actual loads are mandatory. Current and next six day forecast loads are requested. If the
current and future day forecast is not supplied, a forecast will be derived from previously
reported actual loads.
Exchange Mechanism
SDA or Web Interface, submitted daily.

System One-Line Diagrams
Description
This diagram shows the detailed generation or transmission substation topology including
switching elements, transformers, reactive devices, generation, and load withdrawal points.
Exchange Mechanism
Hard copy or electronic version in an SPP-compatible format, submitted per the requirements
stated in the Assumptions and Standard Conventions clause of this appendix. Acceptable
electronic submissions include Autocad drawing files and Adobe Acrobat files in an SPP
acceptable version. Documentation shall accompany electronic submittals identifying the actual
changes being made. Hard copy submissions shall consist of two copies of each document with
the changes clearly annotated.

Overview Diagrams
Description
A sub-control area or control area “world” map reflecting the substations and network
connectivity. Substation detail is not required in the Overview diagram.
Exchange Mechanism
Hard copy or electronic version in an SPP-compatible format, submitted annually.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005
Background
In its February 10, 2004 order, FERC required SPP to develop a seams agreement with MISO as a
condition to receiving RTO status. In its August 2, 2004 compliance filing, SPP filed with FERC an
unexecuted version of the SPP-MISO Joint Operating Agreement (JOA), explaining that it was able to
reach agreement with MISO on most aspects of seams coordination but could not reach agreement on
the requirements for market to non-market coordination. SPP desired an approach that built on existing
ATC coordination principles while MISO desired an approach patterned after the solution contained in
their seams agreement with PJM. In response to SPP’s August 2 compliance filing, MISO filed its version
of the JOA. In its October 1, 2004 order, FERC required that SPP execute and file MISO’s version of the
JOA, unless the parties could reach agreement to file something different, by December 1, 2004. After
further attempts to negotiate with MISO with little progress, SPP executed MISO’s version of the JOA and
filed it with FERC on December 1, 2004.
The current JOA requires three phases of implementation. The JOA requires phase 1 items to be
implemented upon execution of the JOA. Phase 2 items are required to be implemented when either
MISO or SPP implements a market. Phase 3 items are required to be implemented when both SPP and
MISO have implemented their markets. Most of the coordination items included in phase 1 are in place
with the remaining items to be completed according to a time schedule that both SPP and MISO have
agreed upon. SPP has not yet implemented the requirements for Phases 2 and 3.
Implementing the requirements for phases 2 and 3 of the JOA will be a significant effort for SPP.
Specifically, the significant effort required is in implementing the reciprocal coordination of flowgates
required for phase 2 and the market flow calculations required for phase 3. These items are described in
the Congestion Management Process (CMP) attached to the JOA. Because SPP was continuing to
negotiate with MISO the extent and nature of the CMP to be included in the JOA at the time SPP’s budget
for 2005 was being prepared, costs necessary to facilitate implementation of these items, including
impacts to staffing, were never budgeted. Since the execution of this agreement, SPP has worked
closely with MISO to better understand the exact technical specifications of these requirements and to
consider and evaluate various alternatives for implementation. Although SPP was not able to implement
its phase 2 requirements of the JOA prior to the implementation of the MISO market, SPP must get these
in place as soon as possible. It will be necessary for SPP to implement its phase 3 requirements prior to
startup of its Energy Imbalance Market. Because SPP did not include funding in the 2005 budget for
implementation of these JOA requirements, SPP must now request these funds.
Analysis
Phase 2 Implementation
SPP Staff considered three alternatives for implementation of reciprocal coordination of flowgates as
required by the JOA in phase 2. The alternatives considered included: 1) in-house development of the
necessary tools and processes, 2) contracting with MISO and a third-party vendor to provide SPP the
necessary services to fulfill its obligations using MISO tools and processes, and 3) contracting with a
third-party vendor to develop the necessary tools and processes required for SPP to fulfill its obligations.
Factors included in the evaluation of these options included implementation costs and timeliness, impacts
to Staff’s ability to support other critical operations activities, and ability to ensure equitable, auditable,
and independent solutions.

The first option requires significant resources that are not currently available without having a significant
impact on other operations activities. While this option would ensure an equitable, auditable and
independent solution, it would also take considerable time and be potentially costly to implement.
The second option considered is estimated to cost $185,000 initially with $299,000 of yearly recurring
fees. It would provide a more timely solution than the first option because it depends on existing tools
and processes that would have to be expanded to include SPP data. However, it would be difficult for
this option to ensure an equitable, auditable and independent solution because SPP would rely on MISO
to calculate its allocations of flowgate capacity per the CMP requirements.
The third option was estimated at a one-time cost of $150,000 plus yearly recurring fees of $96,000. This
alternative provides the most cost effective and timely solution. Other advantages of this alternative are
that it provides more assurance of an equitable, auditable, and independent solution and provides for
ongoing maintenance without interfering significantly with other ongoing operations activities.
SPP recommends implementation of the third option. It is expected that this option could be implemented
in part by July 1 and in full by November 1, 2005. Total costs for 2005 are estimated at $198,000.
Phase 3 Implementation
For implementation of the Market Flow calculations required of SPP in phase 3 of the JOA, SPP has
developed technical specifications for a vendor-provided solution that will be integrated with existing
EMS, RTOSS, and MOS interfaces. This option was solely considered because of its cost effectiveness
and the need to integrate with existing systems and interfaces. The specifications for this solution provide
flexibility to accommodate variations that are currently under discussion with the MWG and ORWG.
It is expected that this solution will cost $724,000 up front with $50,000 of annual maintenance fees,
although it is not expect that maintenance fees will be incurred for this solution in 2005. The in-service
date of this solution is scheduled for September 1, 2005.
Recommendation
Approve the requested funds totaling $922,000 of costs to be incurred in 2005 necessary to implement
the reciprocal coordination of flowgates and market flow calculations required of SPP per the SPP-MISO
JOA.
Approved:

Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Passed, Unopposed

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

April 12-13, 2005

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

Background
At the October 2004 North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) Board of Trustees meeting, the
Regional Managers Committee presented the report entitled, “Examination of the Future Role of the
Regional Reliability Councils and Assessment of Eastern Interconnection Regional Reliability Council
Boundaries”, dated October 5, 2004. The NERC Board of Trustees endorsed the report and approved a
schedule to complete the recommendations contained within.
Analysis
Of particular interest to the industry is the independence between an entity’s operations and compliance
functions. SPP is the only Regional Reliability Council (RRC) to operate as a Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) approved Regional Transmission Organization (RTO) including the responsibilities
as a NERC Reliability Coordinator. As stated in SPP’s Strategic Plan, SPP has chosen to move forward
with an RTO and maintain SPP as the RRC. Today, the compliance function reports to the President of
SPP, allowing for the perception of a conflict of interest/undue influence when SPP and its staff are
monitored for compliance. To address this, the Strategic Planning Committee is recommending that the
NERC Compliance function report to the Board of Directors, through the Compliance Committee and the
Markets and Operations Policy Committee. Bylaws changes are proposed that implement this change.
These revisions were presented at the January meeting for initial consideration. The required notice was
provided to the Membership that these changes would be considered for action at this meeting.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee recommends that the Board of Directors approve the necessary
Bylaws revisions to reflect that the NERC Compliance function reports to the Board of Directors to assure
independence of the function within SPP.
Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 18, 2005

3.16 Compliance Monitoring
Compliance monitoring of Members and Staff shall be performed to ensure compliance with all
requirements of Membership. SPP compliance monitoring functions shall be performed in concert with
related NERC programs. Compliance monitoring shall be an after-the-fact investigative and assessment
function. Compliance monitoring functions shall be provided by SPP Staff, independent and separate
from reliability coordination and tariff administration functions.

The Director, Compliance shall be selected by and report to the Board of Directors. The President shall
ensure that the Director, Compliance has adequate resources, access to information, and the full
cooperation of Staff and Organizational Groups for the effective execution of its duties. Any reports
submitted shall first be provided to the Compliance Committee, and, following appropriate review, to the
Board of Directors and the appropriate regulatory or oversight body or bodies.

Compliance monitoring functions shall include but are not limited to:
a. Investigation of all reports or discoveries of non-compliance with approved Bylaws, Criteria,
OATT, agreements between SPP and its Members, and NERC policies and standards;
b. Obtaining all information needed to investigate all facets of possible non-compliance;
c.

Performance of in-depth reviews of operations upon approval from the Compliance Committee;

d. Comprehensive compliance audits when recurring issues covering a broad spectrum of violations
are determined and documented;
e. Imposition of financial penalties and/or sanctions for non-compliance pursuant to approved
standards, policies and/or Criteria;
f.

Ensure Confirmation that SPP is conforming to its own Criteria, OATT, business practices, and
reliability operations in a manner that does not stifle the efficiency of the energy markets;

g. Utilization of dispute resolution procedures as necessary to resolve conflicts; and
h. Coordination of policy modifications to clearly define requirements, standards, and penalties in
order to objectively monitor compliance.
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4.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.1 Duties
The Board of Directors shall at all times act in the best interest of SPP in its management, control and
direction of the general business of SPP. The Board of Directors shall solicit and consider a straw vote
from the Members Committee as an indication of the level of consensus among Members in advance of
taking any actions other than those occurring in executive session. Its duties shall include, but are not
limited to the following:
a. Direct activities of all SPP Organizational Groups;
b. Serve on SPP Organizational Groups;
c.

Remove Members, and approve the re-entry of Members that have been removed;

d. Authorize all major contracts and debt instruments;
e. Select and review the performance of Officers, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of
Directors;
f.

Determine positions, duties, qualifications, salaries, benefits and other necessary matters
pertaining to the SPP Staff;

g. Review, approve, disapprove or recommend revision to the actions of any Organizational Group;
h. Act on appeals pursuant to Section 3.10;
i.

Approve or revise the operating and capital budgets and any additional expenditures;

j.

Convene a meeting of Members at least annually;

k.

Approve amendments to these Bylaws;

l.

Approve amendments to the Membership Agreement;

m. Approve Criteria pertaining to planning and operating standards and policies and penalties for
non-compliance with such Criteria; and
n. Authorize filings with regulatory bodies.
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6.1 Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Each SPP Member shall appoint a representative to the Markets and Operations Policy Committee
(MOPC) at the regular meeting of the Board of Directors immediately following each annual meeting of
Members. Each representative designated shall be an officer or employee of the Member. The Board of
Directors will appoint the Chair and Vice Chair of the MOPC. Each member of the MOPC may continue to
be a member thereof until the appropriate Member appoints a successor.

The MOPC shall meet at least three times per calendar year, and additionally as needed. The MOPC shall
report to the Board of Directors following each MOPC meeting with respect to its activities and with such
recommendations, as the MOPC deems necessary.
The responsibilities of the Markets and Operations Policy Committee shall include:
a. Recommend practices for system design, planning, adequacy, regional transmission service tariff,
interconnections, operation, reliability, market designs and efficiency, and market power mitigation
that will help to assure efficient and reliable power supply among the systems in SPP and SPP
transmission customers;
b. Continue coordination Coordination of its efforts with the efforts of NERC, including periodic
review of NERC Policies and Standards and their applicability to SPP and its Members;
c.

In coordination with the SPP Compliance Committee, make appropriate recommendations to the
Board of Directors regarding SPP’s compliance with NERC Policies and Standards;

c.d. Review Member operating plans and problems that are pertinent to SPP planning and operation;
d.e. Maintain an annual series of load flow and short circuit models and associated stability data bases
representing the current and planned electric network of the region, and maintain a data base of
all transmission, generation, and supporting facilities within SPP;
e.f. Review and assess the current and planned electric system of the region;
f.g. Make use of studies available from other regions;
g.h. Recommend to the Board of Directors criteria for planning, operations, and to assist in the
efficiency and vitality of the wholesale electricity market;
h.i. Coordinate inter-regional and intra-regional plans and facilitate planning, information exchange,
and operations between inter-regional and intra-regional groups;
i.j. Develop a coordinated plan for intra-regional transmission for greater efficiency and reliability of
electric power supply;
j.k. Recommend to the Board of Directors and Members individual or joint action to improve the
operation of the systems comprising SPP;
k.l. Respond to activities as requested by the Strategic Planning Committee and the Board of
Directors;
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l.m. Monitor the current state and evolution of the electric energy supply industry and proactively
recommend commercial practices that meet industry needs and promote commerce;
m.n.

Work with all SPP Organizational Groups to promote a high standard of operational

reliability;
n.o. Continue coordination of its efforts with the efforts of North American Energy Standards Board
(NAESB) and the ISO/RTO Council (IRC), including periodic review of NAESB business practices
and IRC policies and their applicability to SPP and its Members;
o.p. Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the MOPC is meeting its
responsibilities; and
p.q. Perform such other functions as the Board of Directors may delegate or direct.
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6.4 Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee (CC) shall be comprised of three members from the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall appoint the representatives of the CC at the regular meeting of the Board of
Directors immediately following each annual meeting of Members. Each representative of the CC shall
continue to be a representative thereof until the Board of Directors appoints his/her successor. Where a
vacancy occurs, the Board of Directors will fill the vacancy.

The CC shall meet as needed, provided that a quorum, as defined in these Bylaws, is present. The CC
shall report to the Board of Directors following each CC meeting with respect to its activities and with such
recommendations, as the CC deems necessary.

The responsibilities of the Compliance Committee shall include:
a. Oversee the process of monitoring compliance to SPP and NERC policies;
b.

Independently review activities of the Staff;

c.

Hear and rule on appeals from Members regarding penalty assessment or fine distribution
prior to dispute resolution proceedings;

d. Recommend Criteria changes necessary for enforcement of mandatory compliance and in
response to unclear enforcement provisions of Criteria;
e. Grant specific additional authority to the Staff responsible for the compliance monitoring
function when needed to perform challenging investigations;
f.

Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the CC is meeting its
responsibilities; and

g. Perform such other functions as the Board of Directors may delegate or direct.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
April 26, 2005
Fee Waiver for Certain Membership Categories

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Strategic Planning Committee:
KCP&L
AECC
City Utilities of Springfield
AEP
Director
Director
Empire District
KepCO
OG+E
Director
Calpine

Richard Spring, Chair
Ricky Bittle
David Christiano
Michael Desselle
Jim Eckelberger
Josh Martin
Mike Palmer
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Harry Skilton
Jim Stanton

Background
In an order issued February 11, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the Commission) directed
SPP to further amend its Bylaws to include provisions for certain classes of membership to request a
waiver of fees associated with membership in SPP, specifically public interest groups.
Analysis
In its July 2 Order, the Commission directed SPP to amend its Members Committee structure in a manner
consistent with the WestConnect case, adding a sector for “large retail customer” members and one for
“small retail customer” members. The Commission also rejected an intervenor’s argument that “endusers” should be exempt from certain fees or requirement, finding that it would be unfair and
discriminatory to do so. However, upon further consideration, the Commission concluded that while it did
not require any specific fee exemption in the WestConnect case, it did:
“ …require WestConnect to provide waivers or reductions of application or annual
membership fees on a non-discriminatory, case-by-case basis for legitimate public
interest groups (which may include end-users) upon the written request of such entities.”
As such, the Commission has directed SPP to revise its governing documents to provide for a process for
prospective members to request fee waivers. SPP has requested and received an extension to make a
compliance filing in this matter.
Recommendation
The Strategic Planning Committee has appointed a task force (chairman – Michael Desselle) to develop a
proposed process for considering requests for waiver of fees associated with membership in SPP. A final
recommendation is expected to be made to the Board of Directors for consideration at its July meeting.
The SPC seeks the Board of Directors’ concurrence with this approach, as well as approval to seek an
additional extension for a compliance filing at the Commisssion.
Approved:

Strategic Planning Committee

Action Requested:

Concurrence

April 14, 2005

